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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD‑LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including information incorporated by reference herein, contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of 
U.S. federal securities laws. Words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,” “guidance,” “could,” “may,” “should,” “would,” “believe,” “intend,” 
“project,” “plan,” “predict,” “will,” “target” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which are not historical in nature. Our forward-looking 
statements may include, without limitation: our future financial and operational results; our business strategy; our industry; our expected revenues; our 
future profitability; our maintenance or expansion projects; our projected budget and capital expenditures and the impact of such expenditures on our 
performance; and future economic and market conditions in the oil and gas industry. 

Forward-looking statements are based on our current understanding, assessments, estimates and projections of relevant factors and reasonable 
assumptions about the future. Forward-looking statements are subject to certain known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from our historical experience and our current projections or expectations of future results expressed or implied by these 
forward-looking statements. The following important factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those in our forward-looking statements:

• the ability of Hess Corporation ("Hess") and other parties to satisfy their obligations to us, including Hess’ ability to meet its drilling and development 
plans on a timely basis or at all, its ability to deliver its nominated volumes to us, and the operation of joint ventures that we may not control;
• our ability to generate sufficient cash flow to pay current and expected levels of distributions;
• reductions in the volumes of crude oil, natural gas, NGLs and produced water we gather, process, terminal or store;
• the actual volumes we gather, process, terminal and store for Hess in excess of our MVCs and relative to Hess' nominations;
• fluctuations in the prices and demand for crude oil, natural gas and NGLs;
• changes in global economic conditions and the effects of a global economic downturn or inflation on our business and the business of our suppliers, 
customers, business partners and lenders;
• the direct and indirect effects of an epidemic or outbreak of an infectious disease, such as COVID-19 and its variants, on our business and those of 
our business partners, suppliers and customers, including Hess;
• our ability to comply with government regulations or make capital expenditures required to maintain compliance, including our ability to obtain or 
maintain permits necessary for capital projects in a timely manner, if at all, or the revocation or modification of existing permits;
• our ability to successfully identify, evaluate and timely execute our capital projects, investment opportunities and growth strategies, whether through 
organic growth or acquisitions;
• costs or liabilities associated with federal, state and local laws, regulations and governmental actions applicable to our business, including legislation 
and regulatory initiatives relating to environmental protection and health and safety, such as spills, releases, pipeline integrity and measures to limit 
greenhouse gas emissions and climate change;
• our ability to comply with the terms of our credit facility, indebtedness and other financing arrangements, which, if accelerated, we may not be able to 
repay;
• reduced demand for our midstream services, including the impact of weather or the availability of the competing third-party midstream gathering, 
processing and transportation operations;
• potential disruption or interruption of our business due to catastrophic events, such as accidents, severe weather events, labor disputes, information 
technology failures, constraints or disruptions and cyber-attacks;
• any limitations on our ability to access debt or capital markets on terms that we deem acceptable, including as a result of weakness in the oil and gas 
industry or negative outcomes within commodity and financial markets;
• liability resulting from litigation; and
• other factors described in Item 1A—Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and any additional risks described in our other filings with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission.

As and when made, we believe that our forward-looking statements are reasonable. However, given these risks and uncertainties, caution should be 
taken not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements since such statements speak only as of the date when made and there can be 
no assurance that such forward-looking statements will occur and actual results may differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking 
statement we make. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether because 
of new information, future events or otherwise.

Unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise indicates, references in this report to “Hess Midstream Operations LP,” “the Partnership,” “us,” “we” or 
similar terms, when referring to periods between April 10, 2017 and December 16, 2019, refer to Hess Midstream Operations LP (formerly known as Hess 
Midstream Partners LP, the predecessor registrant to Hess Midstream LP), including its consolidated subsidiaries. All references to “Hess Midstream LP,” 
“the Company,” “us,” “our,” “we” or similar terms, when referring to periods subsequent to December 16, 2019, refer to Hess Midstream LP, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Throughout this report, the following company or industry specific terms and abbreviations are used:

Barrel: One stock tank barrel, or 42 U.S. gallons liquid volume, used in reference to crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

Bbl(s): Barrel(s).

Bbl/d: Barrels per day.

Btu: One British thermal unit—a measure of the amount of energy required to raise the temperature of a one‑pound mass of water one degree 
Fahrenheit at sea level.

Cf: Cubic foot or feet is a common unit of gas measurement. One standard cubic foot equals the volume of gas in one cubic foot measured at standard 
temperature (60 degrees Fahrenheit) and standard pressure (14.73 pounds standard per square inch).

CNG: Compressed natural gas.

Common carrier pipeline: A pipeline engaged in the transportation of crude oil, refined petroleum products or NGL as a common carrier for hire.

Crude oil: A mixture of hydrocarbons that exists in liquid phase in underground reservoirs.

Fractionation: Fractionation is accomplished by controlling the temperature and pressure of the stream of mixed NGL in order to take advantage of the 
different boiling points of separate components. NGL fractionation facilities separate mixed NGL streams into discrete components such as ethane, 
propane, normal butane, isobutane and natural gasoline.

Liquefied petroleum gas: A mixture of hydrocarbon gases commonly used as a fuel, including propane and butane.

Long tons: An imperial system of measurement equivalent to 2,240 pounds.

MBbl: One thousand barrels.

MBbl/d: One thousand barrels per day.

Mcf: One thousand cubic feet.

Mdge/d: One thousand diesel gallons equivalent per day.

Mgal/d: One thousand gallons per day.

MMcf/d: One million cubic feet per day.

MVC: Minimum volume commitment.

NGL: Natural gas liquids, which are the hydrocarbon liquids contained within natural gas.

Psi: Pounds per square inch.

Psig: Pounds per square inch gauge.

Sour gas: Natural gas that is relatively high in sulfur content, requiring additional processing to remove the sulfur.

Throughput: The volume of crude oil, natural gas, NGLs, water and refined petroleum products transported or passing through a pipeline, plant, 
terminal or other facility during a particular period.

Williston Basin: One of the largest structural-sedimentary basins in North America, spanning across North Dakota, South Dakota, Montana, 
Saskatchewan and Manitoba, with a surface area of approximately 143,000 square miles within the United States and multiple petroleum reservoirs.

Y‑grade: A classification used to describe the extent to which certain hydrocarbons can be stored at a specified pressure, making the hydrocarbon 
easier to move in a liquid state.
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PART I

ITEMS 1 and 2. BUSINESS AND PROPERTIES

Overview

We are a fee-based, growth-oriented, limited partnership that owns, operates, develops and acquires a diverse set of midstream assets and provides 
fee-based services to Hess Corporation (“Hess”) and third-party customers. We are managed and controlled by Hess Midstream GP LLC (“GP LLC”), the 
general partner of our general partner. 

Our assets are primarily located in the Bakken and Three Forks shale plays in the Williston Basin area of North Dakota, which we collectively refer to 
as the Bakken and which is one of the most prolific crude oil producing basins in North America. Hess dedicated substantially all of its existing and future 
owned or controlled production in the Bakken under our long-term, fee-based agreements and intends to use us as the primary midstream vehicle to 
support the growth of its Bakken production assets and grow its midstream business. We generate substantially all of our revenues by charging fees for 
gathering, compressing and processing natural gas and fractionating NGLs; gathering, terminaling, loading and transporting crude oil and NGLs; storing 
and terminaling propane; and gathering and disposing of produced water.

Prior to December 16, 2019, we were indirectly controlled by Hess Infrastructure Partners GP LLC, the general partner of Hess Infrastructure Partners 
LP (“HIP”). HIP was originally formed in 2015 as a 50/50 joint venture between Hess and Global Infrastructure Partners (“GIP” and, together with Hess, 
the “Sponsors”). On April 10, 2017, we completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) as a master limited partnership, pursuant to which HIP contributed to the 
Partnership a 20% controlling economic interest in each of (i) Hess North Dakota Pipelines Operations LP; (ii) Hess TGP Operations LP; and (iii) Hess 
North Dakota Export Logistics Operations LP (collectively, the “Joint Interest Assets”) and a 100% interest in Hess Mentor Storage Holdings LLC. HIP 
owned the remaining 80% economic interest in the Joint Interest Assets, a 100% interest in certain other businesses, including Hess’ Bakken water 
services business (“Hess Water Services”), which it acquired from Hess on March 1, 2019, and a 100% interest in Hess Midstream Partners GP LP (“MLP 
GP LP”), which held all of the Partnership’s outstanding incentive distribution rights and the general partner interest in the Partnership, and controlled the 
Partnership. 

On December 16, 2019, the Company and the Partnership completed the transactions (the “Restructuring”) contemplated by the Partnership 
Restructuring Agreement, dated October 3, 2019, by and among the Company, the Partnership and the other parties thereto. Pursuant to the 
Restructuring, the Partnership acquired HIP, including HIP’s 80% interest in the Joint Interest Assets, 100% interest in Hess Water Services and the 
outstanding economic general partner interest and incentive distribution rights in the Partnership. The Partnership’s organizational structure converted 
from a master limited partnership into an “Up-C” structure in which the Partnership’s public unitholders received newly issued Class A Shares in the 
Company in a one-for-one exchange. Class A Shares commenced trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the former symbol “HESM” on 
December 17, 2019. As a result of the Restructuring, the Company was delegated control of the Partnership and replaced the Partnership as its publicly 
traded successor. The Partnership changed its name to “Hess Midstream Operations LP” and became a consolidated subsidiary of the Company. After 
consummation of the Restructuring, the Sponsors and their affiliates own an aggregate of 898,000 Class A shares in the Company, all of the Class B units 
representing noncontrolling limited partner interests in the Partnership, 100% interest in the general partner of the Company and, through their ownership 
of the general partner, continue to have the right to elect the entire board of directors. See Organizational Structure.

2021 - 2022 Equity Transactions

During 2021 and 2022, the Company, the Partnership and the Sponsors completed the following equity transactions:

• On March 15, 2021, the Sponsors sold an aggregate of 6,900,000 of our Class A shares representing limited partner interests (“Class A 
Shares”), inclusive of the underwriters’ option to purchase up to 900,000 of additional shares, which was fully exercised, in an underwritten public 
offering at a price of $21.00 per Class A share, less underwriting discounts.

• On October 8, 2021, the Sponsors sold an aggregate of 8,625,000 of our Class A Shares, inclusive of the underwriters’ option to purchase up to 
1,125,000 of additional shares, which was fully exercised, in an underwritten public offering at a price of $26.00 per Class A share, less 
underwriting discounts.

• On April 4, 2022, the Sponsors sold an aggregate of 10,235,000 of our Class A Shares, inclusive of the underwriters’ option to purchase up to 
1,335,000 of additional shares, which was fully exercised, in an underwritten public offering at a price of $29.50 per Class A Share, less 
underwriting discounts. 

In 2022, the Sponsors received net proceeds from the offerings of approximately $291.7 million (2021: $356.5 million), after deducting underwriting 
discounts. The Company did not receive any proceeds in the offerings. 

• On August 10, 2021, the Partnership repurchased an aggregate of 31,250,000 Class B units representing limited partner interests in the 
Partnership (“Class B Units”) from the Sponsors at a purchase price of $24.00 per Class B unit, for total consideration of $750.0 million, which was 
funded through issuance by the Partnership of $750.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.25% senior unsecured notes due 2030.
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• On April 4, 2022, the Partnership repurchased an aggregate of 13,559,322 Class B Units from the Sponsors at a purchase price of $29.50 per 
Class B unit, for total consideration of $400.0 million, which was funded using borrowings under the Partnership’s revolving credit facility, which 
were subsequently repaid with proceeds from an issuance by the Partnership of $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.50% senior 
unsecured notes due 2030.

See Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Note 3, Equity Transactions, Note 7, Debt and Interest Expense, and Note 8, Partners' 
Capital and Distributions for additional details.

As a result of the Restructuring and the equity transactions described above, at December 31, 2022:

• the Company held an 18.3% controlling interest in the Partnership and the Sponsors held an 81.7% noncontrolling economic interest in the 
Partnership;

• public limited partners held an 18.0% voting interest and a 98.0% economic interest in the Company, which represents an indirect 18.0% 
economic interest in the Partnership;

• the Sponsors and their respective affiliates held an 82.0% voting interest and a 2.0% economic interest in the Company, which, taken with their 
direct limited partnership interest in the Partnership, represents an indirect 82.0% economic interest in the Partnership. See Organizational 
Structure. 

LM4 Joint Venture

On January 25, 2018, we entered into a 50/50 joint venture with Targa Resources Corp. (“Targa”) to construct a new 200 MMcf/d gas processing plant 
called Little Missouri 4 (“LM4”). LM4 was placed in service in the third quarter of 2019. Targa is the operator of the plant.

Operating Segments

We conduct our business through three operating segments: (1) gathering, (2) processing and storage and (3) terminaling and export. See Item 7. 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for further details.

Market Conditions

In 2020, worldwide crude oil prices declined significantly due in part to reduced global demand stemming from the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) global 
pandemic. As a result of the sharp decline in crude oil prices, Hess reduced its rig count from six rigs to one rig in the Bakken in 2020. Third parties in the 
Bakken also curtailed production and reduced their drilling activity. While economic conditions improved in subsequent years and Hess increased its rig 
count to three rigs during 2021 and to four rigs in July 2022, we continued to see lower oil throughput volumes in 2022 in our systems due to production 
declines from reduced drilling activity in prior years. Our contract structure largely offset the impact of the reduction in volumes on our revenues in 2020 
through 2022. See Our Commercial Agreements with Hess and Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations for further details.

Growth Drivers

We intend to expand our business and have multiple potential alternatives to pursue, including capitalizing on organic growth from Hess and third 
parties in the Bakken and utilizing our existing capacity, as well as pursuing opportunities to add additional Hess and third‑party throughput volumes in the 
future.
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Organizational Structure

The following chart summarizes our corporate structure as of December 31, 2022. 
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Our Business and Properties

Gathering

Our gathering business consists of the Partnership’s 100% interest in (i) Hess North Dakota Pipelines Operations LP (“Gathering Opco”), which owns 
our North Dakota natural gas, NGL and crude oil gathering systems, and (ii) Hess Water Services, which owns our produced water gathering and disposal 
facilities. The following sections describe in more detail these assets and the related services that we provide.

Natural Gas Gathering and Compression

A natural gas gathering and compression system located primarily in McKenzie, Williams and Mountrail Counties, North Dakota connecting Hess and 
third‑party owned or operated wells to the Tioga Gas Plant, the LM4 plant, and third‑party pipeline facilities. This gathering system consists of 
approximately 1,380 miles of high and low pressure natural gas and NGL gathering pipelines with a current capacity of up to approximately 590 MMcf/d. 
The system has an aggregate compression capacity of approximately 410 MMcf/d, including approximately 85 MMcf/d of compression capacity added in 
2022 by constructing two new greenfield compressor stations. Our natural gas gathering system includes approximately 80 miles of gas gathering 
pipelines that we acquired from Summit Midstream Partners, LP in 2019. The compressed gas and mixed NGLs are transported to the Tioga Gas Plant 
and the LM4 plant either as separate or combined streams for processing. Our gathering system capacity can be increased via installation of additional 
compression equipment.

Crude Oil Gathering
A crude oil gathering system located primarily in McKenzie, Williams and Mountrail Counties, North Dakota, connecting Hess and third‑party owned or 

operated wells to the Ramberg Terminal Facility, the Tioga Rail Terminal and the Johnson’s Corner Header System. The crude oil gathering system 
consists of approximately 560 miles of crude oil gathering pipelines with a current capacity of up to approximately 240 MBbl/d. Our crude oil gathering 
system includes approximately 75 miles of crude oil gathering pipelines that we acquired from Summit Midstream Partners, LP in 2019.

Included within our crude oil gathering system is our Hawkeye Oil Facility, which is a crude oil pumping and truck unloading facility located in 
McKenzie County, North Dakota. The Hawkeye Oil Facility entered into service in 2017. The facility receives crude oil through pipeline and truck 
deliveries from Hess and third parties and transports it by pipeline to the Ramberg Terminal Facility. Total receipt capacity of the facility is approximately 
75 MBbl/d which can be filled solely through our crude oil gathering system or through a combination of our crude oil gathering system and truck 
unloading bays. The facility has six truck unloading bays with an aggregate capacity of approximately 30 MBbl/d. The facility has a redelivery capability of 
approximately 75 MBbl/d through a pipeline system connected to Hess Midstream's crude oil export terminals. The facility also has two crude oil storage 
tanks with a combined working storage capacity of approximately 10 MBbls. Our gathering system capacity can be increased through the installation of 
additional pumping equipment.

Produced Water Gathering and Disposal
A produced water gathering system located primarily in Williams and Mountrail counties, North Dakota that transports produced water from wellsites by 

approximately 290 miles of pipelines in gathering systems or by third-party trucking to water handling facilities for disposal. Our produced water gathering 
system includes approximately 75 miles of water gathering pipelines that we acquired from Summit Midstream Partners, LP in 2019. As of December 31, 
2022, we had 8 water handling and disposal facilities in service, with a combined permitted disposal capacity of 110 MBbl/d. These water handling and 
disposal facilities are owned and operated by Hess Water Services and primarily service the water pipeline gathering systems. We also transport 
produced water to 14 water handling and disposal facilities operated by third parties that have a combined permitted disposal capacity of approximately 
180 MBbl/d.
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The following table sets forth certain information regarding our gathering assets, which operate under long‑term, fee‑based commercial agreements 

with Hess:

Gathering Assets

Asset  Commodity  Description  
Approximate Miles 

of Pipelines  

Approximate 
Throughput

Capacity  
Third-Party and

Affiliate Connections
Natural gas gathering 
pipelines

 

Natural gas
NGLs

 

Natural gas and NGL 
gathering

 

1,380 miles

 

590 MMcf/d

 

Upstream: Hess and third-party 
wells
Downstream: Tioga Gas Plant; 
LM4 plant; third-party facilities

Natural gas compression
 

Natural gas
NGLs  

Gas compression; 
NGL extraction  

-
 
410 MMcf/d 

 
 

Crude oil gathering 
pipelines

 

Crude oil

 

Crude oil gathering

 

560 miles

 

240 MBbl/d 

 

Upstream: Hess and third-party 
wells
Downstream: Ramberg Terminal 
Facility; Tioga Rail Terminal; 
Johnson's Corner Header System

Hawkeye Oil Facility
 

Crude oil
 

Pump station; truck 
unloading  

-
 
75 MBbl/d

 
 

Water gathering pipelines

 

Water

 

Produced water gathering

 

290 miles

 

210 MBbl/d

 

Upstream: Hess and third-party 
wells
Downstream: Hess and third-party 
water disposal facilities

Water disposal facilities  Water  Produced water disposal  -  110 MBbl/d   
(1) The natural gas gathering system has a current capacity of up to approximately 590 MMcf/d, including an aggregate compression capacity of approximately 410 MMcf/d.

(2) Includes 75 MBbl/d of capacity at the Hawkeye Oil Facility.

Processing and Storage

Our processing and storage business consists of (i) the Partnership’s 100% interest in Hess TGP Operations LP (“HTGP Opco”), which owns the Tioga 
Gas Plant, (ii) the Partnership’s 50% interest in the LM4 gas processing plant operated by Targa, and (iii) the Partnership’s 100% interest in Hess Mentor 
Storage Holdings LLC (“Mentor Holdings”), which owns the Mentor Storage Terminal. The following sections describe in more detail these assets and the 
related services that we provide.

Tioga Gas Plant

The Tioga Gas Plant (“TGP”), which is located in Tioga, North Dakota, has a total processing capacity of 400 MMcf/d making it one of the largest 
natural gas processing and fractionation plants in North Dakota. The plant consists of (i) a state-of-the-art cryogenic processing facility with ethane 
extraction capabilities that produces low Btu, pipeline‑quality natural gas, (ii) a 60 MBbl/d fractionation facility with NGL fractionation capabilities for 
ethane, propane, butane and natural gasoline and (iii) 25 MBbl/d of stabilized y-grade liquid recovery capabilities. The plant receives natural gas produced 
from Hess‑operated and third‑party operated wells in the Bakken through our North Dakota gathering systems as well as third‑party gathering systems. 

The TGP was initially constructed in 1954. It subsequently underwent a large‑scale expansion, refurbishment and optimization project that was 
completed in 2014, during which a new cryogenic processing train with a nameplate processing capacity of 250 MMcf/d was installed. In 2021, the TGP 
de-bottlenecking project was completed and commissioned, increasing total plant processing to 400 MMcf/d and adding y-grade liquids recovery of up to 
approximately 25 MBbl/d.

The TGP has a multitude of residue gas and natural gas liquid export options. For residue gas, the plant has total export capacity of more than 250 
MMcf/d with access to the Chicago, IL market through the Alliance Pipeline from the Tioga lateral; it also has access to the Ventura, IA market through 
the Northern Border Pipeline from the WBI North Bakken Expansion Pipeline. TGP also provides residue gas for local and regional uses through the WBI 
system and for gas lift and fuel through the North Dakota Natural Gas Pipeline, which also interconnects with the Northern Border pipeline. For ethane, 
TGP can recover and ship up to 30 MBbl/d of ethane to Canada on the Vantage Pipeline. Other fractionated products such as propane, butane and 
natural gasoline can be shipped via truck or rail to local and regional markets. Y-grade liquids are shipped on the Elk Creek Pipeline from the ONEOK 
NGL lateral to Bushton, KS with access to Mont Belvieu, TX.
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The plant also includes four NGL truck loading racks with an aggregate loading capacity of approximately 10 MBbl/d of propane to serve the local 

propane market, as well as 14 NGL bullet storage tanks and 5 NGL storage tanks with a combined shell capacity of approximately 35 MBbls of propane, 
10 MBbls of butane and 35 MBbls of natural gasoline. The total NGL production capability of the plant is approximately 80 MBbl/d, with interconnections 
into the Vantage Pipeline, the Alliance Pipeline and interconnecting pipelines with our Tioga Rail Terminal. Additionally, the plant includes a CNG terminal 
that is capable of compressing approximately 5.6 MMcf/d of natural gas to 3,600 psig and loading in excess of 100 light duty CNG‑fueled vehicles and up 
to 32 CNG cylinder trailers per day for drilling and hydraulic fracturing operations, for a combined capacity of approximately 40 Mdge/d.

LM4

The Partnership owns a 50% interest in a joint venture with Targa, which constructed and placed in service in the third quarter of 2019, a new 200 
MMcf/d gas processing plant called Little Missouri 4, or LM4, located at Targa’s existing Little Missouri facility, south of the Missouri River in McKenzie 
County, North Dakota. We are entitled to 100 MMcf/d of the plant’s processing capacity. The plant receives natural gas produced from Hess-operated and 
third-party operated wells in the Bakken through our gathering systems as well as third-party gathering systems. The plant also has direct residue gas 
and NGL pipeline connections at the tailgate of the plant, with export capacity of approximately 135 MMcf/d of natural gas to the Northern Border 
Interstate Pipeline and 40 MBbl/d of NGLs to ONEOK Elk Creek Pipeline.

Mentor Storage Terminal

Our Mentor Storage Terminal consists of a propane storage cavern and a rail and truck loading and unloading facility located on approximately 40 
acres in Mentor, Minnesota. The Mentor Storage Terminal has an aggregate working storage capacity of approximately 330 MBbls, consisting of an 
underground cavern with a working storage capacity of approximately 325 MBbls and three above‑ground bullet storage tanks with an aggregate working 
storage capacity of approximately 5 MBbls. The terminal also has a dehydration facility, 11 rail unloading racks and two truck loading racks. The cavern 
and truck loading racks each have a propane injection and withdrawal capacity of approximately 6 MBbl/d.

The Mentor Storage Terminal, a mined cavern for liquefied petroleum gas, was constructed in 1962. The rock from which the cavern was constructed 
is classified as zoisite, a rare, marble‑like rock that has essentially no porosity or permeability, which makes it excellent for the purpose of liquid 
hydrocarbon storage. Constant underground temperature provides uniform operating conditions in the cavern.

Propane is received at the Mentor Storage Terminal by rail, and shipments and deliveries vary by season. Hess utilizes our propane storage services to 
mitigate the impact on its operations from seasonal variations in the demand for propane. As a result, at Hess’ direction, we generally fill the cavern with 
propane during the warmer months when demand for propane is low, and gradually withdraw propane from the cavern during colder months when 
demand is higher.
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The following table sets forth certain information regarding our processing and storage assets, which operate under long‑term, fee‑based commercial 

agreements with Hess:

Processing and Storage Assets

  

Asset  Commodity  Description  

Approximate 
Throughput

Capacity  

Approximate 
Storage
Capacity  

Third-Party and
Affiliate Connections

Tioga Gas Plant

 

Natural gas

 

Cryogenic

 

400 MMcf/d

 

-

 

Upstream: Natural gas gathering 
systems
Downstream: Third-party long-haul 
pipelines

 

 

NGLs

 

Cryogenic & Fractionation

 

60 MBbl/d

 

80 MBbls 

 

Downstream: Alliance Pipeline 
(propane); Vantage Pipeline 
(ethane); Tioga Rail Terminal; truck 
loading

 
 

Y-Grade NGLs
 

Stabilization
 

25 MBbl/d
 
80 MBbls 

 
Downstream: ONEOK Elk Creek 
Pipeline

 

 

CNG

 

Compression

 

40 Mdge/d

 

-

 

Upstream: Tioga Gas Plant
Downstream: Truck loading; light 
duty vehicles

Little Missouri 4

 

Natural gas

 

Cryogenic

 

100 MMcf/d

 

-

 

Upstream: Natural gas gathering 
systems
Downstream: Northern Border 
Pipeline

 
 

NGLs
 

Cryogenic
 

40 MBbl/d
 
-

 
Downstream: ONEOK Elk Creek 
Pipeline

Mentor Storage Terminal
 

Propane
 

Storage; rail and truck 
loading and unloading  

6 MBbl/d
 
330 MBbls 

 
BNSF Railway; truck loading

(1) Represents the total aggregate above-ground shell storage capacity of storage tanks at the Tioga Gas Plant.

(2) Represents 50% of the total plant capacity. The LM4 plant was placed in service in the third quarter of 2019.

(3) Represents a working storage capacity of approximately 325 MBbls at the storage cavern and an aggregate working capacity of approximately 5 MBbls of above‑ground storage 

tanks at the Mentor Storage Terminal.

Terminaling and Export

Our terminaling and export business consists of the Partnership’s 100% interest in Hess North Dakota Export Logistics Operations LP (“Logistics 
Opco”), which owns the Ramberg Terminal Facility, the Tioga Rail Terminal, our crude oil rail cars and the Johnson’s Corner Header System. The 
following sections describe in more detail these assets and the related services that we provide.

Ramberg Terminal Facility

Our Ramberg Terminal Facility is a crude oil pipeline and truck unloading facility located in Williams County, North Dakota that receives crude oil by 
pipeline and truck from Hess and third parties and exports crude oil by transporting it by pipeline to our Tioga Rail Terminal for loading onto crude oil rail 
cars or by injecting it directly into third‑party interstate pipeline systems. The facility has a combined pipeline and truck receipt capability of approximately 
200 MBbl/d. Up to approximately 130 MBbl/d of crude oil can enter the facility through our crude oil gathering system. Crude oil can also enter the facility 
through fourteen truck unloading bays with a combined truck unloading capacity of approximately 70 MBbl/d. 

The facility has a redelivery capability of up to approximately 285 MBbl/d through the following pipelines:

• a 14‑inch, ten‑mile crude oil pipeline with a current capacity of approximately 135 MBbl/d that connects to the Tioga Rail Terminal;

• two six‑inch crude oil pipelines with a combined capacity of approximately 25 MBbl/d that connects to third‑party long‑haul pipelines;

• one six‑inch and two eight‑inch crude oil pipelines with a combined capacity of approximately 55 MBbl/d that connects to third‑party long‑haul 
pipelines; and

• one ten‑inch crude oil pipeline with a capacity of approximately 70 MBbl/d that connects to a third‑party long‑haul pipeline.

The Ramberg Terminal Facility was constructed in 2006 and expanded in 2016. The facility has a combined shell storage capacity of approximately 40 
MBbls, with an additional combined 240 MBbls of storage capacity with third parties.
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Tioga Rail Terminal

The Tioga Rail Terminal is a 140 MBbl/d crude oil and 30 MBbl/d NGL rail loading terminal in Tioga, North Dakota that is connected to the Tioga Gas 
Plant, the Ramberg Terminal Facility and our crude oil gathering system.

The approximate 140 MBbl/d crude oil loading facility includes a dual loop track with 21 crude oil loading arms that commenced service in 2011. The 
terminal loads crude oil rail cars owned by us and third parties. The terminal also has three crude oil storage tanks with a combined shell storage capacity 
of approximately 290 MBbls. The terminal receives up to 30 MBbl/d of crude oil directly from our crude oil gathering system and through a 14‑inch crude 
oil pipeline connected to, and included as part of, our Ramberg Terminal Facility.

The terminal is capable of loading crude oil unit trains, which are dedicated trains (typically ranging from approximately 100 to 110 cars) chartered for a 
single delivery destination that usually receive priority scheduling and result in a more cost‑effective method of shipping than standard rail shipment.

The terminal is capable of receiving up to 30 MBbl/d of NGLs through three NGL pipelines connected to the Tioga Gas Plant, including: (i) an eight‑inch 
propane pipeline with a capacity of approximately 35 MBbl/d; (ii) a six‑inch butane pipeline with a capacity of approximately 15 MBbl/d; and (iii) a six‑inch 
mixed NGL pipeline with a capacity of approximately 10 MBbl/d. The terminal also includes separate ladder tracks with track space for over 385 NGL rail 
cars and 16 NGL loading arms. The NGL rail cars are leased by Hess and third parties.

The terminal has a direct rail connection to the BNSF Railway, which in turn connects to the Union Pacific, CSX, Norfolk Southern and other Class 1 
railroads. Crude oil loaded onto rail cars at the terminal may be transported to various delivery points in the East Coast, West Coast and Gulf Coast 
regions of the United States. The terminal receives NGLs for loading onto rail cars for transportation to various delivery points in North America.

Crude Oil Rail Cars

We own a total of 550 crude oil rail cars, which we operate as unit trains consisting of approximately 100 to 110 crude oil rail cars, with which we 
provide crude oil transportation services to Hess or third parties from the Tioga Rail Terminal to various delivery points in the East Coast, West Coast and 
Gulf Coast regions of the United States. Our crude oil rail cars were constructed between April 2015 and October 2015 to DOT‑117 safety standards. The 
effective capacity of the crude oil rail cars depends on round‑trip times to destination. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the average round‑trip 
duration was approximately 11 days and, based on this, the aggregate working capacity of our crude oil rail cars was approximately 32 MBbl/d. Our crude 
oil rail cars have a shell capacity of 728 Bbls per car and an effective loading capacity of approximately 92%, or approximately 670 Bbls per car.
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Johnson’s Corner Header System

The Johnson’s Corner Header System is a crude oil pipeline header system located in McKenzie County, North Dakota that receives crude oil by 
pipeline from Hess and third parties and delivers crude oil to third‑party interstate pipeline systems. It has a delivery capacity of approximately 100 MBbl/d 
of crude oil. The Johnson’s Corner Header System entered into service in 2017.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our terminaling and export assets, which operate under a long‑term, fee‑based commercial 
agreement with Hess:

Terminaling and Export Assets

Asset   Commodity   Description   

Approximate 
Throughput

Capacity   
Approximate Storage

Capacity   
Third-Party and

Affiliate Connections
Ramberg Terminal Facility

  

Crude oil

  

Truck unloading bays; 
pipeline connections

  

285 MBbl/d 

  

40 MBbls 

  

Upstream: Crude oil gathering 
system
Downstream: Tioga Rail Terminal 
connection; third-party long-haul 
pipelines

Tioga Rail Terminal

  

Crude oil
  
NGLs

  

Dual loop
  
Ladder track

  

140 MBbl/d
  
30 MBbl/d

  

290 MBbls 

  

Upstream: Crude oil gathering 
system; Tioga Gas Plant; 
Ramberg Terminal Facility
Downstream: BNSF Railway

Crude oil rail cars   Crude oil   Rail cars   32 MBbl/d   -     
Johnson's Corner Header 
System

  

Crude oil

  

Pipeline connections

  

100 MBbl/d 

  

-

  

Upstream: Crude oil gathering 
system; third-party gathering 
systems
Downstream: Third-party long-
haul pipelines

 

(1) Represents the aggregate redelivery capacity of the Ramberg Terminal Facility.

(2) Represents the aggregate above-ground shell storage capacity of storage tanks at the Ramberg Terminal Facility.

(3) Represents the aggregate above-ground shell storage capacity of storage tanks at the Tioga Rail Terminal.

(4) We own a total of 550 crude oil rail cars, which we operate as unit trains consisting of approximately 100 to 110 crude oil rail cars. Our crude oil rail cars have been constructed to 

DOT‑117 standards.

(5) For the year ended December 31, 2022, the average round‑trip duration was approximately 11 days and, based on this, the aggregate working capacity of our crude oil rail cars 

was approximately 32 Mbbl/d. Our crude oil rail cars have a shell capacity of 728 Bbls per car and an effective loading capacity of approximately 92%, or approximately 670 Bbls per 

car.

(6) Represents the aggregate redelivery capacity of the Johnson’s Corner Header System, which entered into service in 2017.

Our Commercial Agreements with Hess

Effective January 1, 2014, we entered into fee-based commercial agreements with certain subsidiaries of Hess to provide (i) gas gathering, (ii) crude 
oil gathering, (iii) gas processing and fractionation, (iv) storage services and (v) terminal and export services. Effective January 1, 2019, in connection with 
the acquisition of Hess Water Services, we entered into long-term fee-based water services agreements with a subsidiary of Hess. 

For the services performed under these commercial agreements, we receive a fee per barrel of crude oil, barrel of water, Mcf of natural gas, or Mcf 
equivalent of NGLs, as applicable, delivered during each month, and Hess is obligated to provide us with minimum volumes of crude oil, water, natural gas 
and NGLs. Minimum volume commitments (“MVCs”) are equal to 80% of Hess’ nominations in each development plan and apply on a three-year rolling 
basis such that MVCs are set for the three years following the most recent nomination. Without our consent, the MVCs resulting from the nominated 
volumes for any quarter or year contained in any prior development plan cannot be reduced by any updated development plan unless dedicated 
production is released by us. The applicable MVCs may, however, be increased as a result of the nominations contained in any such updated 
development plan.

In 2018, we amended and restated our gas gathering and gas processing and fractionation agreements with Hess to enable us to provide certain 
services to Hess in respect of volumes to be delivered to and processed at the LM4 plant. Effective January 1, 2019, Hess pays us a combined processing 
fee per Mcf of natural gas, or Mcf equivalent of NGLs, as applicable, for aggregate volumes processed at LM4 and TGP. 
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Except for the water services agreements and except for a certain gathering sub-system as described below, each of our commercial agreements with 
Hess has an initial 10-year term effective January 1, 2014 (“Initial Term”). For this gathering sub-system, the Initial Term is 15 years effective January 1, 
2014 and for the water services agreements the Initial Term is 14 years effective January 1, 2019. Each of our commercial agreements other than our 
storage services agreement includes an inflation escalator and a fee recalculation mechanism that allows fees to be adjusted annually during the Initial 
Term for updated estimates of cumulative throughput volumes and our capital and operating expenditures in order to target a return on capital deployed 
over the Initial Term of the applicable commercial agreement (or, with respect to the crude oil services fee under our terminal and export services 
agreement, the 20-year period commencing on the effective date of the agreement).

We have the unilateral right, exercisable by the delivery of a written notice on or before the date that is three years prior to the expiration of the Initial 
Term, to extend each commercial agreement for one additional 10-year term (“Secondary Term”). For a certain gathering sub-system, the Secondary 
Term is 5 years and for the water services agreements the Secondary Term is 10 years. On December 30, 2020, we exercised our renewal options to 
extend the terms of certain crude oil gathering, terminaling, storage, gas processing and gas gathering commercial agreements with Hess for the 
Secondary Term through December 31, 2033. There were no changes to any provisions of the existing commercial agreements as a result of the 
exercise of the renewal options. For the remaining water gathering and disposal agreements as well as the remaining gas gathering agreement, we have 
the sole option to renew these agreements for an additional term that is exercisable at a later date.

During the Secondary Term of each of our commercial agreements other than our storage services agreement and terminal and export services 
agreement (with respect to crude oil terminaling services), the fee recalculation model under each applicable agreement will be replaced by an inflation-
based fee structure. The initial fee for the first year of the Secondary Term will be determined based on the average fees paid by Hess under the 
applicable agreement during the last three years of the Initial Term (with such fees adjusted for inflation through the first year of the Secondary Term). For 
each year following the first year of the Secondary Term, the applicable fee will be adjusted annually based on the percentage change in the consumer 
price index, provided that we may not increase any fee by more than 3% in any calendar year solely by reason of an increase in the consumer price 
index, and no fee will ever be reduced below the amount of the applicable fee payable by Hess in the prior year as a result of a decrease in the consumer 
price index. 

Year 2023 is the final year of the annual rate redetermination process for the majority of our systems that represented approximately 85% of our 2022 
revenues. At the end of 2023, the base rate for 2024 will be set based on the average of the tariff rates from the years 2021 through 2023, adjusted for 
inflation, as described above. Rates will then be increased each year based on an inflation escalator capped at 3%. For our terminaling and water 
gathering systems that represented approximately 15% of our 2022 revenues, the rates will continue to be reset through our annual rate redetermination 
process through 2033. For all of our systems, MVCs will continue to be set at 80% of Hess’ nominated volumes in each development plan set three years 
in advance, providing downside protection through 2033. 

We believe these commercial agreements provide us with stable and predictable cash flows, an element of downside risk protection and minimal direct 
exposure to commodity price fluctuations. 
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The following table sets forth additional information regarding Hess’ MVCs:

 

   
  Hess Minimum Volume Commitment

Agreement  2023  2024  2025
Gas Gathering Agreement - MMcf/d of gas  320  364  357
Crude Oil Gathering Agreement - MBbl/d of crude oil  100  101  94
Gas Processing and Fractionation Agreement - MMcf/d of gas  302  340  343
Terminaling and Export Services Agreement  - MBbl/d of crude oil  113  114  108
Water Services Agreement  - MBbl/d of water  75  89  99

  

(1) Under each of our commercial agreements other than our storage services agreement, Hess is obligated to provide minimum volumes of crude oil, natural gas, NGLs and 

produced water, as applicable, to our assets on a quarterly basis and such volumes are reflected in the table above as annual averages of each year’s quarterly MVCs. The amounts 

under the gathering agreements also reflect the aggregate annual averages of the quarterly MVCs on our gathering subsystems.

(2) The terminaling and export services agreement covers the Ramberg Terminal Facility, the Tioga Rail Terminal, our crude oil rail cars and the Johnson’s Corner Header System.

(3) Represents MVCs for operated produced water gathering services.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, substantially all of our revenues were attributable to our fee‑based commercial agreements with Hess, 
including revenues from third‑party volumes delivered under these agreements. Our gas gathering and gas processing revenues comprised 
approximately 75% of total affiliate revenues, excluding passthrough revenues.

Regulation of Our Operations

Environmental Regulation

General

Our operations are subject to extensive and frequently‑changing federal, state and local laws, regulations and ordinances relating to the protection of 
the environment. Among other things, these laws and regulations govern the emission or discharge of pollutants into or onto the land, air and water, the 
handling and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes and the remediation of contamination. As with the industry generally, compliance with existing and 
anticipated environmental laws and regulations increases our overall cost of business, including our costs to construct, maintain, operate and upgrade 
equipment and facilities. While these laws and regulations affect our maintenance capital expenditures and net income, we believe they do not currently 
affect our competitive position. However, these laws and regulations are subject to changes, or to changes in the interpretation of such laws and 
regulations, by regulatory authorities, and continued and future compliance with such laws and regulations may require us to incur significant 
expenditures. Additionally, noncompliance with environmental laws, regulations and permits can result in the imposition of significant administrative, civil 
and criminal penalties, injunctions limiting our operations, investigatory or remedial liabilities or bans or delays in the construction of additional facilities or 
equipment. Additionally, a release of hydrocarbons or hazardous substances into the environment could, to the extent the event is not insured, subject us 
to substantial expenses, including costs to clean-up and remediate the release, comply with applicable laws and regulations and to resolve claims by third 
parties for personal injury or property damage, or by the U.S. federal government or state governments for natural resources damages. These impacts 
could directly and indirectly affect our business and have an adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations and liquidity. We cannot 
currently determine the amounts of such potential future impacts.

Air Emissions and Climate Change

We are subject to the Clean Air Act and its regulations and comparable state and local statutes and regulations in connection with air emissions from 
our operations. Under these laws, permits may be required before construction can commence on a new source of potentially significant air emissions, 
and operating permits may be required for sources that are already constructed. These permits may require controls on our air emission sources, and we 
may become subject to more stringent regulations requiring the installation of additional emission control technologies.

Future expenditures may be required to comply with the Clean Air Act and other federal, state and local requirements for our various sites, including 
our pipeline, processing, transportation, and storage facilities. 

These air emissions requirements also affect Hess’ Bakken operations from which we receive substantially all of our revenues. Hess has been required 
in the past, and may be required in the future, to incur significant capital expenditures to comply with new legislative and regulatory requirements relating 
to its operations. To the extent these capital expenditures have a material effect on Hess, they could have a material effect on our business and results of 
operations.
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Legislative and regulatory measures to address greenhouse gas emissions (including carbon dioxide, methane and other gases) are in various phases 

of discussion or implementation, and some regulatory bodies have recently proposed climate-related rules and regulations. These include requirements to 
report emissions of greenhouse gases (“GHG”) to the Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”), or potentially in future public disclosures to the SEC, 
and state actions to develop and implement statewide or regional programs, each of which require or could require reductions in our greenhouse gas 
emissions or those of Hess. The SEC issued a proposed rule in March 2022 that would mandate extensive disclosure of climate-related data, risks, and 
opportunities, including financial impacts, physical and transition risks, related governance and strategy, and GHG emissions, for certain public 
companies. Requiring reductions in greenhouse gas emissions could result in increased costs to (i) operate and maintain our facilities, (ii) install new 
emission controls at our facilities and (iii) administer and manage any greenhouse gas emissions programs, including acquiring emission credits or 
allotments. These requirements may also significantly affect Hess’ Bakken operations and may have an indirect effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. See “Risk Factors–Regulatory, Legal and Environmental Risks—Developments related to climate change including evolving 
laws and regulations could adversely affect us and our financial performance.”

Further, the EPA has proposed regulations under the Clean Air Act addressing greenhouse gases, to which some of our facilities may become subject. 
Rules and regulations have been proposed, amended and challenged, including rules and regulations governing methane emissions from oil and natural 
gas production and natural gas processing and transmission facilities. In November 2021, the EPA proposed new regulations to establish comprehensive 
standards of performance and emission guidelines for methane and volatile organic compound emissions from existing operations in the oil and gas 
sector, including the exploration and production, transmission, processing, and storage segments. The EPA issued a supplemental proposed rule on 
November 15, 2022, which provided additional information, including regulatory text, about the November 2021 proposed rule. The supplemental 
proposed rule would impose more stringent requirements than are currently applicable on the natural gas and oil industry. In addition, the Inflation 
Reduction Act of 2022 (“IRA”), signed by President Biden in August 2022, provides significant funding and incentives for research and development of low-
carbon energy production methods, carbon capture, and other programs directed at addressing climate change. The IRA also includes a methane 
emissions reduction program that amends the Clean Air Act to include a Methane Emissions and Waste Reduction Incentive Program for petroleum and 
natural gas systems. This program requires the EPA to impose a “waste emissions charge” on certain natural gas and oil sources that are already 
required to report under EPA’s Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program. Congress periodically considers legislation on greenhouse gas emissions, although 
the ultimate adoption and form of any federal legislation cannot presently be predicted. 

In addition to potential domestic regulation of greenhouse gases, there continues to be international interest in a global framework for greenhouse gas 
reductions. The United States is one of almost 200 nations that, in December 2015, agreed to the Paris Agreement, an international climate change 
agreement reached in Paris, France that calls for countries to set their own GHG emissions targets and be transparent about the measures each country 
will take to achieve its GHG emissions targets through the establishment of nationally-determined GHG emissions reduction goals. Since the United 
States’ re-entry into the Paris Agreement, President Biden has announced, in April 2021, a goal of reducing the United States’ emissions by at least 50% 
below 2005 levels by 2030. In November 2021, the international community gathered again in Glasgow at the 26th Conference of the Parties on the UN 
Framework Convention on Climate Change (“COP26”), during which multiple announcements were made, including a call for parties to eliminate certain 
fossil fuel subsidies and pursue further action on non-carbon dioxide GHGs. Relatedly, at COP26, the United States and European Union jointly 
announced the launch of the “Global Methane Pledge,” which aims to cut global methane pollution at least 30% by 2030 relative to 2020 levels, including 
“all feasible reductions” in the energy sector. Since its formal launch at COP26, over 150 countries have joined the pledge. While there were limited 
announcements at the 27th Conference of the Parties (“COP27”), which took place in November 2022 in Sharm-El Sheik, with respect to the reduction of 
fossil fuel use, there were negotiations on emissions reduction targets and reduction of fossil fuel use amongst the international community, and it is likely 
that these topics will dominate next year’s conference, COP28, as well.

While significant uncertainty exists as to future regulation of methane or other greenhouse gas emissions under the Clean Air Act or other local, 
regional, or international regulatory regimes, the impact of future regulatory and legislative developments, if adopted or enacted, is likely to result in 
increased compliance costs, increased utility costs, additional operating restrictions on our business and an increase in the cost of products generally. 
Although such costs may impact our business directly or indirectly by impacting Hess’ facilities or operations, the extent and magnitude of that impact 
cannot be reliably or accurately estimated due to the present uncertainty regarding the additional measures and how they will be implemented.
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Waste Management and Related Liabilities

Many of the environmental laws and regulations affecting our operations relate to the release of hazardous substances or solid wastes into soils, 
groundwater and surface water, and include measures to control pollution of the environment. These laws generally regulate the generation, storage, 
treatment, transportation and disposal of solid and hazardous waste. They also require corrective action, including investigation and remediation, at a 
facility where such waste may have been released or disposed.

CERCLA. The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), which is also known as Superfund, and 
comparable state laws impose liability, without regard to fault or to the legality of the original conduct, on certain classes of persons that contributed to the 
release of a “hazardous substance” into the environment. These persons include former and present owners or operators of the site where the release 
occurred and the transporters and generators of the hazardous substances found at the site. Under CERCLA, these persons may be subject to joint and 
several liability for the costs of cleaning up the hazardous substances that have been released into the environment, for damages to natural resources, 
and for the costs of certain health studies. CERCLA also authorizes the EPA and, in some instances, third parties to act in response to threats to the 
public health or the environment and to seek to recover from the responsible persons the costs they incur. It is not uncommon for neighboring landowners 
and other third parties to file claims for personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by hazardous substances or other pollutants released into 
the environment. In the course of our ordinary operations, we may generate waste and use substances that fall within CERCLA’s definition of a 
“hazardous substance” and, as a result, may be jointly and severally liable under CERCLA for all or part of the costs required to clean up sites 
contaminated by those substances. Additionally, it is possible that emerging contaminants, like per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances such as PFAS and 
PFOA compounds, could become subject to CERCLA regulation. We cannot provide any assurance that the costs and liabilities associated with the 
future imposition of such remedial obligations upon us would not have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial position.

RCRA. We also generate solid wastes, including hazardous wastes, that are subject to the requirements of the federal Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act (“RCRA”), and comparable state statutes. From time to time, the EPA considers the adoption of stricter disposal standards for 
non‑hazardous wastes. Hazardous wastes are subject to more rigorous and costly disposal requirements than are non‑hazardous wastes. Any changes 
in the regulations for treatment, storage or disposal of RCRA‑regulated waste could increase our maintenance capital expenditures and operating 
expenses. We continue to seek methods to minimize the generation of hazardous wastes in our operations.

Hydrocarbon wastes. We currently own and lease, and Hess has in the past owned and leased, properties where hydrocarbons have been handled for 
many years. Although we have utilized operating and disposal practices that we believe were standard in the industry at the time, hydrocarbons or other 
waste may have been disposed of or released on or under the properties owned or leased by us or on or under other locations where these wastes have 
been taken for disposal. In addition, many of these properties have been operated by third parties whose treatment and disposal or release of 
hydrocarbons or other wastes was not under our control. These properties and wastes disposed thereon may be subject to CERCLA, RCRA and 
analogous state laws. Assuming liability is established under these laws, we could be required to remove or remediate previously disposed wastes 
(including wastes disposed of or released by prior owners or operators), to clean up contaminated property (including contaminated groundwater) or to 
perform additional remedial activities to prevent further contamination.

Water

Our operations have the potential to result in the discharge of pollutants, including crude oil. Regulations under the Clean Water Act (“CWA”), the Oil 
Pollution Act of 1990 (“OPA‑90”), and state laws impose regulatory burdens on our operations. Spill prevention control and countermeasure requirements 
of federal laws and some state laws require containment to mitigate or prevent contamination of jurisdictional waters in the event of an oil overflow, 
rupture or leak. For example, the CWA requires us to maintain Spill Prevention Control and Countermeasure (“SPCC”), plans at many of our facilities. We 
maintain discharge permits for facilities required under the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System program of the CWA and have implemented 
processes to oversee our compliance efforts.

In addition, the transportation and storage of crude oil or other hazardous substances over and adjacent to water involves risk and subjects us to the 
provisions of OPA‑90 and related state requirements. Among other requirements, OPA‑90 and the National Contingency Plan requires the owner or 
operator of a tank vessel or a facility to maintain an emergency plan to respond to releases of oil or other hazardous substances. Also, in case of any such 
release, OPA‑90 requires the responsible company to pay resulting removal costs and damages. OPA‑90 also provides for civil penalties and imposes 
criminal sanctions for violations of its provisions. We operate facilities at which releases of oil or other hazardous substances could occur. We have 
implemented emergency oil response plans for our components and facilities covered by OPA‑90, and we have established SPCC plans for facilities 
subject to CWA SPCC requirements.
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Construction or maintenance of our pipelines, terminals and storage facilities may impact wetlands, which are also regulated under the CWA by the 
EPA and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. Regulatory requirements governing wetlands (including associated mitigation projects) may result in the 
delay of our pipeline projects while we obtain necessary permits and may increase the costs of new projects and maintenance activities. Considerable 
legal uncertainty exists surrounding the standard for what constitutes jurisdictional waters and wetlands subject to the protections and requirements of the 
CWA. The definition of “waters of the United States” and, relatedly, the scope of CWA jurisdiction, have been the subject of notable rulemaking efforts and 
judicial challenges over several decades.

Employee and Community Safety

We are subject to the requirements of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, or OSHA, and comparable state statutes that regulate the 
protection of the health and safety of workers, as applied to seconded employees from Hess. In addition, the OSHA hazard communication standard, the 
EPA community right-to-know regulations under Title III of CERCLA and similar state statutes and regulations require that information be maintained about 
hazardous materials used or produced in operations and that this information be provided as applicable to employees, state and local government 
authorities and citizens.

Protected Species
The Endangered Species Act restricts and carries civil and criminal liability for activities that may affect threatened and endangered species or their 

habitats. At the federal level, the law is administered by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the Commerce Department's National Marine Fisheries 
Service. Similar protections are offered to migratory birds under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act, and to bald and golden eagles under the Bald and Golden 
Eagle Protection Act. While some of our facilities are in areas that may be designated as habitat for endangered species, we have not incurred any 
material costs to comply or restrictions on our operations. However, the discovery of previously unidentified endangered species or designation of 
previously unidentified endangered or threatened species could cause us to incur additional costs or become subject to operating restrictions or bans in 
the affected area. There is also increasing interest in nature-related matters beyond protected species, such as general biodiversity, which may similarly 
require us or our customers to incur costs or take other measures which may adversely impact our and our customers’ business or operations.

Other Regulation
Rail Regulation
We believe all of our rail cars in crude oil service meet the current U.S. Department of Transportation DOT‑117 standard applicable to “high hazard 

flammable trains”. The adoption of additional federal, state or local laws or regulations, including any voluntary measures by the rail industry regarding rail 
car design or crude oil and liquid hydrocarbon rail transport activities, or efforts by local communities to restrict or limit rail traffic involving crude oil, could 
affect our business by increasing compliance costs and decreasing demand for our services, which could adversely affect our financial position and cash 
flows. Moreover, any disruptions in the operations of railroads, including those due to shortages of rail cars, locomotives or labor, weather‑related 
problems, flooding, drought, derailments, mechanical difficulties, strikes, lockouts or bottlenecks, or other force majeure events could adversely impact our 
customers’ ability to move their product and, as a result, could affect our business. 

Pipeline Regulation
Section 1(b) of the Natural Gas Act (“NGA”) exempts natural gas gathering facilities from regulation by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 

(“FERC”). Although FERC has not made any formal determinations with respect to our natural gas gathering facilities upstream of the Tioga Gas Plant, 
we believe that the natural gas pipelines in our gathering systems meet the traditional tests FERC has used to establish whether a pipeline is not subject 
to tariff requirements under the NGA. Similarly, we believe that the crude oil and NGL pipelines in our gathering system are not subject to FERC tariff 
requirements under the Interstate Commerce Act (“ICA”), because they fall outside FERC’s tariff jurisdiction. However, the classification and regulation of 
our gathering facilities may be subject to change based on future determinations or policy changes by FERC, the courts, or Congress. If it is subsequently 
determined that an individual facility is not exempt from FERC regulation under the NGA, such determination could decrease revenue, increase operating 
costs, and, depending upon the facility in question, adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows. In addition, if any of our facilities were found 
to have violated the NGA or the Natural Gas Policy Act (“NGPA”), FERC has civil penalty authority under the NGA and NGPA to impose penalties for 
current violations of up to $1,388,496 per violation per day and disgorgement of profits associated with any violation.

State regulation of gathering facilities and intrastate transportation pipelines generally includes various safety, environmental and, in some 
circumstances, nondiscriminatory take and common purchaser requirements, as well as complaint‑based rate regulation. Other state regulations may not 
directly apply to our business, but may nonetheless affect the availability of natural gas, crude oil and NGLs for purchase, compression and sale.
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Safety and Maintenance

Our terminal operations, including associated pipelines, are subject to strict safety laws and regulations, including regulations under OSHA and 
comparable state and local regulations. We believe our terminal facilities are operated in a manner consistent with industry safe practices and standards 
and have fire protection in compliance with local, state and federal regulations. The tanks designed for crude oil storage at our terminals are equipped 
with appropriate controls that minimize emissions and promote safety. Our terminal facilities have response plans, spill prevention and control plans and 
other programs to respond to emergencies. Generally, rail operations are subject to federal regulations and the Association of American Railroad rules.

The transportation and storage of crude oil and other hydrocarbon products involve a risk that hazardous liquids may be released into the environment, 
potentially causing harm to the public or the environment. The United States Department of Transportation (the “DOT”), through the Pipeline and 
Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (“PHMSA”) and state agencies, enforces safety regulations with respect to the design, construction, operation, 
maintenance, inspection and management of our pipeline and storage facilities. PHMSA requires pipeline operators to implement integrity management 
programs, including more frequent inspections and other measures to ensure pipeline safety in high‑consequence areas, or HCAs, defined as those areas 
that are unusually sensitive to environmental damage, that cross a navigable waterway, or that have a high population density. The regulations require 
operators, including us, to (i) perform ongoing assessments of pipeline integrity, (ii) identify and characterize applicable threats to pipeline segments that 
could impact a HCA, (iii) improve data collection, integration and analysis, (iv) repair and remediate pipelines as necessary and (v) implement preventive 
and mitigating actions. These regulations contain requirements for the development and implementation of pipeline integrity management programs, 
which include the inspection and testing of pipelines and the correction of anomalies. PHMSA’s regulations also require that pipeline operation and 
maintenance personnel meet certain qualifications and that pipeline operators develop comprehensive spill response plans, including extensive spill 
response training for pipeline personnel. 

States are largely preempted by federal law from regulating pipeline safety for interstate lines but most states are certified by the DOT to assume 
responsibility for enforcing federal intrastate pipeline regulations and inspection of intrastate pipelines. States may adopt stricter standards for intrastate 
pipelines than those imposed by the federal government for interstate lines; however, states vary considerably in their authority and capacity to address 
pipeline safety. State standards may include requirements for facility design and management in addition to requirements for pipelines. Our internal 
review of our assets and operations revealed small pipelines or sections of facilities that may be subject to PHMSA regulation. PHMSA may initiate 
proceedings with respect to any non-compliance at a future date. Nevertheless, we do not expect these developments to have a material effect on our 
operations or revenues.

We inspect our pipelines to determine their condition and use the inspection information to evaluate appropriate preventative maintenance activities to 
validate line integrity and safety. Our inspections sometimes include the use of internal line inspection tools that provide information on the physical 
condition of our pipelines.

State regulations and our commercial agreements with Hess contain product quality specification limits. However, if new or more stringent federal, state 
or local legal restrictions relating to the quality specification of crude oil or to crude oil transportation are adopted in areas where Hess and our other 
customers operate, Hess and our other customers could incur potentially significant added costs to comply with such requirements and experience delays 
or curtailment in the pursuit of production or development activities, which could reduce demand for our midstream services.

In October 2019, PHMSA submitted three major rules to the Federal Register, including rules focused on: the safety of gas transmission pipelines (the 
first of three parts of the Mega Rule), the safety of hazardous liquid pipelines, and enhanced emergency order procedures. In November 2021, PHMSA 
issued a final rule that expands certain federal pipeline safety requirements to all onshore gas gathering pipelines, regardless of size or location. The final 
rule represents the final part of the Mega Rule, and establishes two new types of onshore gas gathering pipelines subject to varying degrees of 
regulation: all onshore gathering line operators are now subject to PHMSA’s annual reporting and incident reporting requirements as “Type R” onshore 
gas gathering lines; and certain previously unregulated rural gas gathering lines must now comply with PHMSA damage prevention and, depending on 
the size of the pipeline, construction and operational requirements as “Type C” onshore gas gathering lines. The final rule became effective on May 16, 
2022. On April 1, 2022, PHMSA issued a response to a petition for reconsideration of the final rule with certain clarifications and technical corrections to 
the final rule, which also became effective on May 16, 2022, including (i) updating the safety-related condition report requirement to be consistent with the 
statements in the preamble to the final rule; (ii) clarifying that operators may, when identifying Type C gas gathering lines, use the default specified 
minimum yield strength when the yield strength is not known; and (iii) revising the regulatory text to facilitate operators’ consideration of maximum 
allowable operating pressure in threshold determinations that gas gathering facilities qualify as Type C lines. The extent and magnitude of costs to comply 
with this new rule cannot currently be reliably or accurately estimated due to the uncertainty regarding the additional measures to be taken and how they 
will be implemented. We expect that such costs will include initial expenses for compliance, and lower on-going expenses that are not expected to be 
material to our overall financial results. 
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Security

The Department of Homeland Security’s (“DHS”), Chemical Facility Anti‑Terrorism Standards are designed to regulate the security of high‑risk 
chemical facilities. The DHS issued an interim rule in April 2007 regarding risk‑based performance standards to be attained pursuant to this act and, on 
November 20, 2007, further issued an Appendix A to the interim rules that establishes chemicals of interest and their respective threshold quantities that 
trigger compliance with these interim rules. Covered facilities determined by DHS to pose a high level of security risk are required to prepare and submit 
Security Vulnerability Assessments or Site Security Plans as well as comply with other regulatory requirements, including those regarding inspections, 
audits, recordkeeping and protection of chemical‑terrorism vulnerability information. Certain of our facilities may be subject to these requirements.

Since the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks on the United States, the U.S. government has issued warnings that energy infrastructure assets may 
be future targets of terrorist organizations. These developments have subjected our operations to increased risks. Increased security measures taken by 
us as a precaution against possible terrorist attacks may have resulted in increased costs to our business. Where required by federal, state or local laws, 
we believe we have prepared effective security plans for the storage and distribution facilities we operate. Terrorist attacks aimed at our facilities and any 
global and domestic economic repercussions from terrorist activities could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash available 
for distribution to our shareholders. 

Governmental standards for the protection of computer-based systems and technology from cyber threats and attacks, have either been adopted or 
are being considered in the U.S. Congress and by U.S. Executive Branch departments and agencies, including the Department of Homeland Security. We 
currently may be subject to existing standards or standards implemented in the future. We have implemented cyber security programs and protocols. 
While we cannot guarantee their effectiveness, we continually seek to improve these protocols. A significant cyber‑attack could have a material adverse 
effect on our operations and those of our customers.

Title to Properties and Permits

Certain of the pipelines connecting our facilities are constructed on rights‑of‑way granted by the apparent record owners of the property and in some 
instances these rights‑of‑way are revocable at the election of the grantor. In several instances, lands over which rights‑of‑way have been obtained could 
be subject to prior liens that have not been subordinated to the right‑of‑way grants. We have obtained permits from public authorities to cross over or 
under, or to lay pipelines in or along, watercourses, county roads, municipal streets and state highways and, in some instances, these permits are 
revocable at the election of the grantor. These permits may also be subject to renewal from time to time and we will generally seek renewal or arrange 
alternative means of transport through additional investment or commercial agreements. We have also obtained permits from railroad companies to cross 
over or under lands or rights-of-way, many of which are also revocable at the grantor’s election.

We believe we have satisfactory permits and/or title to all our rights-of-way. We also believe that we have satisfactory title to all of our assets.

Other Items

Competition

As a result of our contractual relationship with Hess under our commercial agreements and our direct connections to Hess’ production operations in the 
Williston Basin, we believe that we will not face significant competition from other midstream service providers for Hess’ crude oil, natural gas or NGL 
gathering, processing or terminaling services or for other midstream services relating to Hess’ production operations in the Bakken.

If Hess’ production volumes decrease or if Hess’ customers reduce their purchases of crude oil, natural gas or NGLs from Hess due to the increased 
availability of less expensive products from other suppliers or for other reasons, Hess may meet only the minimum volume commitments of our 
commercial agreements (or pay the shortfall fee if it does not meet the minimum volume), which could cause a material decrease in our revenues.

Seasonality

The crude oil, natural gas and NGLs that we handle, process and store are directly affected by the level of supply and demand for crude oil, natural gas 
and NGLs in the markets served directly or indirectly by our assets. For example, we generally fill the storage cavern at our Mentor Storage Terminal with 
propane during the warmer months when demand for propane is low, and gradually withdraw propane from the cavern during the colder months when 
demand is higher. However, we believe that many effects of seasonality on our revenues are substantially mitigated through the use of our fee-based 
commercial agreements with Hess that include minimum volume commitments.
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Insurance

Our assets may experience physical damage as a result of an accident or natural disaster. These hazards have the potential to cause personal injury 
and loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property and equipment, pollution or environmental damage, and suspension of operations. We are 
insured under certain of Hess’ corporate insurance policies and are subject to the shared deductibles and limits under those policies. We also carry 
insurance policies separate from Hess for business interruption, certain property damage and third-party liabilities, which include sudden and accidental 
pollution liabilities, at varying levels of deductibles and limits that we believe are reasonable and prudent under the circumstances to cover our operations 
and assets. As we continue to grow, we will continue to evaluate our policy limits and deductibles as they relate to the overall cost and scope of our 
insurance program.

Human Capital Resources

We are managed by the board of directors and executive officers of Hess Midstream GP LLC, the general partner of our general partner. Neither we nor 
our subsidiaries have any employees. Hess Midstream GP LLC, as the general partner of our general partner, has the sole responsibility for providing the 
employees and other personnel necessary to conduct our operations and has entered into an employee secondment agreement with Hess and certain of 
its subsidiaries pursuant to which Hess and its subsidiaries make available the services of their employees in exchange for a fee. As a result, all of the 
employees that conduct our business are employed by affiliates of our general partner including Hess. Hess is responsible for human capital management 
policies, including any human capital measures and objectives that management focuses on in managing the business. As of December 31, 2022, Hess 
Midstream GP LLC and its affiliates had approximately 199 full‑time equivalent employees supporting our operations, including employees in the field 
performing services and support staff from other offices.

Office

The principal office of our Company is located at 1501 McKinney Street, Houston, Texas 77010.

Website Access to Our Reports

We make available free of charge through our website, at www.hessmidstream.com, our annual report on Form 10‑K, quarterly reports on Form 10‑Q, 
current reports on Form 8‑K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. The 
information on our website is not incorporated by reference in this report. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Corporate Governance Guidelines, 
and the Audit Committee charter are available on our website and are also available free of charge upon request to Investor Relations at our principal 
executive office. We also file with the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) an annual certification that our Chief Executive Officer is unaware of any 
violation of the NYSE’s corporate governance standards.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business activities and the value of our securities are subject to significant risks, including the risk factors described below. These risk factors 
could negatively affect our operations, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations, and as a result, holders and purchasers of our securities 
could lose part or all of their investments. It is possible that additional risks relating to our securities may be described in a prospectus if we issue 
securities in the future.

Risk Factors Summary

Risks Related to Our Relationship with Hess

• We are substantially dependent on Hess and subject to many of the same risks facing Hess.

• Hess may suspend, reduce or terminate its obligations under our commercial agreements if we fail to perform or if a force majeure event prevents 
us from performing required services under the applicable agreement.

• Our success depends, in part, on Hess replacing declining production, and if Hess does not maintain its drilling activities, or if we do not pursue 
third-party customer contracts, the demand for our services could be reduced.

• We may not be able to significantly increase our third-party revenues, which could limit our ability to grow and extend our dependence on Hess.

• The level and terms of Hess’ indebtedness and any reduction in Hess’ credit ratings could adversely affect our business and our ability to obtain 
credit in the future. 

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

• Any decrease in the volumes of natural gas or crude oil that we handle, including due to competition and seasonal weather conditions in our limited 
geographic areas, could adversely affect our business.

• Our operations and Hess’ Bakken production operations are subject to many risks and operational hazards as well as commodity price risks.

• We do not own all of the land on which certain of the pipelines connecting our facilities are located and utilize contract operator services, which may 
result in disruptions and increased costs in the future.

• Our business and operations were and could in the future be adversely affected by an epidemic or outbreak of an infectious disease, such as 
COVID-19. 

• We have a significant amount of consolidated indebtedness with terms that may restrict our business.

• We may be unable to make acquisitions on economically acceptable terms from third parties and the completion of capital projects by us are 
subject to risks and may not result in revenue increases.

• Terrorist or cyber-attacks and threats could have a material adverse effect on us.

Regulatory, Legal and Environmental Risks

• Our assets and operations are subject to federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and health and safety, 
including those relating to pipeline integrity, and may become subject to FERC regulation.

• Evolving environmental laws and regulations, including on crude oil stabilization, transportation, hydraulic fracturing and climate change, could 
have an adverse effect on our business.

• Climate change and sustainability initiatives may adversely affect our business, including significant operational changes and expenditures, reduce 
demand for our services and an increase our cost of capital.

• We or Hess may be unable to obtain or renew permits or approvals necessary for our respective operations, including our produced water facilities.

• Certain plant or animal species could be designated as endangered or threatened, which could limit our ability to expand some or limit our 
customers’ ability to develop new crude oil and natural gas wells.

Risks Inherent in an Investment in Us

• We may not generate sufficient distributable cash flow to support the payment of the minimum quarterly distribution to our shareholders.

• Our general partner and its affiliates, including our Sponsors, have conflicts of interest with us and limited fiduciary duties and they may favor their 
own interests to our detriment. 
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• Our partnership agreement requires that we distribute all of our available cash, which could limit our ability to grow.

• Our partnership agreement designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for certain types of actions by our 
shareholders for disputes with us or our general partner’s directors, officers or other employees.

• Our partnership agreement provides that our shareholders irrevocably waive the right to trial by jury.

• Our general partner and its affiliates, including our Sponsors, may compete with us and have no obligation to present business opportunities to us.

• Holders of our Class A Shares have very limited voting rights.

• Our general partner can transfer its interests and may require our shareholders to sell their Class A Shares at an undesirable time or price.

• Our partnership agreement restricts the remedies available to shareholders for actions taken by our general partner.

• Our Sponsors may sell Class A Shares in the public or private markets, and such sales could have an adverse impact on the trading price of the 
Class A Shares.

• We may issue an unlimited number of additional equity interests without shareholder approval, including equity interests with preferences senior to 
the Class A Shares.

• The NYSE does not require us to comply with certain of its corporate governance requirements.

• We are treated as a corporation for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes.

Risks Related to Our Relationship with Hess

Hess currently accounts for substantially all of our revenues. If Hess changes its business strategy, is unable for any reason, including 
financial or other limitations, to satisfy its obligations under our commercial agreements, our revenues would decline and our financial 
condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to make distributions to our shareholders could be materially and adversely affected.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, substantially all of our revenues were attributable to our fee‑based commercial agreements with Hess, 
including revenues from third‑party volumes delivered under these agreements. We expect that we will continue to derive substantially all of our revenues 
in the near term under multiple commercial agreements with Hess. Any event, whether in our areas of operation or elsewhere, that materially and 
adversely affects Hess’ financial condition, results of operations or cash flows may adversely affect its ability to deliver its nominated volumes to us and 
our ability to sustain or increase cash distributions to our shareholders. Accordingly, we are indirectly subject to the operational and business risks of 
Hess, the most significant of which include the following:

• adverse effects of COVID-19;

• the effects of changing commodity prices and production margins;

• Hess’ ability to successfully increase its Bakken production;

• the inherent uncertainties in estimating quantities of proved reserves and the possibility that actual Bakken production may be lower than estimated;

• Hess’ ability to control decisions made under joint operating agreements and failure of the parties under such agreements to meet their obligations;

• changing laws and regulations and other governmental actions;

• substantial capital requirements and Hess’ ability to obtain needed financing on satisfactory terms, if at all;

• political instability in areas where Hess operates that can adversely affect Hess’ business;

• environmental risks and environmental laws and regulations that can result in significant costs and liabilities;

• climate change and sustainability initiatives and changes in laws and regulations may adversely affect Hess' business including significant operational 
changes and expenditures, reduce demand for Hess’ products or increase cost of capital for Hess;

• highly competitive environment where many of Hess’ competitors are larger and have greater resources and a more diverse portfolio than Hess;

• catastrophic and other events, whether naturally occurring or man-made, may materially affect Hess’ operations and financial condition;
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• significant time delays between the estimated and actual occurrence of critical events associated with Hess’ development projects may result in 
material negative economic consequences;

• departure of key members from Hess’ senior management team, and/or difficulty in recruiting and retaining adequate numbers of experienced 
technical personnel, could negatively impact Hess’ ability to deliver on its strategic goals;

• Hess’ dependency on oilfield service companies for items including drilling rigs, equipment, supplies and skilled labor and its ability to secure these 
services, or a high cost thereof, may result in material negative economic consequences; and

• disruption, failure or cyber security breaches affecting or targeting computer, telecommunication systems, and infrastructure used by Hess or its 
business partners that may materially impact Hess’ business and operations.

Hess may suspend, reduce or terminate its obligations under our commercial agreements in certain circumstances, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to make distributions to our shareholders.

Our commercial agreements with Hess include provisions that permit Hess to suspend or terminate its obligations under the applicable agreement if 
certain events occur. These events include our failure to perform or comply with a material warranty, covenant or obligation under the applicable 
commercial agreement following the expiration of a specified cure period. In addition, Hess may suspend or reduce its obligations under our commercial 
agreements if a force majeure event prevents us from performing required services under the applicable agreement. Hess has the ability to make such 
decisions notwithstanding the fact that they may significantly and adversely affect us. Any such reduction or suspension or termination of Hess’ 
obligations would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to make distributions to our 
shareholders.

Because of the natural decline in production from existing wells in our areas of operation, our success depends, in part, on Hess and other 
producers replacing declining production and also on our ability to secure new sources of natural gas and crude oil. Any decrease in the 
volumes of natural gas or crude oil that we handle could adversely affect our business and operating results.

The natural gas and crude oil volumes that support our business depend on the level of production from natural gas and crude oil wells connected to 
our facilities, which may be less than expected and will naturally decline over time. As a result, our cash flows associated with these wells will also decline 
over time. In order to maintain or increase throughput levels at our facilities, Hess and other producers for which we currently or in the future may handle 
volumes at our facilities must replace declining production, or we must obtain new sources of natural gas and crude oil. The primary factors affecting our 
ability to obtain non‑dedicated sources of natural gas and crude oil include (i) the level of successful drilling activity in our areas of operation, (ii) our ability 
to compete for volumes from successful new wells and (iii) our ability to compete successfully for volumes from sources connected to other pipelines.

We have no control over the level of drilling activity in our areas of operation, the amount of reserves associated with wells connected to our systems or 
the rate at which production from a well declines. In addition, we have no control over Hess or other producers or their drilling or production decisions, 
which are affected by, among other things:

• the availability and cost of capital;

• prevailing and projected crude oil, natural gas and NGL prices;

• demand for crude oil, natural gas and NGLs;

• levels of reserves;

• geological considerations;

• environmental or other governmental regulations, including the timely availability of drilling permits and the regulation of hydraulic fracturing and 
flaring; and

• the availability of drilling rigs and other costs of production and equipment.

Fluctuations in commodity prices can also greatly affect the development of crude oil and natural gas reserves. Drilling and production activity generally 
decreases as crude oil and natural gas prices decrease. Declines in crude oil and natural gas prices could have a negative impact on exploration, 
development and production activity, and if sustained, could lead to a material decrease in such activity. For example, in the second quarter of 2020, as a 
result of COVID-19 and sharp decline in crude oil prices, Hess reduced its rig count from six rigs to one rig in the Bakken. In addition, third parties in the 
Bakken also curtailed production and reduced drilling activity. Hess increased its rig count in the Bakken to three rigs in 2021 and added a fourth operated 
rig in July 2022; however, total rig count in the Bakken may change in the future. Sustained reductions in exploration or production activity in our areas of 
operation could lead to reduced utilization of our assets.
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Because of these and other factors, even if crude oil and natural gas reserves are known to exist in areas served by our assets, producers may choose 

not to develop those reserves. If reductions in drilling activity result in our inability to maintain the current levels of throughput on our systems, those 
reductions could reduce our revenues and cash flow and adversely affect our ability to make cash distributions to our shareholders.

Furthermore, produced water disposal services that we provide to Hess and any other customers assist in their drilling activities. If Hess does not 
maintain its drilling activities, its demand for our produced water disposal services will be reduced regardless of whether we continue to provide other 
midstream services for their production, and our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We may not be able to significantly increase our third‑party revenues due to competition and other factors, which could limit our ability to 
grow and extend our dependence on Hess.

Part of our growth strategy includes diversifying our customer base by identifying opportunities to offer services to third parties with our existing assets 
or by constructing or acquiring new assets independently from Hess. Our ability to increase our third‑party revenues is subject to numerous factors 
beyond our control, including prevailing commodity prices, competition from third parties and the extent to which we lack available capacity when 
third‑party customers require it. For example, the decline in crude oil prices in the second quarter of 2020 as a result of COVID-19 caused producers to 
reduce exploration, development and production activities, which resulted in a decrease in third‑party volumes available to be handled by our assets. In 
addition, our natural gas and crude oil gathering systems and processing plants are subject to competition from existing and future third‑party natural gas 
and crude oil gathering systems and natural gas processing and fractionation plants in the Bakken, while our terminals and crude oil rail cars compete 
with third‑party terminals, pipelines and crude oil rail cars for available third‑party volumes. To the extent that we have available capacity on our gathering 
systems, at TGP or LM4 for third-party volumes, we may not be able to compete effectively with third‑party gathering systems or processing plants for 
additional natural gas production in the area. To the extent that we have available capacity at our terminals or crude oil rail cars for third‑party volumes, 
competition from other existing or future terminals or crude oil rail cars owned by third parties may limit our ability to utilize this available capacity.

We have historically provided midstream services to third parties on only a limited basis, and we can provide no assurance that we will be able to 
attract any material third‑party service opportunities. Our efforts to attract new unaffiliated customers may be adversely affected by our relationship with 
Hess and our desire to provide services pursuant to fee‑based contracts. Our potential customers may prefer to obtain services under other forms of 
contractual arrangements under which we would be required to assume direct commodity exposure.

The level and terms of our and Hess’ indebtedness and any reduction in Hess’ credit ratings could adversely affect our ability to grow our 
business and our ability to make cash distributions to our shareholders. Our ability to obtain credit in the future may also be adversely 
affected by the credit ratings of Hess.

We and Hess must devote a portion of our cash flows from operating activities to service our respective indebtedness, and therefore cash flows may 
not be available for use in pursuing our and Hess’ growth strategy. Furthermore, a higher level of indebtedness at Hess in the future would increase the 
risk that it may default on its obligations to us under our commercial agreements. As of December 31, 2022, Hess had total consolidated indebtedness of 
approximately $8.3 billion, including our indebtedness of $2.9 billion, which is non-recourse to Hess. 

All three major credit rating agencies that rate Hess’ debt have assigned Hess an investment grade credit rating. If these credit ratings are lowered in 
the future, the interest rate and fees Hess pays on its credit facilities may increase. Credit rating agencies may consider Hess’ debt ratings when 
assigning ours because of its ownership interest in us, the significant commercial relationships between Hess and us, and our reliance on commercial 
agreements with Hess for substantially all of our revenues. If one or more credit rating agencies were to downgrade the outstanding indebtedness of 
Hess, we could experience an increase in our borrowing costs or difficulty accessing the capital markets. Such a development could adversely affect our 
ability to grow our business and to make cash distributions to our shareholders.
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Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Our industry is highly competitive and increased competitive pressure could adversely affect our business and operating results.

We compete with other midstream companies in our areas of operation. In addition, some of our competitors have assets in closer proximity to crude oil 
and natural gas supplies and have available idle capacity in existing assets that would not require new capital investments for use. Some of our 
competitors are large companies that have greater financial, managerial and other resources than we do. Our competitors may expand or construct 
gathering systems, processing plants, terminals or storage facilities that would create additional competition for the services we provide to our customers. 
Our ability to renew or replace existing contracts with our customers at rates sufficient to maintain current revenue and cash flow could be adversely 
affected by the activities of our competitors and our customers. All of these competitive pressures could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
results of operations, financial condition and our ability to make cash distributions to our shareholders.

Seasonal weather conditions, which may be impacted by climate change, may adversely affect our customers’ ability to conduct drilling 
activities in some of the areas where we operate and our ability to operate our assets and to construct additional facilities.

Crude oil and natural gas operations in North Dakota are adversely affected by seasonal weather conditions. In the Bakken, drilling and other crude oil 
and natural gas activities can be adversely affected during the winter months. Severe winter weather conditions limit and may reduce or temporarily halt 
our customers’ ability to operate during such conditions, leading to the decrease in drilling activity and the potential shut‑in of producing wells which the 
producers are unable to service. This could result in a decrease in the volumes of crude oil, natural gas and NGLs supplied to our assets. In addition, 
seasonal weather conditions during the winter months may adversely impact the operations of our assets and our ability to construct additional facilities, 
by causing temporary delays and shutdowns. The frequency and severity of severe winter weather conditions and other meteorological phenomena, 
including storms, droughts, extreme temperatures, and changes in temperature/precipitation patterns that impact our and our customers’ business 
activities may also be impacted by the effects of climate change. Energy needs could increase or decrease as a result of extreme weather conditions 
depending on the duration and magnitude of any such climate changes. Increased energy use due to weather changes may require us to invest in order 
to serve increased demand or create operational challenges. A decrease in energy use due to weather changes may affect our financial condition through 
decreased revenues. To the extent the frequency of extreme weather events increases, this could among other things, cause damage to our facilities, 
interrupt our services or supply chain, or increase our cost of providing service. If any of these results occur, it could have an adverse effect on our assets 
and operations and cause us to incur costs in preparing for and responding to them. To the extent any such effects were to occur, the resulting impacts 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and our ability to make cash distributions to our 
shareholders. 

Our success depends on our ability to attract and maintain customers in a limited number of geographic areas.

Substantially all of our assets are located in the Bakken, and we intend to focus our future capital expenditures largely on developing our business in 
that area. As a result, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows are significantly dependent upon the demand for our services in that 
area. Due to our focus on the Bakken, an adverse development in crude oil or natural gas production from that area would have a significantly greater 
impact on our financial condition and results of operations than if we spread expenditures more evenly over a wider geographic area. For example, a 
change in the rules and regulations governing operations in or around the Bakken could cause Hess or other producers to reduce or cease drilling or to 
permanently or temporarily shut‑in their production within the area, which could lead to a decrease in the volumes of natural gas and crude oil that we 
handle and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and our ability to make cash distributions to our 
shareholders.

Our operations and Hess’ Bakken production operations are subject to many risks and operational hazards, some of which may result in 
business interruptions and shutdowns of our or Hess’ operations and damages for which may not be fully covered by insurance. If a 
significant accident or event occurs that results in a business interruption or shut down for which we are not adequately insured, our 
operations and financial results could be materially and adversely affected.

Our operations are subject to all of the risks and operational hazards inherent in gathering, compressing, processing, fractionating, terminaling, storing, 
loading and transporting crude oil, natural gas and NGLs and gathering and disposing of produced water, including:

• damages to pipelines, terminals and facilities, related equipment and surrounding properties caused by earthquakes, tornados, floods, fires, severe 
weather, explosions and other natural disasters, the frequency and severity of which may be impacted by climate change, and acts of terrorism;

• maintenance, repairs, mechanical or structural failures at our or Hess’ facilities or at third‑party facilities on which our or Hess’ operations are 
dependent, including electrical shortages, power disruptions and power grid failures;

• damages to and loss of availability of interconnecting third‑party pipelines, railroads, terminals and other means of delivering crude oil, natural gas and 
NGLs;

• crude oil rail car derailments, fires, explosions and spills;
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• disruption or failure of information technology systems and network infrastructure due to various causes, including unauthorized access or attack;

• curtailments of operations due to severe seasonal weather;

• protests, riots, strikes, lockouts or other industrial disturbances; and

• other hazards.

These risks could result in substantial losses due to personal injury and/or loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property and equipment 
and pollution or other environmental damage, as well as business interruptions or shutdowns of our facilities. Any such event or unplanned shutdown 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, Hess’ Bakken production operations, on 
which our operations are substantially dependent, are subject to similar operational hazards and risks inherent in producing crude oil and natural gas. A 
serious accident at our facilities or at Hess’ facilities could result in serious injury or death to our employees or contractors or those of Hess or its affiliates 
and could expose us to significant liability for personal injury claims and reputational risk. We have no control over the operations at Hess’ Bakken 
operations and their associated facilities.

We do not maintain insurance coverage against all potential losses and could suffer losses for uninsurable or uninsured risks or in amounts in excess 
of existing insurance coverage. We carry insurance coverage for certain property damage and third-party liabilities, which includes sudden and accidental 
pollution liabilities. We are also insured under certain of Hess’ liability policies and are subject to Hess’ policy limits under these policies. The occurrence 
of an event that is not fully covered by insurance or failure by one or more insurers to honor its coverage commitments for an insured event could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our exposure to direct commodity price risk may increase in the future.

We generate substantially all of our revenues under fee‑based commercial agreements with Hess under which we are paid based on the volumes of 
crude oil, natural gas and NGLs that we handle and the ancillary services we provide, rather than the value of the commodities themselves. As a result, 
our operations and cash flows generally have minimal direct exposure to commodity price risk. While the initial term of our commercial agreements 
provides for an annual fee recalculation mechanism to target a return on capital deployed, the secondary term of our commercial agreements changes to 
an inflation-based fee structure, which may provide less downside risk protection. In addition, we may acquire or develop additional assets in the future or 
enter into transactions that have a greater exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices than our current operations. Our efforts to negotiate contractual 
arrangements to minimize our direct exposure to commodity price risk in the future may not be successful. Recent growing concerns about global 
economic growth and inflation could have a significant adverse impact on global financial markets and commodity prices, which could reduce demand for 
our midstream services and affect the ability of our business partners, suppliers and customers to conduct business. Increased exposure to the volatility of 
crude oil, natural gas and NGL prices in the future could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and cash flow and our ability to make 
distributions to our shareholders.

We do not own all of the land on which certain of the pipelines connecting our facilities are located, which could result in disruptions to our 
operations.

We do not own all of the land on which our pipelines are located, and we are, therefore, subject to the possibility of more onerous terms and increased 
costs to retain necessary land use if we do not have valid leases or rights‑of‑way or if such rights‑of‑way lapse or terminate. We obtain the rights to 
construct and operate our pipelines on land owned by third parties and governmental agencies, and some of our agreements may grant us those rights for 
only a specific period of time. Our loss of these rights, through our inability to renew right‑of‑way contracts or otherwise, could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and ability to make cash distributions to our shareholders.
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We utilize contract operator services at certain of our assets, and we may face higher costs associated with terminal services in the future.

We utilize contract operator services at certain of our assets. For example, we utilize contract operator services at our Tioga Rail Terminal under a rail 
and transload services agreement with a third‑party operator that may be terminated by us with 90-day notice. Under the terms of the agreement, 
third‑party contract personnel supervised by Hess employees control, monitor, record and report on the operation of the Tioga Rail Terminal. Contract 
personnel also provide inspection, crude oil loading, railroad consulting, inventory management, repair, data reporting, general maintenance and technical 
support and safety compliance services. Under this agreement, we are liable for any losses resulting from actions of the third‑party operator unless such 
losses result from the negligence of the third‑party operator. If disputes arise over the operation of the terminal, or if the third‑party operator fails to 
provide the services contracted under contract operator services agreements, our business, results of operation, and financial condition could be 
adversely affected. We previously extended the term of this agreement and expanded services to include rail car qualification and maintenance 
management and we expect to renew the agreement before it expires. Costs of these services under a negotiated renewal of the existing agreement or a 
similar agreement may increase relative to historical costs. Concerns over global economic conditions, inflation, supply chain disruptions, labor shortages 
and other factors, each of which are beyond our control, contribute to increased economic uncertainty for us and our service providers. Any such 
increased costs associated with terminal operation services will decrease the amount of cash available for distribution to our shareholders.

Our business and operations were and could in the future be adversely affected by an epidemic or outbreak of an infectious disease, such 
as COVID-19 or other similar public health developments. 

We face risks related to epidemics, outbreaks or other public health events, or the threat thereof, that are outside of our control, and could significantly 
disrupt our business and operational plans and adversely affect our business and operating results. For example, COVID-19 and related actions taken by 
governments and businesses, including voluntary and mandatory quarantines and travel and other restrictions, significantly impacted economic activity. 
As a result of COVID-19, our operations, and those of our business partners, service companies and suppliers, have experienced disruptions, delays or 
temporary suspensions of operations, temporary inaccessibility or closures of facilities, supply chain issues and workforce impacts from illness, school 
closures and other community response measures. We also are subject to regulatory changes, litigation risk and possible loss contingencies related to 
COVID-19, including with respect to commercial contracts, employee matters and insurance arrangements. Furthermore, there is no certainty that the 
health and safety measures we implement will be sufficient to mitigate the risks, including infection of key employees and our ability to perform certain 
functions, posed by COVID-19, its variants or another epidemic or outbreak of an infectious disease. 

In addition to the global health concerns, an epidemic or outbreak of an infectious disease could negatively affect the U.S. and global economy and the 
demand for oil and natural gas. For example, COVID-19 and concerns regarding the global spread of its variants negatively impacted the domestic and 
international demand for crude oil and natural gas and contributed to price volatility and adversely affected the demand for and marketability of crude oil, 
natural gas and NGL that we gather, process and terminal for Hess and other third-party producers. Containment measures implemented to mitigate the 
spread of COVID-19 and its variants lead to adoption of certain behavioral changes, such as reduced travel and enhanced work-from-home policies, 
which resulted in further reductions in demand for and consumption of energy commodities. In the event one or more of our business partners is adversely 
affected by a future or worsening outbreak of an infectious disease, such as COVID-19 and its variants, that may impact our costs and ability to conduct 
business with them. The extent to which such an occurrence may negatively affect our business and operating results is uncertain and depends on 
actions taken by authorities to contain it or treat its impact, all of which are beyond our control.

Restrictions in our credit facilities could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, ability to make cash 
distributions to our shareholders and the value of our Class A Shares.

We are dependent upon the earnings and cash flow generated by our operations in order to meet any debt service obligations and to allow us to make 
cash distributions to our shareholders. In July 2022, we amended and restated our existing credit agreement for our senior secured credit facilities 
consisting of a $1.0 billion 5-year revolving credit facility and a fully drawn $400.0 million 5-year Term Loan A facility, which contain various operating and 
financial restrictions and covenants. The operating and financial restrictions and covenants in our credit facilities restrict, and any future financing 
agreements could similarly restrict, our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs or to expand or pursue our business activities, which may, 
in turn, limit our ability to make cash distributions to our shareholders. 

The provisions of our credit facilities could affect our ability to obtain future financing and pursue attractive business opportunities and our flexibility in 
planning for, and reacting to, changes in business conditions. In addition, a failure to comply with the provisions of our credit facilities would result in an 
event of default which would enable our lenders to declare the outstanding principal of that debt, together with accrued interest, to be immediately due 
and payable. If the payment of our debt is accelerated, defaults under our other debt instruments, if any, may be triggered, and our assets may be 
insufficient to repay such debt in full, and the holders of our shares could experience a partial or total loss of their investment. Please read “Item 7. 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Capital Resources and Liquidity” for additional information 
about our credit facilities.
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We have a significant amount of consolidated indebtedness that may adversely affect our business, results of operations and ability to 
make quarterly distributions.

We have a significant amount of consolidated indebtedness. As of December 31, 2022, we had $2,471.9 million carrying value of outstanding senior 
notes of the Partnership, $18.0 million carrying value of borrowings outstanding under the Partnership’s senior secured revolving credit facility and $395.7 
million carrying value of borrowings outstanding under the Partnership’s senior secured term loan facility. 

The degree to which we are leveraged, combined with lease and other financial obligations and contractual commitments, could have important 
consequences to us, including the following:

• our ability to obtain additional financing, if necessary, for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other purposes may be impaired or such 
financing may not be available on favorable terms;

• satisfying our obligations with respect to indebtedness may be more difficult and any failure to comply with the obligations of any debt instruments 
could result in an event of default under the agreements governing such indebtedness;

• we will need a portion of cash flow to make interest payments on debt, reducing the funds that would otherwise be available for operations, future 
business opportunities or making cash distributions;

• our debt level will make us more vulnerable to competitive pressures or a downturn in our business or the economy generally; and

• our debt level may limit flexibility in planning for, or responding to, changing business and economic conditions.

Our ability to service our indebtedness will depend upon, among other things, our future financial and operating performance, which will be affected by 
prevailing economic conditions and financial, business, regulatory and other factors, some of which are beyond our control. If our operating results are not 
sufficient to service our current or future indebtedness, we will be forced to take actions such as reducing or delaying business activities, acquisitions, 
investments or capital expenditures, selling assets, restructuring or refinancing debt, or seeking additional equity capital, and such results may adversely 
affect our ability to make cash distributions. 

Restrictions in the terms of our consolidated indebtedness could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and ability to make quarterly cash distributions.

The terms of our consolidated indebtedness limit our ability to conduct our business, including our ability to:

• incur certain liens or permit them to exist;

• transfer, sell or otherwise dispose of certain assets;

• merge or consolidate with another company;

• make certain loans and investments;

• incur or guarantee additional debt;

• enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates;

• redeem or repurchase units or make distributions under certain circumstances; and

• enter into certain restrictive agreements and certain derivative contracts.

Our consolidated indebtedness also contains covenants requiring us to maintain certain financial ratios. Our ability to meet those financial ratios and 
tests can be affected by events beyond our control, and there can be no assurance that we will meet any such ratios or tests.

If we are unable to make acquisitions on economically acceptable terms from third parties, our future growth could be limited, and any 
acquisitions we may make may reduce, rather than increase, our cash flows and ability to make distributions to shareholders.

Part of our strategy to grow our business is dependent on our ability to make acquisitions. The acquisition component of our growth strategy is based, 
in large part, on our expectation of ongoing divestitures of midstream assets by industry participants.

If we are unable to make acquisitions from third parties, because (i) there is a material decrease in divestitures of midstream assets, (ii) we are unable 
to identify attractive acquisition candidates or negotiate acceptable purchase contracts, (iii) we are unable to obtain financing or to access the capital 
markets for future debt or equity offerings on economically acceptable terms, (iv) we are outbid by competitors or (v) for any other reason, our future 
growth and ability to increase our distributions will be limited. Our partnership agreement requires that we distribute all of our available cash to our 
shareholders. As a result, we expect to rely primarily upon external financing sources, including borrowings under our revolving credit facility and the 
issuance of debt and equity securities, to fund future acquisitions. Even if we are successful in obtaining funds for acquisitions through equity or debt 
financings, the terms thereof could limit our ability to pay distributions to our shareholders. In addition, issuing additional partner interests may result in 
significant 
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shareholder dilution and increase the aggregate amount of cash required to maintain the then-current distribution rates, which could materially decrease 
our ability to pay distributions at the then-current distribution rates. If funding is not available to us when needed, or is available only on unfavorable terms, 
we may be unable to execute our business strategy, complete acquisitions or otherwise take advantage of business opportunities or respond to 
competitive pressures, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to 
make quarterly cash distributions to our shareholders.

Furthermore, even if we do consummate acquisitions that we believe will be accretive, they may in fact result in a decrease in distributions as a result 
of incorrect assumptions in our evaluation of such acquisitions or unforeseen consequences or other external events beyond our control. If we 
consummate any future acquisitions, shareholders will not have the opportunity to evaluate the economic, financial and other relevant information that we 
will consider in evaluating any such acquisitions.

The completion of capital projects by us may not result in revenue increases and will be subject to regulatory, environmental, political, legal 
and economic risks, which could adversely affect our operations and financial condition.

As part of our growth strategy, we intend to increase utilization of our existing asset base and increase revenue at our facilities by handling additional 
volumes of natural gas and crude oil resulting from the completion of various capital projects by us. For example, we recently completed a construction 
and reconfiguration of facilities and pipelines in McKenzie and Williams Counties that increased our throughput capacity for crude oil and natural gas 
originating from south of the Missouri River and moving northward to our natural gas processing and crude oil and NGL terminaling assets in Tioga and 
Ramberg. We also invested in construction of the LM4 gas processing plant south of the Missouri River as part of our joint venture with Targa and we 
expanded natural gas processing capacity at TGP by 150 MMcf/d for total processing capacity of 400 MMcf/d.

There are inherent risks associated with undertaking these and other capital projects, including numerous regulatory, environmental, political and legal 
uncertainties, most of which are beyond our control. If we undertake these projects, they may not be completed on schedule or at all or at the budgeted 
cost, limiting our capacity until completion, or their completion may not result in the anticipated increase in volumes at our facilities, which could materially 
and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition and our ability in the future to make distributions to our shareholders.

Terrorist or cyber-attacks and threats, or escalation of military activity in response to these attacks, could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Terrorist attacks and threats, cyber‑attacks, escalation of military activity or acts of war may have significant effects on general economic conditions, 
fluctuations in consumer confidence and spending and market liquidity, each of which could materially and adversely affect our business. Strategic 
targets, such as energy‑related assets and transportation assets, may be at greater risk of future terrorist attacks than other targets in the United States. 
There is no guarantee that our insurance policies will be sufficient to cover our losses resulting from a terrorist attack or cyber attack on our assets that 
may shut down all or part of our business. It is possible that any of these occurrences, or a combination of them, could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Computers and telecommunication systems have become an integral part of our business. We use these systems to analyze and store financial and 

operating data and to communicate within our company and with outside business partners. Our reliance on technology has increased due to our use of 
remote communications and other work-from-home practices in response to COVID-19. Cyber‑attacks or phishing-attacks, unauthorized access, 
malicious software, data privacy breaches by employees or others with authorized access, ransomware, and other cyber security issues could 
compromise our computer and telecommunications systems and result in disruptions to our business operations, the loss or corruption of our data and 
proprietary information and communications interruptions. In addition, computers control oil and gas distribution systems globally and are necessary to 
deliver our customers’ products to market. A cyber‑attack impacting these distribution systems, or the networks and infrastructure on which they rely, 
could damage critical production, processing, distribution and/or storage assets, delay or prevent delivery to markets and make it difficult or impossible to 
accurately account for our services and settle transactions. As a result, a cyber breach of these operating systems, or of the networks and infrastructure 
on which they rely and any resulting investigation or remediation costs, litigation or regulatory action could have a material adverse impact on our cash 
flows and results of operations, reputation and competitiveness. We routinely experience attempts by external parties to penetrate and attack our 
networks and systems. Although such attempts to date have not resulted in any material breaches, disruptions, financial loss, or loss of business-critical 
information, our systems and procedures for protecting against such attacks and mitigating such risks may prove to be insufficient in the future and such 
attacks could have an adverse impact on our business and operations, including damage to our reputation and competitiveness, remediation costs, 
litigation or regulatory actions. In addition, as technologies evolve and these cyber security attacks become more sophisticated, we may incur significant 
costs to upgrade or enhance our security measures to protect against such attacks and we may face difficulties in fully anticipating or implementing 
adequate preventive measures or mitigating potential harm.

Regulatory, Legal and Environmental Risks

Our assets and operations are subject to federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and health and 
safety that could require us to make substantial expenditures.

Certain of our assets and operations are subject to federal, state, and local laws and regulations, which impose numerous obligations on our and our 
customers’ operations, including: the acquisition of permits to conduct regulated activities; the incurrence of capital or operating expenditures to limit or 
prevent releases of materials from our or our customers’ operations; the imposition of specific standards addressing worker protection, and the imposition 
of substantial liabilities and remedial obligations for pollution or contamination resulting from our and our customers’ operations. Failure to comply with 
these laws and regulations may result in joint and several or strict liability and the assessment by governmental authorities of administrative, civil and 
criminal penalties, the imposition of remedial obligations, and the issuance of injunctions limiting or preventing some or all of our operations. In addition, 
we may experience a delay in obtaining or be unable to obtain required permits, which may cause us to lose potential and current customers, interrupt 
operations, and limit growth and revenues. Private parties may also have the right to pursue legal actions to enforce compliance, as well as to seek 
damages for non-compliance, with environmental and safety laws and regulations or for personal injury or property damage. 

The handling of crude oil, natural gas and NGLs involves inherent risks of spills and releases. We have contracted with various spill response service 
companies in the areas in which we gather, load, transport or store crude oil and NGLs; however, these companies may not be able to adequately contain 
a discharge in all instances, and we cannot ensure that all of their services would be available at any given time. Should these parties not be able to 
adequately contain such a discharge, we may face substantial liabilities and remedial obligations depending on the size and scope of any such discharge.

We may incur significant costs and liabilities as a result of pipeline integrity management program testing and any related pipeline repair or 
preventative or remedial measures.

DOT, through PHMSA, has adopted regulations requiring pipeline operators to develop integrity management systems. PHMSA regularly proposes 
revisions to existing regulations as well as new pipeline safety regulations. For example, in October 2019, PHMSA submitted three major rules to the 
Federal Register, including rules focused on: the safety of gas transmission pipelines, the safety of hazardous liquid pipelines, and enhanced emergency 
order procedures. In November 2021, PHMSA issued a final rule that expands certain federal pipeline safety requirements to all onshore gas gathering 
pipelines, regardless of size or location. The final rule establishes two new types of onshore gas gathering pipelines subject to varying degrees of 
regulation: all onshore gathering line operators are now subject to PHMSA’s annual reporting and incident reporting requirements, and certain previously 
unregulated rural gas gathering lines must now comply with PHMSA damage prevention and, depending on the size of the pipeline, construction and 
operational requirements. The final rule became effective on May 16, 2022. 
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On April 1, 2022, PHMSA issued a response to a petition for reconsideration of the final rule with certain clarifications and technical corrections to the 

final rule, which also became effective on May 16, 2022, including (i) updating the safety-related condition report requirement to be consistent with the 
statements in the preamble to the final rule; (ii) clarifying that operators may, when identifying Type C gas gathering lines, use the default specified 
minimum yield strength when the yield strength is not known; and (iii) revising the regulatory text to facilitate operators’ consideration of maximum 
allowable operating pressure in threshold determinations that gas gathering facilities qualify as Type C lines. The extent and magnitude of costs to comply 
with this new rule cannot currently be reliably or accurately estimated due to the uncertainty regarding the additional measures to be taken and how they 
will be implemented. We expect that such costs will include initial expenses for compliance, and lower on-going expenses that are not expected to be 
material to our overall financial results.

In addition, the Protecting Our Infrastructure of Pipelines and Enhancing Safety Act of 2020 was signed into law on December 27, 2020. Among other 
things, the act requires PHMSA to issue regulations addressing idled pipelines, the safety of gas gathering pipelines, minimum performance standards for 
methane leak detection and repair and gas distribution pipelines’ emergency response plans, responses to over pressurization events, and maintenance 
of maps and records of critical pressure control infrastructure. In addition, the act includes the adoption of due process improvements related to PHMSA 
enforcement, requires routine reporting to Congress regarding outstanding pipeline rulemaking, and an independent study regarding the cost-benefit of 
automated shut-off valves.

The adoption of these and other laws or regulations could require us to install new or modified safety controls, pursue new capital projects, or conduct 
maintenance programs on an accelerated basis, all of which could require us to incur increased operational costs that could be significant. While we 
cannot predict the outcome of legislative or regulatory initiatives, such legislative and regulatory changes could have a material effect on our cash flow.

In addition, if we fail to comply with applicable PHMSA regulations, rules, or orders, this could result in the imposition of civil penalties. Pursuant to the 
Pipeline Safety, Regulatory Certainty and Job Creation Act of 2011, or 2011 Pipeline Safety Act, PHMSA finalized rules that increased the maximum 
administrative civil penalties for violations of the pipeline safety laws and regulations to $200,000 per violation per day, with a maximum of $2,000,000 for 
a related series of violations. Effective March 21, 2022, those maximum civil penalties were increased by PHMSA to $239,142 per violation per day, with a 
maximum of $2,391,412 for a series of violations, to account for inflation.

If our assets become subject to FERC regulation, or if federal, state or local regulations or policies change, or if we fail to comply with such 
regulations, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

Although the FERC has not made any formal determinations with respect to our natural gas gathering facilities upstream of the Tioga Gas Plant and 
LM4, we believe that the natural gas pipelines in our gathering systems meet the traditional tests FERC has used to establish whether a pipeline is not 
subject to tariff requirements under the NGA. Similarly, we believe that the crude oil and NGL pipelines in our gathering system are not subject to FERC 
tariff requirements under the ICA, because they fall outside FERC’s tariff jurisdiction. However, the classification and regulation of our gathering facilities 
may be subject to change based on future determinations or policy changes by FERC, the courts, or Congress. If it is subsequently determined that an 
individual facility is not exempt from FERC regulation under the NGA or ICA, such determination could decrease revenue, increase operating costs, and, 
depending upon the facility in question, adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows. In addition, if any of our facilities were found to have 
violated the NGA or the Natural Gas Policy Act, or the NGPA, FERC has civil penalty authority under the NGA and NGPA to impose penalties for current 
violations of up to $1,388,496 per violation per day and disgorgement of profits associated with any violation. In addition, state regulation of gathering 
facilities and intrastate transportation pipelines generally include various safety, environmental, and in some circumstances, nondiscriminatory take and 
common purchaser requirements, as well as complaint-based rate regulation.

Evolving laws and regulations on crude oil, including stabilization and transportation, could have an effect on our financial performance.

In December 2014, the North Dakota Industrial Commission, (“NDIC”), issued Order No. 25417, which requires producers in the Bakken, among other 
fields, effective April 1, 2015, to heat their produced fluids to a specified minimum temperature or demonstrate that crude oil has a vapor pressure no 
greater than 13.7 psi prior to separation. In January 2019, the NDIC issued revisions to the order giving operators more flexibility for evaluating and 
demonstrating compliance with the state’s vapor pressure requirements.
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Furthermore, rail car derailments in Canada and the United States several years ago led to increased regulatory scrutiny over the safety of transporting 

Bakken crude oil by rail. The Federal Railroad Administration, (“FRA”) of the DOT and PHMSA issued several Safety Advisories and Emergency Orders 
directing offerors and rail carriers to take additional precautionary measures to enhance the safe shipment of bulk quantities of crude oil. Currently, all of 
the rail cars in our fleet are DOT 117 rail cars that meet the requirements of the final DOT rule. In addition, the adoption of additional federal, state or local 
laws or regulations, including any new voluntary measures by the rail industry regarding rail car design or crude oil and liquid hydrocarbon rail transport 
activities, or efforts by local communities to restrict or limit rail traffic involving crude oil, could increase compliance costs and decrease demand for our 
services, which could adversely affect our financial position and cash flows. Moreover, any disruptions in the operations of railroads, including those due 
to shortages of rail cars, locomotives or labor, weather related problems, or other force majeure events could adversely impact our customers’ ability to 
move their product and, as a result, could affect our business.

If new or more stringent federal, state or local legal restrictions relating to the quality specification of crude oil or to crude oil transportation are adopted 
in areas where Hess and our other customers operate, Hess and our other customers could incur potentially significant added costs to comply with such 
requirements and experience delays or curtailment in the pursuit of production or development activities, which could reduce demand for our midstream 
services.

Evolving environmental laws and regulations on hydraulic fracturing could have an effect on our financial performance.

We do not conduct hydraulic fracturing operations, but Hess’ and our other customers’ crude oil and natural gas production operations often require 
hydraulic fracturing as part of the completion process. While hydraulic fracturing is typically regulated by state agencies, federal agencies have also 
asserted regulatory authority over the process. In addition, Congress may in the future further consider legislation giving the U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency ("EPA"), direct authority to regulate and require federal permitting of hydraulic fracturing under the Safe Drinking Water Act. 

Many states have already adopted laws and/or regulations that require disclosure of the chemicals used in hydraulic fracturing and are considering 
legal requirements that could impose more stringent permitting, disclosure and well construction requirements on crude oil and/or natural gas drilling 
activities.

If new or more stringent federal, state or local legal and regulatory restrictions relating to the hydraulic fracturing process are adopted in areas where 
Hess and our other customers operate, Hess and our other customers could incur potentially significant added costs to comply with such requirements 
and experience delays or curtailment in the pursuit of production or development activities, which could reduce demand for our midstream services.

Developments related to climate change including evolving laws and regulations could adversely affect us and our financial performance.

Governmental and regulatory bodies, investors, consumers, industry and other stakeholders have been increasingly focused on climate change 
matters. This focus, together with changes in consumer and industrial/commercial behavior, preferences and attitudes with respect to the generation and 
consumption of energy, the use of crude oil, NGLs and natural gas and the use of products manufactured with, or powered by, crude oil, NGLs and 
natural gas, may in the long-term result in (i) the enactment of new or more stringent climate change-related regulations, policies and initiatives (at the 
government, regulator, corporate and/or investor community levels), including alternative energy requirements, new fuel consumption standards, energy 
conservation measures and limits on energy development, (ii) technological changes with respect to the generation, transmission, storage and 
consumption of energy (e.g., advances in wind, solar and hydrogen power, smart grid technology and battery technology) and (iii) increased availability of, 
and increased consumer and industrial/commercial demand for, alternative energy sources and products manufactured with, or powered by, alternative 
energy sources (e.g., electric vehicles and renewable residential and commercial power supplies). These developments may in the future adversely affect 
the demand for, and in turn the prices of, crude oil and natural gas. Further, increased focus on climate change may result in negative perceptions of the 
oil and gas industry. Such negative perceptions and reputational risks may in the future adversely affect our ability to successfully carry out our business 
strategy, for example, by adversely affecting the availability of and cost to us of obtaining capital.
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In addition, potential regulations regarding climate change could affect our operations. Currently, various federal and state legislative and regulatory 

bodies are considering measures to address greenhouse gas emissions, and some have recently proposed climate-related rules and regulations. These 
measures include programs that require the crude oil and natural gas industry to report and to control greenhouse gas emissions, and for states to 
develop statewide or regional programs to address greenhouse gas emissions. Additionally, the SEC issued a proposed rule in March 2022 that would 
mandate extensive disclosure of climate-related data, risks, and opportunities, including financial impacts, physical and transition risks, related 
governance and strategy, and GHG emissions, for certain public companies. These actions could result in increased (i) costs to operate and maintain our 
facilities, (ii) capital expenditures to install new emission controls on our facilities and (iii) costs to administer and manage any potential greenhouse gas 
emissions regulations or carbon trading or tax programs. These developments also could have an indirect effect on our business if Hess’ Bakken 
operations are adversely affected due to increased regulation of Hess’ facilities or reduced demand for crude oil, natural gas and NGLs. For example, in 
November 2021, the EPA proposed new regulations to establish comprehensive standards of performance and emission guidelines for methane and 
volatile organic compound emissions from existing operations in the oil and gas sector, including the exploration and production, transmission, 
processing, and storage segments. The EPA issued a supplemental proposed rule on November 15, 2022, which provided additional information, 
including regulatory text, about the proposed rule. The supplemental proposed rule would impose more stringent requirements on the natural gas and oil 
industry than are currently required. Congress periodically considers legislation on greenhouse gas emissions, although the ultimate adoption and form of 
any federal legislation cannot presently be predicted.

In an executive order issued on January 20, 2021, the Biden administration asked the heads of all federal agencies to review and take action to 
address any federal regulations, orders, guidance documents, policies and any similar agency actions promulgated during the prior administration that 
may be inconsistent with the current administration’s policies. The executive order specifically identified certain of the regulations discussed herein, 
including the EPA’s methane emission standards for oil and natural gas facilities. The Biden administration issued a separate executive order on January 
27, 2021, focused on addressing climate change, which, among other things, directed the Secretary of the Interior to pause new oil and natural gas leases 
on public lands or in offshore waters pending completion of a comprehensive review and reconsideration of federal oil and gas permitting and leasing 
practices. 

In May 2021, the Biden administration issued an executive order requiring federal agencies, including financial regulators, to develop steps towards the 
mitigation of climate-related financial risk and its drivers and on October 14, 2021, issued a roadmap which sets out a climate risk accountability 
framework. Such federal regulation, as well as uncertainty regarding the future course of federal regulation and associated litigation, could indirectly affect 
our business and our results of operations by reducing demand for our services.

At both the federal and state-level, there are also an increasing number of legislative initiatives and proposals that may lead to reduced demand for oil 
and gas. These include certain tax advantages and other subsidies to support alternative energy sources or that mandate the use of specific fuels or 
technologies, in addition to the promotion of research into new technologies to reduce the cost and increase the scalability of alternative energy sources. 
The IRA, signed by President Biden in August 2022, provides significant funding and incentives for research and development of low-carbon energy 
production methods, carbon capture, and other programs directed at addressing climate change. The IRA also includes a methane emissions reduction 
program that amends the Clean Air Act to include a Methane Emissions and Waste Reduction Incentive Program for petroleum and natural gas systems. 
This program requires the EPA to impose a “waste emissions charge” on certain natural gas and oil sources that are already required to report under 
EPA’s Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program. Such legislation, regulations and initiatives, as well as uncertainty regarding the future success of such 
regulations and initiatives in reducing demand for oil and gas, could indirectly affect our business and our results of operations by reducing demand for 
our services. 

In addition to potential domestic regulation of greenhouse gases, there continues to be international interest in a global framework for greenhouse gas 
reductions. For example, the Paris Agreement seeks to combat climate change through the establishment of nationally-determined greenhouse gas 
emissions reduction goals. Since the United States' re-entry into the Paris Agreement, President Biden has announced, in April 2021, a goal of reducing 
the United States’ emissions by at least 50% below 2005 levels by 2030. Those national commitments by themselves create no binding requirements on 
individual companies or facilities, but they do provide indications of the current administration’s policy direction and the types of legislative and regulatory 
requirements—such as the EPA’s proposed methane rules—that may be needed to achieve those commitments. In November 2021, the international 
community gathered again in Glasgow at COP26, during which multiple announcements were made, including a call for parties to eliminate certain fossil 
fuel subsidies and pursue further action on non-carbon dioxide GHGs. Relatedly, at COP26, the United States and the European Union jointly announced 
the launch of the Global Methane Pledge, by which signatory countries commit to reducing global methane emissions by at least 30% from 2020 levels by 
2030. Since its formal launch at COP26, over 150 countries have joined the pledge. While there were limited announcements at COP27, which took place 
in November 2022 in Sharm-El Sheik, with respect to the reduction of fossil fuel use, there were negotiations on emissions reduction targets and 
reduction of fossil fuel use amongst the international community, and it is likely that these topics will dominate next year’s conference, COP28, as well. 
While significant uncertainty exists as to the specifics on any future regulation of methane or other greenhouse gas emissions under federal regulations 
such as the Clean Air Act or other local, regional, or international regulatory regimes, their impact, if enacted, is likely to result in increased compliance 
costs, increased utility costs, additional operating restrictions on our business and an increase in the cost of products generally. However, the extent and 
magnitude of that impact cannot currently be reliably or accurately estimated. 
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Climate change and sustainability initiatives may result in significant operational changes and expenditures, reduced demand for our 
services and adversely affect our business.

We recognize that climate change and sustainability are growing global environmental concerns. We are prioritizing sustainable energy practices to 
further reduce our carbon footprint while at the same time remaining a successfully operating public company. However, various key stakeholders, 
including our stockholders, employees, suppliers, customers, local communities and others, may have differing approaches to climate change and 
sustainability initiatives. If we do not successfully manage expectations across these varied stakeholder interests, it could erode our stakeholder trust and 
thereby affect our reputation and financial condition. As a result of heightened public awareness and attention to climate change and sustainability, as well 
as continued regulatory initiatives, demand for crude oil and other hydrocarbons may be reduced, which may have an adverse effect on our customers 
and our business. The imposition and enforcement of stringent greenhouse gas emissions reduction requirements could severely and adversely impact 
the oil and gas industry and therefore significantly reduce the value of our business. Shareholder activism in relation to environmental, social and 
governance ("ESG") matters, including climate change and sustainability issues, has been increasing in our industry in recent times, and shareholders 
may attempt to effect changes to our business or governance. In addition, certain financial institutions, institutional investors and other sources of capital 
have begun to limit or eliminate their investment in oil and gas activities due to concerns about climate change or other ESG factors, which could make it 
more difficult to finance our business or diversify our shareholder base. Furthermore, increasing attention to climate change and other ESG risks has also 
resulted in governmental investigations, and public and private litigation, which could increase our costs or otherwise adversely affect our business. For 
example, beginning in 2017, certain states, municipalities and private associations in California, Delaware, Maryland, Rhode Island and South Carolina 
separately filed lawsuits against oil, gas and coal producers, including Hess, for alleged damages purportedly caused by climate change. Such actions 
could adversely impact our business by distracting management and other personnel from their primary responsibilities, require us to incur increased 
costs, and/or result in reputational harm. Moreover, any such litigation targeting our customers could negatively impact their operation and, in turn, 
decrease demand for our services.

Furthermore, as we continue to focus on developing ESG practices, and as voluntary and regulatory ESG disclosure standards, requirements and 
policies continue to evolve, we have expanded and expect to further expand our public disclosures in these areas. Such disclosures may reflect 
aspirational goals, targets, cost estimates and other expectations and assumptions, including over long timelines, which aspirational goals, targets, cost 
estimates, and other expectations and assumptions are necessarily uncertain and may not be realized. Failure to realize or timely achieve progress on 
such aspirational goals, targets, cost estimates, and other expectations or assumptions may adversely impact us.

We or Hess may be unable to obtain or renew permits or approvals necessary for our respective operations, which could inhibit our ability 
to do business and adversely affect our financial performance.

Our facilities and Hess’ and our other customers’ facilities that provide volumes to our facilities operate under federal, state and local permits, licenses 
and approvals with terms and conditions containing a significant number of prescriptive limits and performance standards that require a significant amount 
of monitoring, record keeping and reporting in order to demonstrate compliance. A decision by a government agency to deny or delay issuing a new or 
renewed permit or approval, or to revoke or substantially modify an existing permit or approval, could have an adverse impact on Hess’ ability to produce 
crude oil and natural gas or on our ability to handle volumes of crude oil, natural gas, NGLs or produced water at our facilities, which could have a material 
adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Additionally, noncompliance or incomplete documentation of our 
compliance status with respect to our existing permits or approvals may result in the imposition of fines, penalties and injunctive relief. 
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In April 2020, a federal district court vacated Nationwide Permit (“NWP”) 12, the general permit issued by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (“Corps”) 

for pipelines and utility projects. In May 2020, the court narrowed its ruling, vacating and enjoining the use of NWP 12 only as it relates to construction of 
new oil and gas pipelines. In July 2020, the U.S. Supreme Court stayed the lower court order except as it applies to the Keystone XL pipeline. In January 
2021, the Corps released the final version of a rule renewing twelve of its NWPs, including NWP 12. The new rule splits NWP 12 into three parts; NWP 12 
will continue to be available for oil and gas pipelines, while new NWP 57 will be available for electric utility line and telecommunications activities, and a 
new NWP 58 will be available for utility line activities for water and other substances. The new rule also eliminates preconstruction notice requirements for 
NWP 12 for several conditions that used to require such notice, but also now requires new oil and gas pipeline projects that exceed 250 miles in length to 
give preconstruction notice and obtain approval before proceeding. On March 28, 2022, the Corps published a notice announcing that it is undertaking 
formal review of NWP 12 and sought public comments through May 27, 2022. If new oil and gas pipeline projects are unable to utilize NWP 12 or identify 
an alternate means of CWA compliance, such projects could be significantly delayed, which could have an adverse impact on our operations.

In the future we may face increased obligations relating to our produced water facilities and may be required to provide an increased level 
of financial assurance to guarantee the appropriate closure activities occur for our produced water facilities.

Obtaining a permit to own or operate produced water facilities generally requires us to establish performance bonds, letters of credit or other forms of 
financial assurance to address clean-up and closure obligations. As we acquire additional produced water facilities or expand our existing produced water 
facilities, these obligations will increase. Additionally, in the future, regulatory agencies may require us to increase the amount of our closure bonds at 
existing produced water facilities. Actual costs could exceed our current expectations, as a result of, among other things, federal, state or local 
government regulatory action, increased costs charged by service providers that assist in closing produced water facilities and additional environmental 
remediation requirements. The obligation to satisfy increased regulatory requirements associated with our produced water facilities could result in an 
increase of our operating costs and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

On August, 12, 2022, the Company became aware of a produced water release from an underground pipeline located approximately 8 miles north of 
Ray, North Dakota. At this time, it is estimated that approximately 34,000 barrels of produced water were released, causing impacts to soils, crops, and 
groundwater. The Company has recorded reserves for the estimated future costs to investigate and remediate impacts of the release. See Item 8. 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Note 12, Commitments and Contingencies.

Certain plant or animal species could be designated as endangered or threatened, which could limit our ability to expand some of our 
existing operations or limit our customers’ ability to develop new crude oil and natural gas wells.

The federal Endangered Species Act, restricts activities that may affect endangered or threatened species or their habitats. Similar protections are 
offered to migratory birds under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act. Many states have analogous laws designed to protect endangered or threatened species or 
their habitats. The designation of previously unidentified endangered or threatened species under such laws may affect our and our customers’ 
operations. There is also increasing interest in nature-related matters beyond protected species, such as general biodiversity, which may similarly require 
us or our customers to incur costs or take other measures which may adversely impact our and our customers’ business or operations.

Risks Inherent in an Investment in Us

We may not generate sufficient distributable cash flow to support the payment of the minimum quarterly distribution to our shareholders.

In order to support the payment of the minimum quarterly distribution of $0.30 per Class A Share per quarter, or $1.20 per Class A Share on an 
annualized basis, we must generate distributable cash flow of approximately $72.0 million per quarter, or approximately $287.8 million per year, based on 
Hess’ and GIP’s noncontrolling interest in us and the number of Class A Shares outstanding as of December 31, 2022. We may not generate sufficient 
distributable cash flow each quarter to support the payment of the minimum quarterly distribution. The amount of cash we can distribute on our Class A 
Shares principally depends upon the amount of cash we generate from our operations, which will fluctuate from quarter to quarter based on, among other 
things:

• the volumes of crude oil, natural gas, NGLs and produced water that we handle on our assets;

• the fees with respect to volumes that we handle on our assets;

• the level of competition from other midstream energy companies in our geographic markets; and

• outages at our facilities caused by mechanical failure, maintenance, construction and other similar activities.
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In addition, the actual amount of distributable cash flow we generate will also depend on other factors, some of which are beyond our control, including:

• the amount of our operating expenses and general and administrative expenses, including reimbursements to Hess, which are not subject to any 
caps or other limits, in respect of those expenses;

• the level of capital expenditures we make;

• the cost of acquisitions, if any;

• fluctuations in our working capital needs;

• our ability to borrow funds and access capital markets;

• restrictions contained in our credit facilities and other debt instruments;

• our debt service requirements and other liabilities;

• the amount of cash reserves established by our general partner;

• federal and state income taxes;

• changes in commodity prices; and

• other business risks affecting our cash levels.

Our general partner and its affiliates, including our Sponsors, have conflicts of interest with us and limited fiduciary duties to us and our 
shareholders, and they may favor their own interests to our detriment and that of our shareholders. Additionally, we have no control over the 
business decisions and operations of our Sponsors, and none of the Sponsors is under any obligation to adopt a business strategy that 
favors us.

The Sponsors indirectly own and control our general partner. Although our general partner has a duty to manage the Company in a manner that is in 
the best interests of the Company and its shareholders, the Company’s directors and officers also have a duty to manage our general partner in a manner 
that is in the best interests of its owner, HIP GP LLC, which is owned by the Sponsors. Conflicts of interest may arise between the Sponsors and their 
respective affiliates, including our general partner, on the one hand, and the Company and the Company’s shareholders, on the other hand. In resolving 
these conflicts, our general partner may favor its own interests and the interests of its affiliates, including the Sponsors, over the interests of the 
Company’s shareholders. These conflicts include, among others, the following situations:

• neither our partnership agreement nor any other agreement requires the Sponsors to pursue a business strategy that favors the Company or utilizes 
the Company’s assets, which could involve decisions by Hess to increase or decrease production, shut down or reconfigure its assets, pursue and 
grow particular markets or undertake acquisition opportunities for itself. Hess’ directors and officers have a fiduciary duty to make these decisions in 
the best interests of the stockholders of Hess;

• our partnership agreement replaces the fiduciary duties that would otherwise be owed by our general partner with contractual standards governing 
its duties, limiting our general partner’s liabilities and restricting the remedies available to the shareholders of the Company for actions that, without 
the limitations, might constitute breaches of fiduciary duty;

• except in limited circumstances, our general partner has the power and authority to conduct the Company’s business without shareholder approval;

• our general partner determines the amount and timing of asset purchases and sales, borrowings, issuance of additional partnership securities and 
the creation, reduction or increase of cash reserves, each of which can affect the amount of cash that is distributed to the shareholders of the 
Company;

• our general partner determines which costs incurred by it are reimbursable by the Company;

• our general partner may cause the Company to borrow funds in order to permit the payment of cash distributions;

• our partnership agreement does not restrict our general partner from causing the Company to pay it or its affiliates for any services rendered to the 
Company or entering into additional contractual arrangements with any of these entities on behalf of the Company;

• our general partner intends to limit its liability regarding the Company’s contractual and other obligations;

• our general partner may exercise its right to call and purchase all of the Company’s shares not owned by it and its affiliates if it and its affiliates own 
sufficient shares to exercise the call right;

• our general partner controls the enforcement of obligations owed to the Company by our general partner and its affiliates, including the commercial 
agreements between the Company and Hess; and
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• our general partner decides whether to retain separate counsel, accountants or others to perform services for the Company.

Under the terms of our partnership agreement, the doctrine of corporate opportunity, or any analogous doctrine, does not apply to our general partner 
or any of its affiliates, including the Sponsors, HIP GP LLC or the executive officers and directors of the Company. Any such person or entity that 
becomes aware of a potential transaction, agreement, arrangement or other matter that may be an opportunity for the Company will not have any duty to 
communicate or offer such opportunity to the Company. Any such person or entity will not be liable to the Company or to any limited partner for breach of 
any fiduciary duty or other duty by reason of the fact that such person or entity pursues or acquires such opportunity for itself, directs such opportunity to 
another person or entity or does not communicate such opportunity or information to the Company. This may create actual and potential conflicts of 
interest between the Company and affiliates of our general partner and result in less than favorable treatment of the Company and its shareholders.

Our partnership agreement requires that we distribute all of our available cash, which could limit our ability to grow and make acquisitions.

Our partnership agreement requires that we distribute all of our available cash to our shareholders. As a result, we expect to rely primarily upon 
external financing sources, including borrowings under our revolving credit facility and the issuance of debt and equity securities, to fund our acquisitions 
and expansion capital expenditures. Therefore, to the extent we are unable to finance our growth externally, our cash distribution policy will significantly 
impair our ability to grow. In addition, because we will distribute all of our available cash, our growth may not be as fast as that of businesses that reinvest 
their available cash to expand ongoing operations. To the extent we issue additional shares in connection with any acquisitions or expansion capital 
expenditures, the payment of distributions on those additional shares may increase the risk that we will be unable to maintain or increase our per share 
distribution level. There are no limitations in our partnership agreement on our ability to issue additional shares, including shares ranking senior to our 
Class A Shares as to distributions or in liquidation or that have special voting rights and other rights, and our shareholders will have no preemptive or 
other rights (solely as a result of their status as shareholders) to purchase any such additional shares. The incurrence of additional commercial borrowings 
or other debt to finance our growth strategy would result in increased interest expense, which, in turn, may reduce the amount of cash that we have 
available to distribute to our shareholders.

Our partnership agreement designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for certain types of actions 
and proceedings that may be initiated by the Company’s shareholders, which would limit such shareholders’ ability to choose the judicial 
forum for disputes with us or our general partner’s directors, officers or other employees.

Our partnership agreement provides that, with certain limited exceptions, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the exclusive forum 
for, any claims, suits, actions or proceedings (i) arising out of or relating in any way to our partnership agreement (including any claims, suits or actions to 
interpret, apply or enforce the provisions of our partnership agreement or the duties, obligations or liabilities among partners or of partners to the 
Company, or the rights or powers of, or restrictions on, the partners or the Company), (ii) brought in a derivative manner on behalf of the Company, (iii) 
asserting a claim of breach of a duty (including any fiduciary duty) owed by any director, officer, or other employee of the Company or our general partner, 
or owed by our general partner, to the Company or its partners, (iv) asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware Revised Uniform 
Limited Partnership Act (the “Delaware Act”) or (v) asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. However, the exclusive forum provision 
would not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the Exchange 
Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. To the extent that any such claims may be based upon federal law claims, 
Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or 
the rules and regulations thereunder. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all 
suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. Any person or entity purchasing or 
otherwise acquiring any interest in Class A Shares is deemed to have received notice of and consented to the foregoing provisions. Although we believe 
this choice of forum provision benefits the Company by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to 
which it applies, the provision may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against the Company and our general partner’s directors and officers. The 
enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ certificates of incorporation or similar governing documents has been challenged in 
legal proceedings and it is possible that in connection with any action a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in our partnership 
agreement to be inapplicable or unenforceable in such action. If a court were to find this choice of forum provision inapplicable to, or unenforceable in 
respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other 
jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to make cash distributions to our 
shareholders.
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Our partnership agreement provides that our shareholders irrevocably waive the right to trial by jury in any claim, suit, action or proceeding 
under either state or federal laws, including any claim under U.S. federal securities laws, which could result in less favorable outcomes to our 
shareholders in any such action.

Our partnership agreement provides that our shareholders, including those who become our shareholders by purchasing shares in us in secondary 
transactions, irrevocably waive the right to trial by jury for any claims, suits, actions or proceedings (i) arising out of or relating in any way to our 
partnership agreement (including any claims, suits or actions to interpret, apply or enforce the provisions of our partnership agreement or the duties, 
obligations or liabilities among the Company’s partners, or obligations or liabilities of the Company’s partners to the Company, or the rights or powers of, 
or restrictions on, the Company’s partners or the Company), (ii) brought in a derivative manner on the Company’s behalf, (iii) asserting a claim of breach 
of a duty owed by any of the Company’s, or our general partner’s, directors, officers, or other employees, or owed by our general partner, to the Company 
or the Company’s partners, (iv) asserting a claim against the Company arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware Act or (v) asserting a claim 
against the Company governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in each case pursuant to either state or federal laws, including U.S. federal securities law. 
Regardless, such waiver of the right to trial by jury does not impact the ability of a shareholder of the Company to make a claim under either federal or 
state law.

The waiver of the right to a jury trial is not intended to be deemed a waiver by any shareholder with respect to the Company’s compliance with U.S. 
federal securities laws and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. If the Company or one of the Company shareholders opposed a jury trial 
demand based on the waiver, the applicable court would determine whether the waiver was enforceable based on the facts and circumstances of that 
case in accordance with applicable state and federal laws. To our knowledge, the enforceability of a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver in connection 
with claims arising under the U.S. federal securities laws has not been finally adjudicated by the United States Supreme Court. However, we believe that 
a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver provision is generally enforceable, including under the laws of the State of Delaware, which govern our 
partnership agreement.

If a shareholder brings a claim in connection with matters arising under our partnership agreement, including claims under U.S. federal securities laws, 
such Company shareholder may not be entitled to a jury trial with respect to such claims, which may have the effect of limiting and discouraging lawsuits. 
If a lawsuit is brought by a shareholder under our partnership agreement, it may be heard only by a judge or justice of the applicable trial court, which 
would be conducted according to different civil procedures and may result in a different outcome than a trial by jury, including results that could be less 
favorable to the Company shareholder(s) bringing such lawsuit.

Affiliates of our general partner, including our Sponsors, may compete with us, and neither our general partner nor its affiliates have any 
obligation to present business opportunities to us.

Neither our partnership agreement nor the partnership agreement of the Partnership prohibits the Sponsors or any other affiliates of our general 
partner from owning assets or engaging in businesses that compete directly or indirectly with the Company. Under the terms of our partnership 
agreement, the doctrine of corporate opportunity, or any analogous doctrine, does not apply to our general partner or any of its affiliates, including the 
Sponsors and the Company’s executive officers and directors. Any such entity that becomes aware of a potential transaction, agreement, arrangement or 
other matter that may be an opportunity for the Company will not have any duty to communicate or offer such opportunity to the Company. Consequently, 
the Sponsors and other affiliates of our general partner, including HIP GP LLC, may acquire, construct or dispose of additional midstream assets in the 
future without any obligation to offer the Company the opportunity to purchase any of those assets. As a result, competition from the Sponsors and other 
affiliates of our general partner could materially and adversely impact the Company’s results of operations and distributable cash flow. 

Our partnership agreement replaces our general partner’s fiduciary duties to holders of the Company’s shares with contractual standards 
governing its duties.

Delaware law provides that Delaware limited partnerships may, in their partnership agreements, expand, restrict or eliminate the fiduciary duties 
otherwise owed by the general partner to limited partners and the partnership, provided that partnership agreements may not eliminate the implied 
contractual covenant of good faith and fair dealing. As permitted by Delaware law, our partnership agreement contains provisions that eliminate the 
fiduciary standards to which our general partner would otherwise be held by state fiduciary duty law and replaces those duties with several different 
contractual standards. For example, our partnership agreement permits our general partner to make a number of decisions in its individual capacity, as 
opposed to in its capacity as our general partner, free of any duties to us and our shareholders other than the implied contractual covenant of good faith 
and fair dealing. This provision entitles our general partner to consider only the interests and factors that it desires and relieves it of any duty or obligation 
to give any consideration to any interest of, or factors affecting, us, our affiliates or our limited partners. By purchasing a Class A Share, a shareholder is 
treated as having consented to the provisions in our partnership agreement, including the provisions discussed above.

 

39



Table of Contents

Holders of our Class A Shares have very limited voting rights and, even if they are dissatisfied, they cannot currently remove our general 
partner without its consent.

Unlike the holders of common stock in a corporation, our shareholders have only limited voting rights on matters affecting our business and, therefore, 
limited ability to influence management’s decisions regarding our business. For example, unlike holders of stock in a public corporation, our shareholders 
do not have “say-on-pay” advisory voting rights. Our shareholders did not elect our general partner and will not elect any of the members of our general 
partner’s board of directors and have no right to elect our general partner or any of the members of our general partner’s board of directors on an annual 
or other continuing basis. Our board of directors is chosen by HIP GP LLC, which is controlled by our Sponsors. Furthermore, if our shareholders are 
dissatisfied with the performance of our general partner, they have little ability to remove our general partner. As a result of these limitations, the price at 
which Class A Shares trade could be diminished because of the absence or reduction of a takeover premium in the trading price.

Our shareholders are not able to remove our general partner without its consent because our general partner and its affiliates own sufficient shares to 
be able to prevent its removal. In addition, our general partner may only be removed for cause. “Cause” is narrowly defined under our partnership 
agreement to mean that a court of competent jurisdiction has entered a final, non-appealable judgment finding our general partner liable for actual fraud 
or willful or wanton misconduct in its capacity as our general partner. Cause does not include most cases of charges of poor management of the business. 
Even if cause for removal exists, the vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of all of our outstanding shares voting together as a single class is required to 
remove our general partner. As of December 31, 2022, our general partner and its affiliates collectively owned approximately 82% of the outstanding 
Class B Shares and the Class A Shares, considered as a single class.

Furthermore, our shareholders’ voting rights are further restricted by our partnership agreement, which provides that any shares held by a person that 
owns 20% or more of any class of shares then outstanding, other than our general partner, its affiliates, their transferees, and persons who acquired such 
shares with the prior approval of our board of directors, cannot vote on any matter.

Our partnership agreement also contains provisions limiting the ability of our shareholders to call meetings or to acquire information about our 
operations, as well as other provisions limiting our shareholders’ ability to influence the manner or direction of management.

Our general partner interest or the control of our general partner may be transferred to a third party without shareholder consent.

Our general partner may transfer its general partner interest to a third party in a merger or in a sale of all or substantially all of its assets without the 
consent of our shareholders. Furthermore, there is no restriction in our partnership agreement on the ability of HIP GP LLC to transfer all of the 
partnership interests in our general partner, or all of the membership interests in GP LLC, the general partner of our general partner, to a third party. The 
new owner of our general partner or the general partner of our general partner would then be in a position to replace our board of directors and officers 
with its own choices. As a result, we could lose the provision of certain operational support and administrative services by Hess and its affiliates and our 
license to use certain Hess trademarks.

Our general partner has a limited call right that may require our shareholders to sell their Class A Shares at an undesirable time or price.

If at any time our general partner and its affiliates own more than a designated percentage of the issued and outstanding limited partner interests of 
any class, our general partner will have the right, but not the obligation, which it may assign to any of its affiliates or to us, to acquire all, but not less than 
all, of the limited partner interests of such class held by unaffiliated persons at a price not less than their then-current market price. This designated 
percentage is equal to (i) 80% with respect to all classes of limited partner interests other than Class A Shares and (ii) as of the consummation of the 
Restructuring, 97% of the Class A Shares and Class B Shares, taken together, which percentage is gradually adjusted downward in connection with 
decreases to the percentage of the limited partner interests held by our general partner and its affiliates. Generally, the designated percentage is three to 
five percent greater than the percentage of the limited partner interests owned by our general partner and its affiliates, until they own 75% of the limited 
partner interests, at which time the designated percentage will be fixed at 80%. As a result, our shareholders may be required to sell their Class A Shares 
at an undesirable time or price and may not receive any return on their investment. Our shareholders may also incur a tax liability upon a sale of their 
Class A Shares. For purposes of this calculation, the Class B Shares will be considered collectively with the Class A Shares as a single class. Our 
general partner and its affiliates currently own approximately 82% of the Class B Shares and the Class A Shares, considered as a single class.
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Our partnership agreement restricts the remedies available to shareholders for actions taken by our general partner that might otherwise 

constitute breaches of fiduciary duty.

Our partnership agreement contains provisions that restrict the remedies available to shareholders for actions taken by our general partner that 
might otherwise constitute breaches of fiduciary duty under state fiduciary duty law. For example, our partnership agreement:

• provides that whenever our general partner makes a determination or takes, or declines to take, any other action in its capacity as our general partner, 
our general partner is required to make such determination, or take or decline to take such other action, in good faith, meaning that it subjectively 
believed that the determination or the decision to take or decline to take such action was in the best interests of us, and will not be subject to any other 
or different standard imposed by our partnership agreement, Delaware law, or any other law, rule or regulation, or at equity;

• provides that our general partner will not have any liability to us or our limited partners for decisions made in its capacity as a general partner so long 
as it acted in good faith;

• provides that our general partner and our officers and directors will not be liable for monetary damages to us or our limited partners resulting from any 
act or omission unless there has been a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a court of competent jurisdiction determining that our general 
partner or our officers and directors, as the case may be, acted in bad faith or engaged in fraud or willful misconduct or, in the case of a criminal matter, 
acted with knowledge that the conduct was criminal; and

• provides that our general partner will not be in breach of its obligations under our partnership agreement or its fiduciary duties to us or its limited 
partners if a transaction with an affiliate or the resolution of a conflict of interest is approved in accordance with, or otherwise meets the standards set 
forth in, our partnership agreement. In connection with a situation involving a transaction with an affiliate or a conflict of interest, our partnership 
agreement provides that any determination by our general partner must be made in good faith, and that the board of directors of our general partner 
and the conflicts committee thereof are entitled to a presumption that they acted in good faith. In any proceeding brought by or on behalf of any limited 
partner or the partnership, the person bringing or prosecuting such proceeding will have the burden of overcoming such presumption.

The market price of Class A Shares may fluctuate significantly.

The market price of Class A Shares may fluctuate significantly and holders of Class A Shares could lose some or all of the value of their investment. In 
addition, the stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations in recent times which, if they continue to occur, could have a material 
adverse effect on the market for, or liquidity of, Class A Shares, regardless of our actual operating performance.

Our Sponsors may sell Class A Shares in the public or private markets, and such sales could have an adverse impact on the trading price of 
the Class A Shares.

As of December 31, 2022, our Sponsors and their affiliates, including our general partner, collectively held 898,000 Class A Shares, 195,847,606 Class 
B Shares, and 195,847,606 Class B Units in the Partnership. The Class B Units in the Partnership are exchangeable, together with an equal number of 
Class B Shares, into Class A Shares on a one-to-one basis. We have agreed to provide our Sponsors with certain registration rights under applicable 
securities laws with respect to resales of the Class A Shares. The sale of these Class A Shares in the public or private markets could have an adverse 
impact on the price of the Class A Shares or any trading market that may develop. 

We may issue an unlimited number of additional equity interests without shareholder approval, including equity interests with preferences 
senior to the Class A Shares, which would dilute shareholder interests.

Under our partnership agreement, we may, at any time, issue an unlimited number of general partner interests or limited partner interests of any type 
without the approval of our shareholders, and our shareholders will have no preemptive or other rights (solely as a result of their status as shareholders) to 
purchase any such general partner interests or limited partner interests. Further, there are no limitations in our partnership agreement on our ability to 
issue equity securities that rank equal or senior to the Class A Shares as to distributions or in liquidation or that have special voting rights and other rights.

The issuance by us of additional Class A Shares or other equity securities of equal or senior rank will have the following effects:

• our shareholders’ proportionate ownership interest in us will decrease;

• the amount of cash we have available to distribute on each Class A Share may decrease;

• the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding Class A Share may be diminished; and

• the market price of our Class A Shares may decline.
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The issuance by us of additional general partner interests may have the following effects, among others, if such general partner interests are issued to 
a person who is not an affiliate of our general partner:

• management of our business may no longer reside solely with our current general partner; and

• affiliates of the newly admitted general partner may compete with us, and neither that general partner nor such affiliates will have any obligation to 
present business opportunities to us.

The NYSE does not require a publicly traded limited partnership like us to comply with certain of its corporate governance requirements.

Our Class A Shares are listed on the NYSE. Because we are a publicly traded limited partnership, the NYSE does not require us to have a majority of 
independent directors on our board of directors or to establish a compensation committee or a nominating and corporate governance committee. 
Additionally, any future issuances of additional Class A Shares or other securities, including to affiliates, are not subject to the NYSE’s shareholder 
approval rules that apply to a corporation. Accordingly, our shareholders do not have the same protections afforded to certain shareholders of 
corporations that are subject to all of the NYSE corporate governance requirements.

We are treated as a corporation for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes.

We are subject to U.S. federal income tax as a corporation at the current corporate tax rate of 21% and to state income tax in various states at various 
rates. Government action could result in tax increases retroactively or prospectively through tax claims, changes to applicable statutory tax rates, 
modification of the tax base, or imposition of new tax types. Distributions on our Class A Shares are treated as distributions on corporate stock for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes and taxed again as corporate dividends (to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits). Because an 
entity-level tax is imposed on us due to our status as a corporation for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes, distributable cash flow will be reduced 
by any tax liabilities. 

On August 16, 2022 the United States enacted the IRA, which includes a 15% book-income alternative minimum tax on corporations with average 
adjusted financial statement income over $1 billion for any 3-year period ending with 2022 or later and a 1% excise tax on the fair market value of stock 
that is repurchased by publicly traded U.S. corporations. The alternative minimum tax and the excise tax are effective in taxable years beginning after 
December 31, 2022. On December 27, 2022 the Department of Treasury issued initial guidance related to the alternative minimum tax and the excise tax, 
requested comments, and committed further guidance on many topics. We continue to evaluate the effect of the new law and any additional guidance on 
our future cash flows and financial results, including if we become a taxpayer for the alternative minimum tax in the future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Although we may, from time to time, be involved in litigation and claims arising out of our operations in the normal course of business, we are not a 
party to any litigation or governmental or other proceeding that we believe will have a material adverse impact on our financial condition or results of 
operations.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY 
SECURITIES

Stock Market Information

Our Class A Shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange and are traded under the symbol “HESM”. 

Holders

As of December 31, 2022, there were 5 shareholders of record who owned a total of 44,002,846 of our Class A Shares, one of which is Hess 
Midstream GP LP. The number of holders does not include the holders for whom shares are held in a “nominee” or “street” name. In addition, as of 
December 31, 2022, Hess Midstream GP LP owned an aggregate of 195,847,606 Class B Shares. Hess and GIP indirectly own the Class A Shares and 
Class B Shares owned by Hess Midstream GP LP.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

In 2017, the Partnership adopted the Hess Midstream Partners LP 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan. Pursuant to the Restructuring, the Company 
assumed the Hess Midstream Partners LP 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan and all obligations with respect to outstanding awards thereunder. The 
Company amended and restated the Hess Midstream Partners LP 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan to, among other things, change the plan’s name to the 
Hess Midstream LP 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”) and to reflect the Company’s assumption of the plan. The LTIP limits the number of 
shares that may be delivered pursuant to vested awards to 3,000,000 Class A Shares. 

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information about our equity compensation plan as of December 31, 2022:

  Number of securities to be   Weighted-average   Number of securities  
  issued upon exercise of   exercise price of   remaining available for  
  outstanding options,   outstanding options   future issuance under  

Plan category  warrants, and rights   warrants, and rights   equity compensation plans  
Equity compensation plans not approved 
   by security holders   -    -    -  
Hess Midstream LP 2017 Long Term 
   Incentive Plan  145,701  $  -    2,506,453  
Total   145,701  $  -    2,506,453  
(1) The general partner of our predecessor adopted the Long-Term Incentive Plan in connection with the IPO.

(2) The amount includes 145,701 phantom unit awards that vest ratably over a three-year period for officers and employees, and vest after one year for directors following the date of 

grant. Upon vesting, each phantom unit is paid in the form of a Class A Share in us, or an equivalent amount of cash, subject to applicable tax withholdings.

See Note 9, Equity‑Based Compensation in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of our equity compensation plans.

Distributions of Available Cash

General

Our partnership agreement requires that, within 45 days after the end of each quarter, we distribute all of our available cash to shareholders of record 
on the applicable record date. Except for splits and combinations as contemplated by our partnership agreement, no distribution shall be made under any 
circumstances in respect of any Class B Shares or our general partner interest.
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The following table sets forth the cash distributions per share declared on the Class A Shares, for the three most recent years through December 31, 

2022:
  Quarterly Cash  

Three most recent years  Distribution per Share  
March 31, 2020  $ 0.4310  
June 30, 2020  $ 0.4363  
September 30, 2020  $ 0.4417  
December 31, 2020  $ 0.4471  
March 31, 2021  $ 0.4526  
June 30, 2021  $ 0.5042  
September 30, 2021  $ 0.5104  
December 31, 2021  $ 0.5167  
March 31, 2022  $ 0.5492  
June 30, 2022  $ 0.5559  
September 30, 2022  $ 0.5627  
December 31, 2022  $ 0.5696  
 

(1) Represents a cash distribution attributable to the quarter-end pursuant to our partnership agreement. See definition of Available Cash below.

(2) The distribution represents an approximate 11% increase compared to the distribution for the quarter ended March 31, 2021, consisting of a 10% announced increase in addition 

to a quarterly increase consistent with the Company’s targeted 5% growth in annual distributions per Class A share.

(3) The distribution represents an approximate 6.3% increase compared to the distribution for the quarter ended December 31, 2021, consisting of a 5% announced increase in 

addition to a quarterly increase consistent with the Company's targeted 5% growth in annual distributions per Class A share.

Definition of Available Cash

Available cash generally means, for any quarter, all cash and cash equivalents on hand at the end of that quarter:

• less, the amount of cash reserves established by our general partner to:

• provide for the proper conduct of our business (including reserves for our future capital expenditures and anticipated future debt service 
requirements);

• comply with applicable law or any loan agreement, security agreement, mortgage, debt instrument or other agreement or obligation to which any 
group member is a party or by which it is bound or its assets are subject;

• provide funds for distributions to our shareholders for any one or more of the next four quarters (provided that our general partner may not 
establish cash reserves for distributions if the effect of the establishment of such reserves will prevent us from distributing the minimum quarterly 
distribution on all Class A Shares for the current quarter);

• plus, if our general partner so determines, all or any portion of the cash on hand on the date of determination of available cash for the quarter 
resulting from working capital borrowings made subsequent to the end of such quarter or available to be borrowed as a working capital borrowing as of 
the date of determination of available cash.

The purpose and effect of the last bullet point above is to allow our general partner, if it so decides, to use cash from working capital borrowings made 
after the end of the quarter but on or before the date of determination of available cash for that quarter to pay distributions to shareholders. Under our 
partnership agreement, working capital borrowings are generally borrowings that are made under a credit facility, commercial paper facility or similar 
financing arrangement, and in all cases are used solely for working capital purposes or to pay distributions to partners and with the intent of the borrower 
to repay such borrowings within twelve months with funds other than from additional working capital borrowings.

Intent to Distribute the Minimum Quarterly Distribution

Under our current cash distribution policy, we intend to make a minimum quarterly distribution to the holders of our Class A Shares of $0.30 per share, 
or $1.20 per share on an annualized basis, to the extent we have sufficient available cash after the establishment of cash reserves and the payment of 
costs and expenses, including reimbursements of expenses to our general partner. However, there is no guarantee that we will pay the minimum quarterly 
distribution on our Class A Shares in any quarter. The amount of distributions paid under our cash distribution policy and the decision to make any 
distribution will be determined by our general partner, taking into consideration the terms of our partnership agreement.

General Partner Interest

Our general partner owns a non-economic general partner interest in us and, as of December 31, 2022, 898,000 Class A Shares and 195,847,606 
Class B Shares. Our general partner, in its capacity as a shareholder, is entitled to share in cash distributions on our Class A Shares, but is not otherwise 
entitled to receive cash distributions with respect to its general partner interest in us or its Class B Shares. However, our general partner may in the future 
own other equity interests in us and may be entitled to receive distributions on any such interests.
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Adjustment of the Minimum Quarterly Distribution

If we combine our shares or other interests in us (“Company Interests”) into fewer shares or Company Interests (commonly referred to as a “reverse 
split”) or subdivide our shares or Company Interests into a greater number of shares or Company Interests (commonly referred to as a “split”), we will 
proportionately adjust the minimum quarterly distribution.

For example, if a two-for-one split of Class A Shares should occur, the minimum quarterly distribution would be reduced to 50% of its initial level. We 
will not make any adjustment by reason of the issuance of additional shares or Company Interests for cash or property (including additional Class A 
Shares issued under any compensation or benefit plans).

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial 
statements and notes thereto included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10‑K. 

Unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise indicates, references in this report to “Hess Midstream Operations LP,” “the Partnership,” “us,” “we” or 
similar terms, when referring to periods between the IPO date on April 10, 2017 and December 16, 2019, refer to Hess Midstream Operations LP 
(formerly known as Hess Midstream Partners LP, the predecessor registrant to Hess Midstream LP), including its consolidated subsidiaries. All references 
to “Hess Midstream LP,” “the Company,” “us,” “our,” “we” or similar terms, when referring to periods subsequent to December 16, 2019, refer to Hess 
Midstream LP, including its consolidated subsidiaries.

 This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from 
those discussed below. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and 
those discussed in the section entitled “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this report.

Overview

We are a fee-based, growth-oriented, limited partnership formed by Hess Infrastructure Partners GP LLC (“HIP GP LLC”) and our general partner to 
own, operate, develop and acquire a diverse set of midstream assets and provide fee-based services to Hess and third-party customers. We are managed 
and controlled by Hess Midstream GP LLC, the general partner of our general partner. Our assets are primarily located in the Bakken and Three Forks 
shale plays in the Williston Basin area of North Dakota, which we collectively refer to as the Bakken.

Significant Activities

In 2022, we brought online two new greenfield compressor stations that, in aggregate, provide an additional 85 MMcf/d of installed capacity and can be 
expanded up to 130 MMcf/d in the future. In 2023, we plan to complete two more greenfield compressor stations that are expected to provide, in 
aggregate, an additional 100 MMcf/d of gas compression capacity when brought online. 

2021 - 2022 Equity Transactions

During 2021 and 2022, the Company, the Partnership and the Sponsors completed the following equity transactions:

• On March 15, 2021, the Sponsors sold an aggregate of 6,900,000 of our Class A shares representing limited partner interests (“Class A 
Shares”), inclusive of the underwriters’ option to purchase up to 900,000 of additional shares, which was fully exercised, in an underwritten public 
offering at a price of $21.00 per Class A share, less underwriting discounts.

• On October 8, 2021, the Sponsors sold an aggregate of 8,625,000 of our Class A Shares, inclusive of the underwriters’ option to purchase up to 
1,125,000 of additional shares, which was fully exercised, in an underwritten public offering at a price of $26.00 per Class A share, less 
underwriting discounts.

• On April 4, 2022, the Sponsors sold an aggregate of 10,235,000 of our Class A Shares, inclusive of the underwriters’ option to purchase up to 
1,335,000 of additional shares, which was fully exercised, in an underwritten public offering at a price of $29.50 per Class A Share, less 
underwriting discounts. 

In 2022, the Sponsors received net proceeds from the offerings of approximately $291.7 million (2021: $356.5 million), after deducting underwriting 
discounts. The Company did not receive any proceeds in the offerings. 

• On August 10, 2021, the Partnership repurchased an aggregate of 31,250,000 Class B units representing limited partner interests in the 
Partnership (“Class B Units”) from the Sponsors at a purchase price of $24.00 per Class B unit, for total consideration of $750.0 million, which was 
funded through issuance by the Partnership of $750.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.25% senior unsecured notes due 2030.

• On April 4, 2022, the Partnership repurchased an aggregate of 13,559,322 Class B Units from the Sponsors at a purchase price of $29.50 per 
Class B unit, for total consideration of $400.0 million, which was funded using borrowings under the Partnership’s revolving credit facility, which 
were subsequently repaid with proceeds from an issuance by the Partnership of $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.50% senior 
unsecured notes due 2030.

See Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Note 3, Equity Transactions, Note 7, Debt and Interest Expense, and Note 8, Partners' 
Capital and Distributions for additional details.
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At December 31, 2022:

• the Company held an 18.3% controlling interest in the Partnership and the Sponsors held an 81.7% noncontrolling economic interest in the 
Partnership;

• public limited partners held an 18.0% voting interest and a 98.0% economic interest in the Company, which represents an indirect 18.0% 
economic interest in the Partnership;

• the Sponsors and their respective affiliates held an 82.0% voting interest and a 2.0% economic interest in the Company, which, taken with their 
direct limited partnership interest in the Partnership, represents an indirect 82.0% economic interest in the Partnership. See Organizational 
Structure.

Business Strategies

Our principal business objective is to grow our business and distributable cash flow supported by fee-based contracts and disciplined financial 
strategy. We expect to achieve this objective through the following business strategies:

• Focus on Cash Flow Stability and Growth Supported by Long-Term, Fee-Based Contracts and a Disciplined Financial Strategy. We seek to grow our 
distributable cash flow to be able to fund our expansion capital and provide consistent and ongoing return of capital to shareholders while maintaining 
balance sheet strength. Our commercial agreements include dedications covering substantially all of Hess’ existing and future owned or controlled 
production in the Bakken, minimum volume commitments, inflation escalators and fee recalculation mechanisms, all of which are intended to provide 
us with cash flow stability and downside risk protection. 

• Capitalize on Hess’ Bakken Production Growth. Our midstream infrastructure footprint services Hess’ leading acreage position in the Bakken. We 
believe our volumes and investment opportunities will continue to expand as Hess drills new wells in the Bakken. We intend to invest additional capital 
to continue extending and expanding our strategically positioned infrastructure, including additional gas capture capabilities, to meet Hess’ current and 
future production growth and to reduce flaring from upstream production operations.

• Leverage Core Asset Base to Attract Additional Third‑Party Business. We currently handle volumes from third‑party producers and midstream 
companies under our commercial agreements with Hess, and we are pursuing both additional projects and strategic relationships with third‑party 
customers with operations in the Bakken in order to maximize our utilization rates.

• Grow Through Accretive Acquisitions from Our Sponsors and Third Parties. We evaluate potential acquisitions of complementary midstream assets 
from our Sponsors as well as from third parties.

Climate Change and Energy Transition

We are aligned with Hess in its aim to help meet the world's growing energy needs while working towards reducing its greenhouse gas (“GHG”) 
emissions. We play an important part in Hess' emissions reduction efforts by providing the infrastructure to move oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas to 
market and reduce wellhead flaring as well as through efforts to reduce our own GHG emissions, which are included in Hess’ overall emissions footprint. 

We are focused on identifying GHG reduction opportunities, evaluating and implementing technologies as appropriate and evaluating capital and 
infrastructure requirements. In collaboration with Hess, we have prioritized the following emissions reduction initiatives:

• 
Continuing to optimize field development and infrastructure plans for our Bakken operations through installing additional compression capacity in 
2023, with more planned for the future;

• 
Examining and implementing alternatives to flaring, such as utilizing natural gas that would have been flared for onsite power generation or 
conversion to liquified natural gas;

• 
Pursuing studies to improve energy efficiency and assess carbon capture;

• Implementing operational improvements in our facilities to reduce energy consumption.

Segments

Our assets and operations are organized into the following three reportable segments: (i) gathering, (ii) processing and storage and (iii) terminaling 
and export.
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Gathering

Our gathering segment includes Hess North Dakota Pipeline Operations LP, or Gathering Opco, and Hess Water Services Holdings LLC, which own 
the following assets:

• Natural Gas Gathering and Compression. A natural gas gathering and compression system located primarily in McKenzie, Williams and Mountrail 
Counties, North Dakota connecting Hess and third‑party owned or operated wells to the Tioga Gas Plant, Little Missouri 4 (“LM4”) gas processing plant 
and third‑party pipeline facilities. The system also includes the Hawkeye Gas Facility.

• Crude Oil Gathering. A crude oil gathering system located primarily in McKenzie, Williams and Mountrail Counties, North Dakota, connecting Hess 
and third-party owned or operated wells to the Ramberg Terminal Facility, the Tioga Rail Terminal and the Johnson’s Corner Header System. The 
system also includes the Hawkeye Oil Facility.

• Produced Water Gathering and Disposal. A produced water gathering system and disposal facilities located primarily in Williams and Mountrail 
counties, North Dakota.

Processing and Storage

Our processing and storage segment includes Hess TGP Operations LP, or HTGP Opco, and Hess Mentor Storage Holdings LLC, or Mentor Holdings, 
which own the following assets, respectively:

• Tioga Gas Plant. A natural gas processing and fractionation plant located in Tioga, North Dakota.

• Equity Investment in LM4 Joint Venture. A 50% equity method investment in LM4 joint venture that owns a natural gas processing plant located in 
McKenzie County, North Dakota, that was placed in service in the third quarter of 2019. Targa Resources Corp. is the operator of the plant.

• Mentor Storage Terminal. A propane storage cavern and rail and truck loading and unloading facility located in Mentor, Minnesota.

Terminaling and Export

Our terminaling and export segment includes Hess North Dakota Export Logistics Operations LP, or Logistics Opco, which owns each of the following 
assets:

• Ramberg Terminal Facility. A crude oil pipeline and truck receipt terminal located in Williams County, North Dakota that is capable of delivering crude 
oil into an interconnecting pipeline for transportation to the Tioga Rail Terminal and to multiple third‑party pipelines and storage facilities.

• Tioga Rail Terminal. A crude oil and NGL rail loading terminal in Tioga, North Dakota that is connected to the Tioga Gas Plant, the Ramberg 
Terminal Facility and our crude oil gathering system.

• Crude Oil Rail Cars. A total of 550 crude oil rail cars, constructed to DOT‑117 safety standards, which we operate as unit trains consisting of 
approximately 100 to 110 crude oil rail cars.

• Johnson’s Corner Header System. An approximately six‑mile crude oil pipeline header system located in McKenzie County, North Dakota that 
receives crude oil by pipeline from Hess and third parties and delivers crude oil to third‑party interstate pipeline systems. 

Significant 2022 Financial and Operating Results

Significant financial and operating results for the year ended December 31, 2022 include:

• Completed the repurchase of an aggregate of 13,559,322 Class B Units of the Partnership from the Sponsors for $400 million.

• Consolidated net income of $620.6 million.

• Net income attributable to Hess Midstream LP after deduction for noncontrolling interest of $83.9 million, or $2.03 basic earnings per Class A Share.

• Net cash provided by operating activities of $861.1 million.

• Adjusted EBITDA of $982.9 million.

• Distributable cash flow of $835.2 million.

• Paid cash distributions of $1.6678 per Class A share in total for the first three quarters of 2022 and declared a cash distribution of $0.5696 per Class 
A share for the fourth quarter of 2022, which was paid in February 2023.
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Revenues and other income in 2022 were $1,275.2 million compared with $1,203.8 million in 2021. Current year revenues and other income were 
up $71.4 million compared with the prior year, of which $77.4 million is primarily due to slightly higher tariff rates and generally higher MVC levels in gas 
gathering and processing, partially offset by generally lower MVC levels in oil gathering and terminaling. This increase is partially offset by lower pass-
through revenues, including electricity, produced water trucking and disposal costs, rail transportation and certain other fees of $6.0 million. Total 
operating costs and expenses in 2022 were $484.0 million, up from $476.6 million in the prior year. The increase was attributable to higher depreciation of 
$15.7 million and slightly higher general and administrative expenses of $0.4 million, partially offset by lower operating and maintenance expenses of $8.7 
million primarily attributable to the TGP turnaround in 2021 and lower pass-through costs, for which we recognize revenues in the same amount, as 
described above. Interest expense, net of interest income, increased $43.9 million primarily attributable to the $750.0 million 4.25% fixed-rate senior notes 
issued in August 2021, the $400.0 million 5.50% fixed-rate senior notes issued in April 2022 and higher interest rates on the Term Loan A credit facility. 
Income tax expense in 2022 was $26.6 million, up from $14.6 million in 2021, which was primarily driven by increased ownership of the Partnership by 
Hess Midstream LP following the equity offering and unit repurchase transactions in 2021 and 2022. As a result, consolidated net income increased $2.8 
million and Adjusted EBITDA increased $74.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2022 compared with the year ended December 31, 2021.
 

Throughput volumes increased 5% for gas processing and 3% for gas gathering in 2022 compared with 2021 primarily due to higher gas capture in 
the current year despite weather challenges and downtime due to the TGP turnaround in the prior year. Throughput volumes decreased 13% for crude oil 
gathering and 11% for crude oil terminaling in 2022 compared with 2021 primarily due to severe weather and lower gross production volumes from Hess 
and third parties. The impact of the reduction in crude oil physical volumes in 2022 compared with 2021 was partially offset by slightly higher tariff rates 
and MVC shortfall fee payments. 

For additional discussion of the results of operations at the segment level, see “Results of Operations” below. For additional information regarding 
Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow, our non‑GAAP financial measures, see “How We Evaluate Our Operations” and “Reconciliation of 
Non‑GAAP Financial Measures” below.
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How We Generate Revenues

We generate substantially all of our revenues by charging fees for gathering, compressing and processing natural gas and fractionating NGLs; 
gathering, terminaling, loading and transporting crude oil and NGLs; storing and terminaling propane; and gathering and disposing of produced water. We 
have entered into long-term, fee-based commercial agreements with Hess dated effective January 1, 2014, for oil and gas services agreements, and 
effective January 1, 2019, for water services agreements. 

Except for the water services agreements and except for a certain gathering sub-system, as described below, each of our commercial agreements 
with Hess has an initial 10-year term and we have the unilateral right to renew each of these agreements for one additional 10-year term. In September 
2018, we amended our gas gathering and gas processing and fractionation agreements to enable us to provide certain services to Hess in respect of 
volumes to be delivered to and processed at the LM4 plant. The amended and restated gas gathering agreement also extends the initial term of the 
gathering agreement with respect to a certain gathering sub-system by five years to provide for a 15-year initial term and decreases the secondary term 
for that gathering sub-system by five years to provide for a five-year secondary term. Initial term for the water services agreements is 14 years and the 
secondary term is 10 years. On December 30, 2020, we exercised our renewal options to extend the terms of certain crude oil gathering, terminaling, 
storage, gas processing and gas gathering commercial agreements with Hess for the Secondary Term through December 31, 2033. There were no 
changes to any provisions of the existing commercial agreements as a result of the exercise of the renewal options. For the remaining water gathering 
and disposal agreements as well as the remaining gas gathering agreement, we have the sole option to renew these agreements for an additional term 
that is exercisable at a later date. 

These agreements include dedications covering substantially all of Hess’ existing and future owned or controlled production in the Bakken, 
minimum volume commitments, inflation escalators and fee recalculation mechanisms, all of which are intended to provide us with cash flow stability and 
growth, as well as downside risk protection. In particular, Hess’ minimum volume commitments under our commercial agreements provide minimum levels 
of cash flows and the fee recalculation mechanisms under the agreements allow fees to be adjusted annually to provide us with cash flow stability during 
the initial term of the agreements. During the secondary term of the agreements, the fee recalculation model will be replaced by an inflation-based fee 
structure. See Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Note 4, Related Party Transactions for additional description of our commercial 
agreements.

Our revenues also include revenues from third-party volumes contracted with Hess and delivered to us under these commercial agreements with 
Hess, as well as pass-through third-party rail transportation costs, third-party produced water trucking and disposal costs, electricity fees and certain other 
third-party fees, for which we recognize revenues in an amount equal to the costs. For the year ended December 31, 2022, our gas gathering and gas 
processing revenues comprised approximately 75% of total affiliate revenues, excluding passthrough revenues. Together with Hess, we are pursuing 
strategic relationships with third-party producers and other midstream companies with operations in the Bakken in order to maximize our utilization rates.

How We Evaluate Our Operations

Our management uses a variety of financial and operating metrics to analyze our operating results and profitability. These metrics include (i) volumes, 
(ii) operating and maintenance expenses, (iii) Adjusted EBITDA, and (iv) distributable cash flow.

Volumes. The amount of revenues we generate primarily depends on the volumes of crude oil, natural gas, NGLs and produced water that we handle 
at our gathering, processing, terminaling, storage and disposal facilities. These volumes are affected primarily by the supply of and demand for crude oil, 
natural gas and NGLs in the markets served directly or indirectly by our assets, including changes in crude oil prices, which may further affect volumes 
delivered by Hess. Although Hess has committed to minimum volumes under our commercial agreements described above, our results of operations will 
be impacted by our ability to:

• utilize the remaining uncommitted capacity on, or add additional capacity to, our existing assets, and optimize our existing assets;

• identify and execute expansion projects, and capture incremental throughput volumes from Hess and third parties for these expanded facilities;

• increase throughput volumes at our Ramberg Terminal Facility, Tioga Rail Terminal and the Johnson’s Corner Header System by interconnecting 
with new or existing third‑party gathering pipelines; and

• increase gas processing throughput volumes by interconnecting with new or existing third‑party gathering pipelines.
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Operating and Maintenance Expenses. Our management seeks to maximize the profitability of our operations by effectively managing operating and 

maintenance expenses. These expenses are comprised primarily of costs charged to us under our omnibus agreement and employee secondment 
agreement, third‑party contractor costs, utility costs, insurance premiums, third‑party service provider costs, related property taxes and other non‑income 
taxes and maintenance expenses, such as expenditures to repair, refurbish and replace storage facilities and to maintain equipment reliability, integrity 
and safety. These expenses generally remain relatively stable across broad ranges of throughput volumes but can fluctuate from period to period 
depending on the mix of activities performed during that period and the timing of substantial expenses, such as gas plant turnarounds. We seek to 
manage our maintenance expenditures by scheduling periodic maintenance on our assets in order to minimize significant variability in these expenditures 
and minimize their impact on our cash flow.

Adjusted EBITDA and Distributable Cash Flow. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) before net interest expense, income tax expense 
(benefit), depreciation and amortization and our proportional share of depreciation of our equity affiliates, as further adjusted to eliminate the impact of 
certain items that we do not consider indicative of our ongoing operating performance, such as transaction costs, other income and other non‑cash and 
non‑recurring items, if applicable. We define distributable cash flow as Adjusted EBITDA less net interest, excluding amortization of deferred financing 
costs, cash paid for federal and state income taxes and maintenance capital expenditures. Distributable cash flow does not reflect changes in working 
capital balances. We use Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow to analyze our performance and liquidity. 

Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow are non‑GAAP supplemental financial measures that management and external users of our 
consolidated financial statements, such as industry analysts, investors, lenders and rating agencies, may use to assess:

• our operating performance as compared to other publicly traded companies in the midstream energy industry, without regard to historical cost basis 
or, in the case of Adjusted EBITDA, financing methods;

• the ability of our assets to generate sufficient cash flow to make distributions to our shareholders;

• our ability to incur and service debt and fund capital expenditures; and

• the viability of acquisitions and other capital expenditure projects and the returns on investment of various investment opportunities.

We believe that the presentation of Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow provides useful information to investors in assessing our financial 
condition and results of operations. The GAAP measures most directly comparable to Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow are net income (loss) 
and net cash provided by (used in) operating activities. Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow should not be considered as alternatives to GAAP 
net income (loss), income (loss) from operations, net cash provided by (used in) operating activities or any other measure of financial performance or 
liquidity presented in accordance with GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow have important limitations as analytical tools because they 
exclude some but not all items that affect net income and net cash provided by operating activities. You should not consider Adjusted EBITDA and 
distributable cash flow in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Additionally, because Adjusted EBITDA and 
distributable cash flow may be defined differently by other companies in our industry, our definition of these measures may not be comparable to similarly 
titled measures of other companies, thereby diminishing their utility.
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Results of Operations

The following tables summarize our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. The results of 
operations are discussed in further detail following this overview (in millions, unless otherwise noted).
 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022  Gathering   
Processing and 

Storage   
Terminaling and 

Export   
Interest and 

Other   

Consolidate
d Hess 

Midstream 
LP  

Revenues                
Affiliate services  $ 677.9   $ 470.8   $ 124.5   $ -   $ 1,273.2  
Other income   -    -    2.0    -    2.0  

Total revenues   677.9    470.8    126.5    -    1,275.2  
Costs and expenses                

Operating and maintenance expenses (exclusive 
   of depreciation shown separately below)   170.2    85.0    24.4    -    279.6  
Depreciation expense   107.4    57.7    16.2    -    181.3  
General and administrative expenses   10.7    4.3    0.9    7.2    23.1  

Total operating costs and expenses   288.3    147.0    41.5    7.2    484.0  
Income (loss) from operations   389.6    323.8    85.0    (7.2 )   791.2  

Income from equity investments   -    5.3    -    -    5.3  
Interest expense, net   -    -    -    149.3    149.3  

Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit)   389.6    329.1    85.0    (156.5 )   647.2  
Income tax expense (benefit)   -    -    -    26.6    26.6  

Net income (loss)   389.6    329.1    85.0    (183.1 )   620.6  
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to 
   noncontrolling interest   323.2    272.5    70.6    (129.6 )   536.7  
Net income (loss) attributable to Hess Midstream LP  $ 66.4   $ 56.6   $ 14.4   $ (53.5 )  $ 83.9  
                
Throughput volumes                

Gas gathering (MMcf/d)   333             333  
Crude oil gathering (MBbl/d)   96             96  
Gas processing (MMcf/d)      319          319  
Crude oil terminaling (MBbl/d)         103       103  
NGL loading (MBbl/d)         11       11  
Water gathering (MBbl/d)   74             74  
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2021  Gathering   
Processing and 

Storage   
Terminaling and 

Export   
Interest and 

Other   

Consolidate
d Hess 

Midstream 
LP  

Revenues                
Affiliate services  $ 630.6   $ 435.7   $ 137.5   $ -   $ 1,203.8  

Total revenues   630.6    435.7    137.5    -    1,203.8  
Costs and expenses                

Operating and maintenance expenses (exclusive 
   of depreciation shown separately below)   143.1    128.4    16.8    -    288.3  
Depreciation expense   101.0    48.4    16.2    -    165.6  
General and administrative expenses   8.9    5.7    0.8    7.3    22.7  

Total operating costs and expenses   253.0    182.5    33.8    7.3    476.6  
Income (loss) from operations   377.6    253.2    103.7    (7.3 )   727.2  

Income from equity investments   -    10.6    -    -    10.6  
Interest expense, net   -    -    -    105.4    105.4  

Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit)   377.6    263.8    103.7    (112.7 )   632.4  
Income tax expense (benefit)   -    -    -    14.6    14.6  

Net Income (loss)   377.6    263.8    103.7    (127.3 )   617.8  
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to 
   noncontrolling interest   341.3    238.3    93.6    (101.8 )   571.4  
Net income (loss) attributable to Hess Midstream LP  $ 36.3   $ 25.5   $ 10.1   $ (25.5 )  $ 46.4  

                
Throughput volumes                

Gas gathering (MMcf/d)   324             324  
Crude oil gathering (MBbl/d)   110             110  
Gas processing (MMcf/d)      305          305  
Crude oil terminaling (MBbl/d)         116       116  
NGL loading (MBbl/d)         13       13  
Water gathering (MBbl/d)   73             73  
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2020   Gathering     
Processing and 

Storage     
Terminaling and 

Export     
Interest and 

Other     

Consolidated 
Hess 

Midstream LP   
Revenues                                         

Affiliate services   $ 561.9    $ 370.3    $ 159.4    $ -    $ 1,091.6  
Other income     -      0.3      -      -      0.3  

Total revenues     561.9      370.6      159.4      -      1,091.9  
Costs and expenses                                         

Operating and maintenance expenses (exclusive
   of depreciation shown separately below)     157.4      110.9      69.1      -      337.4  
Depreciation expense     96.0      44.8      16.1      -      156.9  
General and administrative expenses     7.9      6.5      0.7      6.0      21.1  

Total operating costs and expenses     261.3      162.2      85.9      6.0      515.4  
Income (loss) from operations     300.6      208.4      73.5      (6.0)     576.5  

Income from equity investments     -      10.3      -      -      10.3  
Interest expense, net     -      -      -      94.7      94.7  
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment     0.1      -      -      -      0.1  

Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit)     300.7      218.7      73.5      (100.7)     492.2  
Income tax expense (benefit)     -      -      -      7.3      7.3  

Net income (loss)     300.7      218.7      73.5      (108.0)     484.9  
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to
   noncontrolling interest     281.5      205.0      68.8      (94.4)     460.9  
Net income (loss) attributable to Hess Midstream LP   $ 19.2    $ 13.7    $ 4.7    $ (13.6)   $ 24.0  
                                          
Throughput volumes                                         

Gas gathering (MMcf/d)     323                              323  
Crude oil gathering (MBbl/d)     140                              140  
Gas processing (MMcf/d)             306                      306  
Crude oil terminaling (MBbl/d)                     145              145  
NGL loading (MBbl/d)                     14              14  
Water gathering (MBbl/d)     70                              70
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Year ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021 

Gathering

Revenues increased $47.3 million in 2022 compared to 2021, of which $58.7 million is attributable to higher gas gathering MVC levels and physical gas 
gathering volumes due to higher gas capture and $13.4 million is attributable to higher tariff rates. This increase is partially offset by $13.6 million 
attributable to lower crude oil gathering MVC levels and $9.1 million attributable to lower water gathering and disposal MVC levels in 2022 when 
compared to 2021. The remaining decrease of $2.1 million is attributable to lower pass-through revenues.

Operating and maintenance expenses increased $27.1 million, of which $13.6 million is attributable to higher maintenance activity on our expanding 
gathering infrastructure, $8.0 million is attributable to higher employee costs allocated to us under our omnibus and employee secondment agreements 
and $7.6 million is attributable to higher remediation expenses, including the produced water release in August 2022. The Company is working with the 
North Dakota regulatory agencies and affected landowners to remediate impacts of the release. This increase is partially offset by $2.1 million lower pass-
through costs. Depreciation expense increased $6.4 million due to new compressors and other new gathering assets being brought into service. General 
and administrative expenses increased $1.8 million primarily attributable to higher charges from Hess under our omnibus and employee secondment 
agreements.

Processing and Storage

Revenues and other income increased $35.1 million in 2022 compared to 2021, of which $47.0 million is attributable to higher MVC levels and higher 
physical volumes due to higher gas capture. This increase was partially offset by $7.3 million attributable to lower pass-through revenue, including 
electricity and other fees related to temporary gas offloads during the TGP turnaround in 2021, and $4.6 million attributable to lower tariff rates. 

Operating and maintenance expenses decreased $43.4 million, of which $21.0 million is attributable to the TGP turnaround in 2021 and $7.3 million is 
attributable to lower pass-through costs, including electricity and other fees related to temporary offloads during the TGP turnaround in 2021. In addition, 
$7.2 million is attributable to lower third-party processing fees due to lower volumes processed at the LM4 plant, $4.3 million is attributable to lower 
employee costs allocated to us under our omnibus and employee secondment agreements and $3.6 million is attributable to lower other operating costs. 
Depreciation expense increased $9.3 million primarily due to the TGP expansion and turnaround assets placed in service in 2021. General and 
administrative expenses decreased $1.4 million attributable to lower employee costs allocated to us under our omnibus and employee secondment 
agreements.

Income from equity investments decreased $5.3 million in 2022 compared to 2021 primarily due to lower volumes processed and higher maintenance 
expenses at the LM4 plant.

Terminaling and Export 

Revenues and other income decreased $11.0 million in 2022 compared to 2021, of which $14.2 million is attributable to lower MVC levels and $2.2 
million is attributable to lower tariff rates. This decrease was partially offset by $3.4 million attributable to higher rail transportation pass-through revenues 
and $2.0 million attributable to other income. 

Operating and maintenance expenses increased $7.6 million, of which $4.0 million is attributable to higher employee costs allocated to us under our 
omnibus and employee secondment agreements, $3.4 million is attributable to higher rail transportation pass-through costs and $0.2 million is attributable 
to other maintenance activity.

Interest and Other

Interest expense, net of interest income, increased $43.9 million primarily attributable to the $750.0 million 4.25% fixed-rate senior notes issued in 
August 2021, the $400.0 million 5.50% fixed-rate senior notes issued in April 2022 and higher interest rates on the Term Loan A credit facility. Income tax 
expense increased $12.0 million primarily driven by increased ownership of the Partnership by Hess Midstream LP following the equity offering and unit 
repurchase transactions in 2021 and 2022.

Year ended December 31, 2021 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2020 

Gathering

Revenues increased $68.7 million in 2021 compared to 2020, of which $59.6 million is attributable to higher tariff rates, $16.4 million is attributable to 
higher water services revenue and $11.2 million is attributable to higher gas gathering and compression volumes and MVC levels. This increase is 
partially offset by $15.7 million lower pass-through revenues primarily attributable to lower third-party produced water trucking and disposal due to more 
water gathered by pipe and more operated water disposal facilities coming on-line and being utilized. In addition, $2.8 million is attributable to lower crude 
oil gathering volumes driven by reduced drilling activity, partially offset by MVC shortfall fees. 
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Operating and maintenance expenses decreased $14.3 million, of which $15.7 million is attributable to lower pass-through costs primarily related to 

lower third-party produced water trucking and disposal costs and $3.9 million is attributable to lower project-based maintenance activity. This decrease is 
partially offset by $5.3 million higher employee costs allocated to us under our omnibus and employee secondment agreements. Depreciation expense 
increased $5.0 million due to new compressors, produced water disposal facilities and other new gathering assets being brought into service. General and 
administrative expenses increased $1.0 million primarily attributable to higher charges from Hess under our omnibus and employee secondment 
agreements.

Processing and Storage

Revenues and other income increased $65.1 million in 2021 compared to 2020, of which $52.2 million is attributable to higher tariff rates, $7.1 million is 
attributable to higher pass-through revenue, including electricity and other fees related to temporary gas offloads during the TGP turnaround and $6.1 
million is attributable to higher MVC levels. This increase was partially offset by $0.3 million lower other income. 

Operating and maintenance expenses increased $17.5 million, of which $10.4 million is attributable to higher TGP turnaround activity, $7.1 million is 
attributable to higher pass-through costs, including electricity and other fees related to temporary gas offloads during the TGP turnaround, and $4.7 million 
is attributable to higher third-party processing fees. This increase is partially offset by $4.7 million attributable to lower employee costs allocated to us 
under our omnibus and employee secondment agreements. Depreciation expense increased $3.6 million primarily due to the TGP expansion and 
turnaround assets being placed in service.

Terminaling and Export

Revenues and other income decreased $21.9 million in 2021 compared to 2020, of which $50.6 million is attributable to lower rail transportation 
pass‑through revenues. This decrease is partially offset by $19.1 million attributable to higher tariff rates and $9.6 million attributable to higher MVC levels. 

Operating and maintenance expenses decreased $52.3 million, of which $50.6 million is attributable to lower rail transportation pass-through costs and 
$1.7 million is attributable to lower other rail services costs due to lower rail usage and certain rail transportation fees being paid directly by end 
customers.

Interest and Other

General and administrative expenses increased $1.3 million in 2021 compared to 2020 primarily due to higher professional fees. Interest expense, net 
of interest income, increased $10.7 million primarily attributable to the $750.0 million 4.25% fixed-rate senior notes issued in connection with the 2021 
repurchase transaction. Income tax expense increased $7.3 million driven by higher income before income tax expense and increased ownership of the 
Partnership by the Company following the 2021 equity transactions.

Other Factors Expected to Significantly Affect Our Future Results

We currently generate substantially all of our revenues under fee‑based commercial agreements with Hess, including third parties contracted with 
affiliates of Hess. These contracts provide cash flow stability and minimize our direct exposure to commodity price fluctuations, since we generally do not 
own any of the crude oil, natural gas, or NGLs that we handle and do not engage in the trading of crude oil, natural gas, or NGLs. However, commodity 
price fluctuations indirectly influence our activities and results of operations over the long-term, since they can affect production rates and investments by 
Hess and third parties in the development of new crude oil and natural gas reserves. The markets for oil and natural gas are volatile and will likely 
continue to be volatile in the future. In the second quarter of 2020, as a result of the sharp decline in crude oil prices, Hess reduced its rig count from six 
rigs to one rig in the Bakken. In addition, third parties in the Bakken also curtailed production and reduced drilling activity. Our contract structure has 
largely offset and is expected to continue to offset potential impact of the reduction in volumes on our financial performance metrics through the initial term 
of our commercial agreements, as our minimum volume commitments provide minimum levels of cash flows and the fee recalculation mechanisms under 
our agreements support our cash flow stability. Subsequently, Hess increased its rig count in the Bakken to three operated rigs in September 2021, and 
to four operated rigs in July 2022. To the extent our plans include revenues for volumes above currently established MVC levels, such revenues could 
decline to the MVC levels as a result of market volatility. For our oil gathering and terminaling revenues, we expect to be at or below MVC levels in 2023, 
and above currently established MVC levels in 2024 and 2025. For our gas gathering and processing revenues, we expect to be above currently 
established MVC levels in 2023-2025. 
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The throughput volumes at our facilities depend primarily on the volumes of crude oil and natural gas produced by Hess in the Bakken, which, in turn, 
is ultimately dependent on Hess’ exploration and production margins. Exploration and production margins depend on the price of crude oil, natural gas, 
and NGLs. These prices are volatile and influenced by numerous factors beyond our or Hess’ control, including the domestic and global supply of and 
demand for crude oil, natural gas and NGLs. During the first quarter of 2020, worldwide crude oil prices declined significantly due in part to reduced global 
demand stemming from the COVID-19 global pandemic. Sustained periods of low prices for oil and natural gas could materially and adversely affect the 
quantities of oil and natural gas that Hess can economically produce. The commodities trading markets, as well as global and regional supply and 
demand factors, may also influence the selling prices of crude oil, natural gas and NGLs. 

The Secondary Term of our commercial agreements includes continuing MVCs, while the fees change to a fixed fee structure based on the average 
fees paid by Hess during the last three years of the Initial Term of the commercial agreements adjusted annually for inflation up to 3% a year. Such a fee 
structure may provide less downside risk protection in the future. Furthermore, our ability to execute our growth strategy in the Bakken, including 
attracting third-party volumes, will depend on crude oil and natural gas production in that area, which is also affected by the supply of and demand for 
crude oil and natural gas. 

Reconciliation of Non‑GAAP Financial Measures

The following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow to net income and net cash provided by operating 
activities, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures, for each of the periods indicated.
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
(in millions)  2022   2021   2020  
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA and Distributable 
   Cash Flow to net income:          
Net income  $ 620.6   $ 617.8   $ 484.9  
Plus:          
Depreciation expense   181.3    165.6    156.9  
Proportional share of equity affiliates' depreciation   5.1    5.1    5.1  
Interest expense, net   149.3    105.4    94.7  
Income tax expense (benefit)   26.6    14.6    7.3  
Loss (gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment   -    -    (0.1 )

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 982.9   $ 908.5   $ 748.8  
Less:          
Interest, net   140.5    98.1   $ 88.4  
Maintenance capital expenditures   7.2    11.8    7.1  

Distributable cash flow  $ 835.2   $ 798.6   $ 653.3  
          
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA and Distributable Cash Flow 
   to net cash provided by operating activities:          
Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 861.1   $ 795.5   $ 641.7  
Changes in assets and liabilities   (14.5 )   18.0    14.3  
Amortization of deferred financing costs   (8.8 )   (7.3 )   (6.5 )
Proportional share of equity affiliates' depreciation   5.1    5.1    5.1  
Interest expense, net   149.3    105.4    94.7  
Distribution from equity investments   (13.0 )   (17.4 )   (9.7 )
Earnings from equity investments   5.3    10.6    10.3  
Other   (1.6 )   (1.4 )   (1.1 )

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 982.9   $ 908.5   $ 748.8  
Less:          
Interest, net   140.5    98.1    88.4  
Maintenance capital expenditures   7.2    11.8    7.1  

Distributable cash flow  $ 835.2   $ 798.6   $ 653.3  
 

(1) Excludes amortization of deferred financing costs.
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Capital Resources and Liquidity

We expect our ongoing sources of liquidity to include:

• cash on hand;
• cash generated from operations;
• borrowings under our revolving credit facility;
• issuances of additional debt securities; and
• issuances of additional equity securities.

We believe that cash generated from these sources will be sufficient to meet our operating requirements, our planned capital expenditures, debt 
service requirements, our quarterly cash distribution requirements, future internal growth projects or potential acquisitions.

Our partnership agreement requires that we distribute all of our available cash to shareholders. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we made 
distributions of $91.0 million, to the holders of our equity securities representing limited partner interests in us. In addition, the Partnership made 
distributions of $440.2 million to the Sponsors as holders of the Class B Units of the Partnership. On January 23, 2023, we declared a quarterly cash 
distribution of $0.5696 per Class A Share that was paid on February 13, 2023 to shareholders of record on February 2, 2023, and the Partnership made 
distributions of $0.5696 per Class B Unit of the Partnership to the Sponsors.

On August 16, 2022 the United States enacted the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, which includes a 15% book-income alternative minimum tax on 
corporations with average adjusted financial statement income over $1 billion for any 3-year period ending with 2022 or later and a 1% excise tax on the 
fair market value of stock that is repurchased by publicly traded U.S. corporations. The alternative minimum tax and the excise tax are effective in taxable 
years beginning after December 31, 2022. We continue to evaluate the effect of the new law and any additional guidance on our future cash flows and 
financial results, including if we become a taxpayer for the alternative minimum tax in the future. 

Fixed‑Rate Senior Notes

In April 2022, the Partnership issued $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.500% fixed-rate senior unsecured notes due 2030 to qualified 
institutional investors. Interest is payable semi-annually on April 15 and October 15, commencing October 15, 2022. The Partnership used the proceeds 
to repay the borrowings under its revolving credit facility used to finance the April 4, 2022, repurchase transaction.

In August 2021, the Partnership issued $750.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.250% fixed‑rate senior unsecured notes due 2030 to qualified 
institutional investors. Interest is payable semi‑annually on February 15 and August 15. The Partnership used the proceeds to fund the August 10, 2021 
repurchase transaction.

In December 2019, the Partnership issued $550.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.125% fixed‑rate senior unsecured notes due 2028 to 
qualified institutional investors. Interest is payable semi‑annually on June 15 and December 15. The Partnership used the net proceeds to finance the 
acquisition of HIP, including to repay borrowings under HIP’s credit facilities, and pay related fees and expenses. 

In December 2019, in connection with the Restructuring, the Partnership assumed $800.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.625% outstanding 
fixed-rate senior unsecured notes of HIP in a par-for-par exchange for newly issued 5.625% senior notes due 2026 of the Partnership. Interest is payable 
semi‑annually on February 15 and August 15. 

The notes described above are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Partnership. Each of the indentures for the senior notes described above 
contains customary covenants that restrict our ability and the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to (i) declare or pay any dividend or make any other 
restricted payments; (ii) transfer or sell assets or subsidiary stock; (iii) incur additional debt; or (iv) make restricted investments, unless, at the time of and 
immediately after giving pro forma effect to such restricted payments and any related incurrence of indebtedness or other transactions, no default has 
occurred and is continuing or would occur as a consequence of such restricted payment and if the leverage ratio does not exceed 4.25 to 1.00. As of 
December 31, 2022, we were in compliance with all debt covenants under the indentures.
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In addition, the covenants included in the indentures governing the senior notes contain provisions that allow the Company to satisfy the Partnership’s 

reporting obligations under the indentures, as long as any such financial information of the Company contains information reasonably sufficient to identify 
the material differences, if any, between the financial information of the Company, on the one hand, and the Partnership and its subsidiaries on a stand-
alone basis, on the other hand and the Company does not directly own capital stock of any person other than the Partnership and its subsidiaries, or 
material business operations that would not be consolidated with the financial results of the Partnership and its subsidiaries. The Company is a holding 
company and has no independent assets or operations. Other than the interest in the Partnership and the effect of federal and state income taxes that are 
recognized at the Company level, there are no material differences between the consolidated financial statements of the Partnership and the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company. 

Credit Facilities

On July 14, 2022, the Partnership amended and restated its existing credit agreement for its senior secured credit facilities (the “Credit Facilities”) 
consisting of a $1,000.0 million 5-year revolving credit facility and a fully drawn $400.0 million 5-year Term Loan A facility, resulting in an incremental 
$20.0 million drawn on the term loan facility at closing. The amended and restated Credit Facilities mature in July 2027. Facility fees accrue on the total 
capacity of the revolving credit facility. Borrowings under the 5-year Term Loan A facility generally bear interest at Secured Overnight Financing Rate 
(”SOFR”) plus the applicable margin ranging from 1.65% to 2.55%, while the applicable margin for the 5-year syndicated revolving credit facility ranges 
from 1.375% to 2.050%. Pricing levels for the facility fee and interest rate margins are based on the Partnership’s ratio of total debt to EBITDA (as defined 
in the Credit Facilities). If the Partnership obtains an investment grade credit rating, the pricing levels will be based on the Partnership’s credit ratings in 
effect from time to time. At December 31, 2022, borrowings of $18.0 million were drawn and outstanding under the Partnership’s revolving credit facility, 
and borrowings of $400.0 million, excluding deferred issuance costs, were drawn and outstanding under the Partnership’s Term Loan A facility.

The Credit Facilities can be used for borrowings and letters of credit for general corporate purposes. The Credit Facilities are guaranteed by each direct 
and indirect wholly owned material domestic subsidiary of the Partnership, and are secured by first priority perfected liens on substantially all of the 
presently owned and after-acquired assets of the Partnership and its direct and indirect wholly owned material domestic subsidiaries, including equity 
interests directly owned by such entities, subject to certain customary exclusions. The Credit Facilities contain representations and warranties, affirmative 
and negative covenants and events of default that the Partnership considers to be customary for an agreement of this type, including a covenant that 
requires the Partnership to maintain a ratio of total debt to EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Facilities) for the prior four fiscal quarters of not greater than 
5.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter (5.50 to 1.00 during the specified period following certain acquisitions) and, prior to the Partnership 
obtaining an investment grade credit rating, a ratio of secured debt to EBITDA for the prior four fiscal quarters of not greater than 4.00 to 1.00 as of the 
last day of each fiscal quarter. As of December 31, 2022, we were in compliance with these financial covenants.

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows (in millions):
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2022   2021   2020  

Cash flows from operating activities  $ 861.1   $ 795.5   $ 641.7  
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities   (238.2 )   (163.2 )   (301.0 )
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities   (622.0 )   (632.7 )   (341.4 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  $ 0.9   $ (0.4 )  $ (0.7 )

 

Operating Activities. Cash flows provided by operating activities increased $65.6 million in 2022 compared to 2021. The change in operating cash flows 
resulted from an increase in revenues and other income of $71.4 million, an increase in cash provided by changes in working capital of $32.5 million, 
partially offset by an increase in expenses, other than depreciation, amortization, equity-based compensation and other non-cash gains and losses of 
$33.9 million and a decrease in distributions received from equity investments of $4.4 million.

Cash flows provided by operating activities increased $153.8 million in 2021 compared to 2020. The change in operating cash flows resulted from an 
increase in revenues and other income of $111.9 million, a decrease in expenses, other than depreciation, amortization, equity-based compensation and 
other non-cash gains and losses of $37.9 million and an increase in distributions from equity investments of $7.7 million, partially offset by a decrease in 
cash provided by changes in working capital of $3.7 million.

Investing Activities. Cash flows used in investing activities increased $75.0 million in 2022 compared to 2021 driven by higher payments for additions to 
property, plant, and equipment primarily related to our compression capacity expansion capital program. 

Cash flows used in investing activities decreased $137.8 million in 2021 compared to 2020. The decrease in investing cash outflows resulted from 
lower payments for capital expenditures of $137.9 million primarily due to completion of the TGP expansion, partially offset by lower proceeds from the 
sale of property, plant and equipment of $0.1 million. 
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Financing Activities. Cash flows used in financing activities decreased $10.7 million in 2022 compared to 2021. In 2022, we issued $400.0 million 

aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior notes that we used to repay the borrowings under our revolving credit facility used to finance the 2022 
repurchase transaction. In 2022, we also had lower net repayments on our debt of $12.3 million, net of any changes in financing costs, and $0.6 million 
lower transaction costs related to unit repurchase transactions, partially offset by higher distributions to shareholders and noncontrolling interest of $2.2 
million. 

Cash flows used in financing activities increased $291.3 million in 2021 compared to 2020. In 2021, we issued $750.0 million aggregate principal 
amount of unsecured senior notes that we used to fund the $750 million Class B unit repurchase transaction. In 2021, we also had lower borrowings under 
our credit facilities of $252.3 million, net of any changes in financing costs, higher distributions to shareholders and noncontrolling interest of $35.3 million, 
and $2.1 million of transaction costs related to the 2021 repurchase transaction compared to the same period last year. The remaining change of $1.6 
million represents a final settlement received from Hess in 2020 related to our previous acquisition of Hess Water Services. 

Capital Expenditures

Our operations can be capital intensive, requiring investments to expand, upgrade, maintain or enhance existing operations and to meet environmental 
and operational regulations. Our partnership agreement requires that we distinguish between maintenance capital expenditures and expansion capital 
expenditures. Maintenance capital expenditures are capital expenditures made to maintain, over the long term, our operating capacity, operating income 
or revenue. Examples of maintenance capital expenditures are expenditures to repair, refurbish or replace existing assets, to maintain equipment 
reliability, integrity and safety and to address environmental laws and regulations. In contrast, expansion capital expenditures are expenditures incurred 
for acquisitions or capital improvements that we expect will increase our operating capacity, operating income or revenue over the long term. Examples of 
expansion capital expenditures include the acquisition of equipment, construction, development or acquisition of additional capacity, or expenditures for 
connecting additional wells to our gathering systems, to the extent such capital expenditures are expected to expand our long‑term operating capacity, 
operating income or revenue.

The following table sets forth a summary of maintenance and expansion capital expenditures and reconciles capital expenditures on an accrual basis 
to additions to property, plant and equipment on a cash basis:

 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2022   2021   2020  
(in millions)          
Expansion capital expenditures  $ 224.6   $ 171.2   $ 245.9  
Maintenance capital expenditures   7.2    11.8    7.1  
Total capital expenditures   231.8    183.0    253.0  
(Increase) decrease in accrued capital expenditures   2.4    (12.9 )   21.1  
(Increase) decrease in capital expenditures included 
   in accounts payable - affiliate   4.0    (6.9 )   27.0  
Additions to property, plant and equipment  $ 238.2   $ 163.2   $ 301.1  

 

Capital expenditures in 2022 are primarily attributable to continued expansion of our compression capacity and gas capture capabilities to meet Hess' 
and third parties' current and future production growth and gas capture targets. The activities focused on the construction of two new greenfield 
compressor stations and associated pipeline infrastructure, which were placed in service in March and September 2022, respectively. In aggregate, the 
new stations provide an additional 85 MMcf/d of installed capacity and can be expanded up to 130 MMcf/d in the future. 

Expansion capital expenditures in 2021 are also attributable to continued expansion of our compression capacity and gas capture capabilities. 
Maintenance capital expenditures in 2021 are primarily related to the TGP turnaround. 

In 2020, we completed construction and preservation activities for the 150 MMcf/d TGP expansion, which was brought in service in the fourth quarter 
of 2021. Capital expenditures in 2020 also relate to continued expansion of our compression capacity and gas capture capabilities. 
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Cash Requirements 

Our cash requirements within the next twelve months include accounts payables, accrued liabilities, the current portion of long-term debt, interest, 
purchase obligations, which include a portion of our planned capital expenditure program in 2023, and other liabilities.

Our long-term contractual obligations and commitments include:

• Debt and interest: See Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Note 7, Debt and Interest Expense.
• Purchase obligations: See Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Note 12, Commitments and Contingencies.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered into any transactions, agreements or other contractual arrangements that would result in off‑balance sheet liabilities.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Accounting policies and estimates affect the recognition of assets and liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets and revenues and expenses in our 
consolidated statements of operations. The accounting methods used can affect net income, partners’ capital and various financial statement ratios. 
However, the accounting methods generally do not change cash flows or liquidity. We consider the following policies to be the most critical in 
understanding the judgments that are involved in preparing our financial statements and the uncertainties that could impact our financial condition and 
results of operations.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at the lower of historical cost less accumulated depreciation, subject to the results of impairment testing. We 
capitalize all construction-related direct labor and material costs, as well as indirect construction costs. Indirect construction costs include general 
engineering, taxes and the cost of funds used during construction of material projects. Costs, including complete asset replacements and enhancements 
or upgrades that increase the original efficiency, productivity or capacity of property, plant and equipment, are also capitalized. The costs of repairs, minor 
replacements and other projects, which do not increase the original efficiency, productivity or capacity of property, plant and equipment, are expensed as 
incurred. The determination of cost componentization and related estimated useful lives is a significant element in arriving at the results of operations. The 
estimates affect depreciation expense in our accompanying consolidated statements of operations and balance sheets, as described below.

Depreciation Expense

We calculate depreciation using the straight‑line method based on the estimated useful lives after considering salvage values of our assets. When 
assets are placed into service, we make estimates with respect to their useful lives that we believe are reasonable. Depreciation lives related to our 
significant assets primarily range between 12 to 35 years. However, factors such as maintenance levels, economic conditions impacting the demand for 
these assets, and regulatory or environmental requirements are inherently uncertain and could cause us to change our estimates, and impact our future 
calculation of depreciation. The determination of estimated useful lives is a significant element in arriving at depreciation expense. The estimates affect 
depreciation expense and cost componentization in our accompanying consolidated statements of operations and balance sheets. These estimates and 
assumptions have not changed during the periods included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of Long‑Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate the net book values of the assets may not 
be recoverable. Factors that indicate potential impairment include a significant decrease in the market value of the asset, operating or cash flow losses 
associated with the use of the asset, and a significant change in the asset’s physical condition or use. Impairment is indicated when the undiscounted 
cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the assets’ net book value. Undiscounted cash flows are based on identifiable cash 
flows that are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If impairment occurs, a loss is recognized for the difference between fair 
value and net book value. Such fair value is generally determined by discounting anticipated future net cash flows, an income valuation approach, or by a 
market-based valuation approach, which are Level 3 fair value measurements. Assumptions and estimates about future cash flows and fair values are 
complex and subject to significant uncertainty. These assumptions and estimates can be affected by a variety of factors, including external factors such 
as industry and economic trends that are outside of our control and internal factors such as changes in our business strategy and our internal forecasts. 
No impairments of long-lived assets were recorded during the periods included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The determination 
of impairments could be a significant element in arriving at the results of operations. Impairment charges would impact total operating costs and expenses 
and net Property, Plant & Equipment in our accompanying consolidated statements of operations and balance sheets.
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Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, we may become party to lawsuits, administrative proceedings and governmental investigations, including 
environmental, regulatory and other matters, the outcomes of which are inherently uncertain. Damages or penalties may be sought from us in some 
matters for which the likelihood of loss may be probable or possible but the amount of loss is not currently estimable. Costs that relate to an existing 
condition caused by past operations are expensed. Contingent liabilities are recorded when probable and reasonably estimable, the determination of 
which requires significant judgement and is subject to inherent uncertainty. On August, 12, 2022, the Company became aware of a produced water 
release from an underground pipeline located approximately 8 miles north of Ray, North Dakota. At this time, it is estimated that approximately 34,000 
barrels of produced water were released, causing impacts to soils, crops, and groundwater. The Company has recorded reserves for the estimated future 
costs to investigate and remediate impacts of the release. See Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Note 12, Commitments and 
Contingencies. Estimates related to contingencies affect operating expenses in our accompanying consolidated statements of operations and liabilities in 
our balance sheets.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. We generally do not take ownership of the crude oil, natural gas 
or NGLs that we currently gather, process, terminal, store or transport for our customers. Because we generate substantially all of our revenues by 
charging fees under long-term commercial agreements with Hess with minimum volume commitments, Hess bears the risks associated with fluctuating 
commodity prices and we have minimal direct exposure to commodity prices.

In the normal course of our business, we are exposed to market risks related to changes in interest rates. Our financial risk management activities may 
include transactions designed to reduce risk by reducing our exposure to interest rate movements. Interest rate swaps may be used to convert interest 
payments on certain long‑term debt. At December 31, 2022, we did not have in place any derivative instruments to hedge any exposure to changes in 
interest rates.

At December 31, 2022, our total debt had a carrying value of $2,885.6 million and a fair value of approximately $2,720.7 million, based on Level 2 
inputs in the fair value measurement hierarchy. A 15% increase or decrease in interest rates would decrease or increase the fair value of our fixed rate 
debt by approximately $103.6 million or $110.4 million, respectively. The carrying value of the amounts under our Term Loan A facility and revolving credit 
facility at the year-end approximated their fair value. Any changes in interest rates do not impact cash outflows associated with fixed rate interest 
payments or settlement of debt principal, unless a debt instrument is repurchased prior to maturity. A hypothetical change of 100 basis points in the rate of 
our variable interest rate debt would impact annual interest expense by $4.2 million based on our December 31, 2022, debt balances.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
To the Board of Directors of Hess Midstream GP LLC and 
Shareholders of Hess Midstream LP
 
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Hess Midstream LP’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO 
criteria). In our opinion, Hess Midstream LP (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2022, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the 
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive 
income, changes in partners’ capital, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes and our 
report dated February 27, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm 
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation 
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
/s/  Ernst & Young LLP
Houston, Texas
February 27, 2023
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors of Hess Midstream GP LLC and
Shareholders of Hess Midstream LP
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hess Midstream LP (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the 
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in partners’ capital, and cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the 
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 27, 2023 expressed an 
unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to 
the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission 
and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included 
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures 
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or 
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) 
involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion 
on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

    Presentation and Disclosure of Related Party Transactions with Hess Corporation
  

Description of the 
Matter

  As described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company is part of the consolidated operations of Hess 
Corporation and its affiliates (“Hess”) and engages, in the normal course of business, in related party transactions with Hess. 
  
Auditing the presentation and disclosure of these related party transactions, including the completeness thereof, was 
challenging due to Hess’ involvement in many aspects of the Company’s business, including the revenue earned from 
providing various services under long-term, fee-based contracts, and the direct and allocated expenses charged from Hess for 
services provided under commercial agreements and employee secondment and omnibus agreements. 
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How We 
Addressed the 
Matter in Our 
Audit

  We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company’s 
process of identifying and disclosing related party transactions with Hess. 
  
To test the completeness of these related party transactions, we obtained a listing of the Company’s related party relationships 
and compared the listing to the Company’s legal structure and evidence obtained from other audit procedures including, 
among others, inquiries of management and the audit committee, review of the board of directors and other committee 
meeting minutes, review of contracts, and testing of revenue and expense transactions. In addition, we tested transactions for 
appropriate classification as related-party or third-party transactions in revenue, expense and balance sheet accounts, and 
their compliance with the related terms of the agreements, by inspecting source documentation and evaluating the 
aggregation and presentation of related party financial statement line items.
  

 

 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.
Houston, Texas
February 27, 2023
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HESS MIDSTREAM LP

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

 December 31,   December 31,  
 2022   2021  

(in millions, except share amounts)      
Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents $

        
         3.1

  $

        
         2.2

 
Accounts receivable—affiliate:      

From contracts with customers  

        
         123.0

   

        
         120.3

 

Other current assets  

        
         6.2

   

        
         10.6

 

Total current assets  

        
         132.3

   

        
         133.1

 

Equity investments  

        
         93.9

   

        
         101.6

 

Property, plant and equipment, net  

        
         3,172.8

   

        
         3,125.0

 

Long-term receivable—affiliate  

        
         0.7

   

        
         0.8

 

Deferred tax asset  

        
         177.2

   

        
         117.3

 

Other noncurrent assets  

        
         11.3

   

        
         7.8

 

Total assets $

        
         3,588.2

  $

        
         3,485.6

 
Liabilities      

Accounts payable—trade $

        
         35.0

  $

        
         26.9

 

Accounts payable—affiliate  

        
         27.7

   

        
         37.6

 

Accrued liabilities  

        
         82.9

   

        
         76.2

 

Current maturities of long-term debt  

        
         2.5

   

        
         20.0

 

Other current liabilities  

        
         11.4

   

        
         10.2

 

Total current liabilities  

        
         159.5

   

        
         170.9

 

Long-term debt  

        
         2,883.1

   

        
         2,543.5

 

Deferred tax liability  

        
         0.5

   

        
         0.4

 



Other noncurrent liabilities  

        
         16.1

   

        
         17.7

 

Total liabilities  

        
         3,059.2

   

        
         2,732.5

 
Partners' capital      

Class A shares (
        
         
          44,002,846
         
         shares issued and outstanding as of 
   December 31, 2022; 
        
         
          33,672,068
         
         shares issued and outstanding 
   as of December 31, 2021)  

        
         245.1

   

        
         204.1

 
Class B shares (
        
         
          195,847,606
         
         shares issued and outstanding as of 
  December 31, 2022; 
        
         
          219,641,928
         
         shares issued and outstanding as of 
   December 31, 2021)  -    -  

Total Class A and Class B partners' capital  

        
         245.1

   

        
         204.1

 

Noncontrolling interest  

        
         283.9

   

        
         549.0

 

Total partners' capital  

        
         529.0

   

        
         753.1

 

Total liabilities and partners' capital $

        
         3,588.2

  $

        
         3,485.6

 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HESS MIDSTREAM LP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2022   2021   2020  

(in millions, except per share data)          

Revenues          

Affiliate services  $

        
         1,273.2

  $

        
         1,203.8

  $

        
         1,091.6

 

Other income   

        
         2.0

   -    

        
         0.3

 

Total revenues   

        
         1,275.2

   

        
         1,203.8

   

        
         1,091.9

 
Costs and expenses          

Operating and maintenance expenses (exclusive of 
   depreciation shown separately below)   

        
         279.6

   

        
         288.3

   

        
         337.4

 

Depreciation expense   

        
         181.3

   

        
         165.6

   

        
         156.9

 

General and administrative expenses   

        
         23.1

   

        
         22.7

   

        
         21.1

 

Total operating costs and expenses   

        
         484.0

   

        
         476.6

   

        
         515.4

 

Income from operations   

        
         791.2

   

        
         727.2

   

        
         576.5

 

Income from equity investments   

        
         5.3

   

        
         10.6

   

        
         10.3

 

Interest expense, net   

        
         149.3

   

        
         105.4

   

        
         94.7

 

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment   -    -    

        
         0.1

 

Income before income tax expense   

        
         647.2

   

        
         632.4

   

        
         492.2

 

Income tax expense   

        
         26.6

   

        
         14.6

   

        
         7.3

 

Net income   

        
         620.6

   

        
         617.8

   

        
         484.9

 

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest   

        
         536.7

   

        
         571.4

   

        
         460.9

 

Net income attributable to Hess Midstream LP  $

        
         83.9

  $

        
         46.4

  $

        
         24.0

 
          
Net income attributable to Hess Midstream LP 
   per Class A share:          

Basic  $

        
         2.03

  $

        
         1.81

  $

        
         1.33

 



Diluted  $

        
         2.01

  $

        
         1.76

  $

        
         1.31

 
Weighted average Class A shares outstanding          

Basic   

        
         41.3

   

        
         25.6

   

        
         18.0

 

Diluted   

        
         41.4

   

        
         25.7

   

        
         18.1

 
  
 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HESS MIDSTREAM LP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2022   2021   2020  
(in millions)          

Net income  $

        
         620.6

  $

        
         617.8

  $

        
         484.9

 
Other comprehensive income          

Effect of hedge (gains) losses reclassified to income   -    -    

(
        

         0.4
)

Total other comprehensive income   -    -    

(
        

         0.4
)

Comprehensive income   

        
         620.6

   

        
         617.8

   

        
         484.5

 

Less: Comprehensive income (loss) attributable 
   to noncontrolling interest   

        
         536.7

   

        
         571.4

   

        
         460.5

 

Comprehensive income attributable to Hess Midstream LP  $

        
         83.9

  $

        
         46.4

  $

        
         24.0

 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HESS MIDSTREAM LP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PARTNERS’ CAPITAL
 

 Partners' Capital           

 Class
A

Shares   

Class
B

Shares   
Noncontrolling

Interest  

 

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income  

 

Total  
(in millions)               

Balance at December 31, 2019

$

        

131.1
  $ -   $

        
         1,200.6

 

 

$

        
         0.4

 

 

$

        
         1,332.1

 

Net income

 

        

24.0
   -    

        
         460.9

 

 

 -  

 

 

        
         484.9

 

Equity-based compensation

 

        

1.5
   -    -  

 

 -  

 

 

        
         1.5

 

Distributions - $
        
         1.7348
         per share

 

(
        

31.6
)   -    

(
        

         462.1
)

 

 -  

 

 

(
        

         493.7
)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

 -    -    -  

 

 

(
        

         0.4
)

 

 

(
        

         0.4
)

Hess Water Services acquisition final settlement

 -    -    

        
         1.6

 

 

 -  

 

 

        
         1.6

 

Balance at December 31, 2020

$

        

125.0
  $ -   $

        
         1,201.0

 

 

$ -  

 

$

        
         1,326.0

 

Net income

 

        

46.4
   -    

        
         571.4

 

 

 -  

 

 

        
         617.8

 

Equity-based compensation

 

        

1.4
   -    -  

 

 -  

 

 

        
         1.4

 

Distributions - $
        
         1.9143
         per share

 

(
        

49.4
)   -    

(
        

         479.6
)

 

 -  

 

 

(
        

         529.0
)

Recognition of deferred tax asset

 

        

89.0
   -    -  

 

 -  

 

 

        
         89.0

 

Sale of shares held by Sponsors

 

        

52.4
   -    

(
        

         52.4
)

 

 -  

 

 -  

Class B unit repurchase

 

(
        

60.4
)   -    

(
        

         689.6
)

 

 -  

 

 

(
        

         750.0
)

Transaction costs

 

(
        

0.3
)   -    

(
        

         1.8
)

 

 -  

 

 

(
        

         2.1
)

Balance at December 31, 2021

$

        

204.1
  $ -   $

        
         549.0

 

 

$ -  

 

$

        
         753.1

 



Net income

 

        

83.9

   -    

        
         536.7

 

 

 -  

 

 

        
         620.6

 

Equity-based compensation

 

        

1.6
   -    -  

 

 -  

 

 

        
         1.6

 

Distributions - $
        
         2.1845
         per share

 

(
        

91.0
)   -    

(
        

         440.2
)

 

 -  

 

 

(
        

         531.2
)

Recognition of deferred tax asset

 

        

86.4
   -    -  

 

 -  

 

 

        
         86.4

 

Sale of shares held by Sponsors

 

        

27.0
   -    

(
        

         27.0
)

 

 -  

 

 -  

Class B unit repurchase

 

(
        

66.6
)   -    

(
        

         333.4
)

 

 -  

 

 

(
        

         400.0
)

Transaction costs

 

(
        

0.3
)      

(
        

         1.2
)

 

  

 

 

(
        

         1.5
)

Balance at December 31, 2022

$

        

245.1
  $ -   $

        
         283.9

 

 

$ -  

 

$

        
         529.0

 

  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HESS MIDSTREAM LP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2022   2021   2020  
(in millions)          
Cash flows from operating activities          

Net income  $

        
         620.6

  $

        
         617.8

  $

        
         484.9

 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) 
   operating activities:          

Depreciation expense   

        
         181.3

   

        
         165.6

   

        
         156.9

 

(Gain) loss on sale of property, plant and equipment   -    -    

(
        

         0.1
)

(Gain) loss on interest rate swaps   -    -    

(
        

         0.4
)

(Income) loss from equity investments   

(
        

         5.3
)   

(
        

         10.6
)   

(
        

         10.3
)

Distributions from equity investments   

        
         13.0

   

        
         17.4

   

        
         9.7

 

Amortization of deferred financing costs   

        
         8.8

   

        
         7.3

   

        
         6.5

 

Equity-based compensation expense   

        
         1.6

   

        
         1.4

   

        
         1.5

 

Deferred income tax expense (benefit)   

        
         26.6

   

        
         14.6

   

        
         7.3

 
Changes in assets and liabilities:          

Accounts receivable – affiliate   

(
        

         2.6
)   

(
        

         27.0
)   

(
        

         5.0
)

Other current and noncurrent assets   

        
         3.5

   

(
        

         5.1
)   

(
        

         0.7
)

Accounts payable – trade   

        
         8.1

   

(
        

         3.1
)   

(
        

         0.6
)

Accounts payable – affiliate   

(
        

         5.8
)   

        
         9.7

   

        
         0.1

 

Accrued liabilities   

        
         9.1

   

        
         9.2

   

(
        

         11.4
)

Other current and noncurrent liabilities   

        
         2.2

   

(
        

         1.7
)   

        
         3.3

 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   

        
         861.1

   

        
         795.5

   

        
         641.7

 
Cash flows from investing activities          

Additions to property, plant and equipment   

(
        

         238.2
)   

(
        

         163.2
)   

(
        

         301.1
)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   -    -    

        
         0.1

 



Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   

(
        

         238.2
)   

(
        

         163.2
)   

(
        

         301.0
)

Cash flows from financing activities          

Net proceeds from (repayments of) bank borrowings with maturities of 90 
   days or less   

(
        

         86.0
)   

(
        

         80.0
)   

        
         152.0

 
Bank borrowings with maturities of greater than 90 days          

Borrowings   

        
         20.0

   -    -  

Repayments   

(
        

         10.0
)   

(
        

         10.0
)   -  

Proceeds from issuance of senior notes   

        
         400.0

   

        
         750.0

   -  

Financing costs   

(
        

         13.3
)   

(
        

         11.6
)   

(
        

         1.3
)

Transaction costs   

(
        

         1.5
)   

(
        

         2.1
)   -  

Class B unit repurchase   

(
        

         400.0
)   

(
        

         750.0
)   -  

Distributions to shareholders   

(
        

         91.0
)   

(
        

         49.4
)   

(
        

         31.6
)

Distributions to noncontrolling interest   

(
        

         440.2
)   

(
        

         479.6
)   

(
        

         462.1
)

Capital contributions (distributions) to Hess associated with acquisitions   -    -    

        
         1.6

 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   

(
        

         622.0
)   

(
        

         632.7
)   

(
        

         341.4
)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   

        
         0.9

   

(
        

         0.4
)   

(
        

         0.7
)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   

        
         2.2

   

        
         2.6

   

        
         3.3

 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $

        
         3.1

  $

        
         2.2

  $

        
         2.6

 
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:          

(Increase) decrease in accrued capital expenditures and related liabilities  $

        
         6.5

  $

(
        

         19.8
)  $

        
         48.1

 

Recognition of deferred tax asset  $

        
         86.4

  $

        
         89.0

  $ -  

Tioga System Acquisition contingent liability adjustment  $

(
        

         2.9
)  $

(
        

         4.1
)  $

(
        

         3.0
)

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HESS MIDSTREAM LP

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this report to the “Company,” “we,” “our,” “us” or like terms, refer to Hess Midstream LP and its 
subsidiaries. The “Partnership” refers to Hess Midstream Operations LP (formerly Hess Midstream Partners LP), a consolidated subsidiary of the 
Company. Our “general partner” refers to Hess Midstream GP LP. “Hess” refers collectively to Hess Corporation and its subsidiaries, other than us.

Note 1. Description of Business

Description of Business. We are a fee-based, growth-oriented, Delaware limited partnership formed by Hess Infrastructure Partners GP LLC, the 
general partner of Hess Infrastructure Partners LP ("HIP"), and our general partner to own, operate, develop and acquire a diverse set of midstream 
assets and provide fee-based services to Hess and third-party customers. HIP was originally formed in 2015 as a 
      
       50
      /
      
       50
       joint venture between Hess and Global Infrastructure Partners ("GIP" and, together with Hess, the "Sponsors"). We are managed and controlled by 
Hess Midstream GP LLC, the general partner of our general partner. 

On April 10, 2017, we completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) as a master limited partnership, pursuant to which HIP contributed to the Partnership 
a 
      
       20
      % controlling economic interest in each of (i) Hess North Dakota Pipelines Operations LP; (ii) Hess TGP Operations LP; and (iii) Hess North Dakota 
Export Logistics Operations LP (collectively, the “Joint Interest Assets”) and a 
      
       100
      % interest in Hess Mentor Storage Holdings LLC. HIP owned the remaining 
      
       80
      % economic interest in the Joint Interest Assets, a 
      
       100
      % interest in certain other businesses, including Hess’ Bakken water services business (“Hess Water Services”), which it acquired from Hess on 
March 1, 2019, and a 
      
       100
      % interest in Hess Midstream Partners GP LP (“MLP GP LP”), which held all of the Partnership’s outstanding incentive distribution rights and the 
general partner interest in the Partnership, and controlled the Partnership. 

On December 16, 2019, the Company and the Partnership completed the transactions (the “Restructuring”) contemplated by the Partnership 
Restructuring Agreement, dated October 3, 2019, by and among the Company, the Partnership and the other parties thereto. Pursuant to the 
Restructuring, the Partnership acquired HIP, including HIP’s 
      
       80
      % interest in the Joint Interest Assets, 
      
       100
      % interest in Hess Water Services and the outstanding economic general partner interest and incentive distribution rights in the Partnership. The 
Partnership’s organizational structure converted from a master limited partnership into an “Up-C” structure in which the Partnership’s public unitholders 
received newly issued Class A Shares in the Company in a one-for-one exchange. Class A Shares commenced trading on the New York Stock Exchange 
under the former symbol “HESM” on December 17, 2019. As a result of the Restructuring, the Company was delegated control of the Partnership and 
replaced the Partnership as its publicly traded successor. The Partnership changed its name to “Hess Midstream Operations LP” and became a 
consolidated subsidiary of the Company. After consummation of the Restructuring, the Sponsors and their affiliates own an aggregate of 
      
       898,000
       Class A shares in the Company, all of the Class B units representing noncontrolling limited partner interests in the Partnership, 
      
       100
      % interest in the general partner of the Company and, through their ownership of the general partner, continue to have the right to elect the entire 
board of directors.

Our assets are primarily located in the Bakken and Three Forks shale plays in the Williston Basin area of North Dakota, which we collectively refer to 
as the Bakken. Our assets and operations are organized into the following 
      
       three
       segments: (i) gathering, (ii) processing and storage and (iii) terminaling and export (see Note 13, Segments).

Significant Activities. In 2022, we brought online two new greenfield compressor stations. In aggregate, the new stations provide an additional 
      
       85
       MMcf/d of installed capacity and can be expanded up to 
      
       130
       MMcf/d in the future.

In 2020, we completed construction of a 
      
       150
       MMcf/d natural gas processing capacity expansion at our Tioga Gas Plant (“TGP”). In the third quarter of 2021, we safely and successfully completed 
the planned maintenance turnaround at TGP, during which a series of plant tie-ins for the TGP expansion were also completed. The expansion was 
placed in service in October 2021. Total processing capacity of 
      
       400
       MMcf/d became available concurrent with the completion of a third-party residue export expansion in February 2022.

 LM4 Joint Venture. On January 25, 2018, we entered into a 
      
       50



      /
      
       50
       joint venture with Targa Resources Corp. (“Targa”) to construct a new 
      
       200
       MMcf/d gas processing plant called Little Missouri 4 (“LM4”). LM4 was placed in service in the third quarter of 2019. Targa is the operator of the 
plant. See Note 4, Related Party Transactions.
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Presentation

Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of entities over which we have a controlling financial 
interest through our ownership or the majority voting interests of the entity. We consolidate the activities of the Partnership as a variable interest entity 
(“VIE”) under U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). We have concluded that we are the primary beneficiary of the VIE, as defined in 
the accounting standards, since we have the power, through our ownership, to direct those activities that most significantly impact the economic 
performance of the Partnership. This conclusion was based on a qualitative analysis that considered the Partnership’s governance structure and the 
delegation of control provisions, which provide us the ability to control the operations of the Partnership. All financial statement activities associated with 
the VIE are captured within gathering, processing and storage, and terminaling and export segments (see Note 13, Segments). At December 31, 2022, 
our noncontrolling interest represents the 
        
         81.7
        % interest in the Partnership retained by Hess and GIP (2021: 
        
         86.7
        %). All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates. We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with the U.S. GAAP, which require management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the years presented. Changes in facts and circumstances may result in revised 
estimates and actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments, which are readily convertible into cash and have maturities of three 
months or less when acquired.

Accounts Receivable. We record affiliate accounts receivable upon performance of services to affiliated companies. Generally, we receive payments 
from affiliated companies on a monthly basis, shortly after performance of services. There were 
        
         
          
           
            no
           
          
         
         doubtful accounts written off, nor have we provided an allowance for doubtful accounts, as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Property, Plant and Equipment. Property, plant and equipment are stated at the lower of historical cost less accumulated depreciation subject to the 
results of impairment testing. We capitalize all construction-related direct labor and material costs, as well as indirect construction costs. Indirect 
construction costs include general engineering, taxes and the cost of funds used during construction. Costs, including complete asset replacements and 
enhancements or upgrades that increase the original efficiency, productivity or capacity of property, plant and equipment, are also capitalized. The costs 
of repairs, minor replacements and other projects, which do not increase the original efficiency, productivity or capacity of property, plant and equipment, 
are expensed as incurred.

Capitalization of Interest. Interest charges from borrowings are capitalized on material projects using the weighted average cost of outstanding 
borrowings until the project is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Capitalized interest is depreciated over the useful lives of the assets 
in the same manner as the depreciation of the underlying assets.

Impairment of Long‑Lived Assets. We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate the net 
book values of the assets may not be recoverable. Factors that indicate potential impairment include a significant decrease in the market value of the 
asset, operating or cash flow losses associated with the use of the asset, and a significant change in the asset’s physical condition or use. Impairment is 
indicated when the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the assets’ net book value. Undiscounted cash 
flows are based on identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If impairment occurs, a loss is 
recognized for the difference between the fair value and net book value. Such fair value is generally determined by discounting anticipated future net 
cash flows, an income valuation approach, or by a market-based valuation approach, which are Level 3 fair value measurements. 
        
         
          
           No
          
         
         impairments of long‑lived assets were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020.

Leases. We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating lease right-of-use assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for 
the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease right-of-use assets and 
liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of our leases do not provide 
an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of 
lease payments. The operating lease right-of-use asset includes any initial direct costs and excludes lease incentives received. The lease term used in 
measurement of our lease obligations may include periods covered by an option to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will 
exercise that option. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company has elected not to 
recognize lease assets and lease liabilities for leases with a term of 12 months or less for all classes of underlying assets. Our lease agreements may 
include lease and non-lease components, which are generally accounted for separately.
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Equity Investments. We account for our investment in LM4 under the equity method of accounting, as we do not control, but have a significant 

influence over, its operations. Difference in the basis of the investment and the underlying net asset value of the equity investee is amortized into net 
income over the remaining useful lives of the underlying assets. Earnings from equity investments represent our proportionate share of net income 
generated by the equity investee. We classify distributions received from equity method investees on the basis of the nature of the activity of the investee 
that generated the distribution as either a return on investment classified as cash inflows from operating activities or a return of investment classified as 
cash inflows from investing activities when such information is available to us.

Deferred Financing Costs.  We capitalize debt issuance costs and fees incurred related to the procurement of our credit facilities. We amortize such 
costs as additional interest expense over the life of the credit agreement using the straight-line method, which approximates the effective interest method. 
Unamortized deferred financing costs related to our revolving credit facility are presented in Other noncurrent assets (2022: $
        
         9.5
         million, 2021: $
        
         6.9
         million) and unamortized deferred financing costs and discounts related to our fixed-rate senior notes and our term loan are presented as a direct 
reduction to the Long-term debt (2022: $
        
         32.4
         million, 2021: $
        
         30.5
         million) in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Asset Retirement Obligations. We record legal obligations to remove and dismantle long-lived assets. We recognize a liability for the fair value of 
legally required asset retirement obligations associated with long-lived assets in the period in which the retirement obligations are incurred if the liability 
can be reasonably estimated. The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived assets. Accretion 
expense is included in Depreciation expense in the consolidated statement of operations. At December 31, 2022, the asset retirement obligation balance 
included in Other noncurrent liabilities was $
        
         10.8
         million and the current portion included in Accrued liabilities was $
        
         3.0
         million (2021: $
        
         11.0
         million and $
        
         3.0
         million, respectively).

Revenue Recognition—Contracts with Customers. We earn substantially all of our revenues by charging fees for gathering, compressing and 
processing natural gas and fractionating NGLs; gathering, terminaling, loading and transporting crude oil and NGLs, gathering and disposing produced 
water, and storing and terminaling propane. We do not own or take title to the volumes that we handle. Effective January 1, 2014, we entered into (i) gas 
gathering, (ii) crude oil gathering, (iii) gas processing and fractionation, (iv) storage services and (v) terminal and export services fee‑based commercial 
agreements with certain subsidiaries of Hess, and effective January 1, 2019, we entered into water gathering and disposal services fee-based 
agreements with a subsidiary of Hess. 

Our responsibilities to provide each of the above services for each year under each of the commercial agreements are considered separate, distinct 
performance obligations. We recognize revenues for each performance obligation under our commercial agreements over‑time as services are rendered 
using the output method, measured using the amount of volumes serviced during the period. The minimum volume commitments are subject to 
fluctuation based on nominations covering substantially all of Hess’ production and projected third-party volumes that will be purchased in the Bakken. As 
the minimum volume commitments are subject to fluctuation, and these commercial agreements contain fee inflation escalators and fee recalculation 
mechanisms, substantially all of the transaction price, as this term is defined in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic, ASC 606, is variable at 
inception of each of the commercial agreements. As the variability is resolved prior to the recognition of revenue, we do not apply a constraint to the 
transaction price at the inception of the commercial agreements. We elected the practical expedient to recognize revenue in the amount to which we have 
a right to invoice as permitted under ASC 606. Due to this election and as the transaction price allocated to our unsatisfied performance obligations is 
entirely variable, we have elected the exemption provided by ASC 606 from the disclosure of revenue recognizable in future periods as our unsatisfied 
performance obligations are fulfilled. There are no significant financing components in any of our commercial agreements.

The minimum volumes that Hess provides to our assets under our commercial agreements include dedicated production covering substantially all of 
Hess’ existing and future owned or controlled production in the Bakken and projected third-party volumes owned or controlled by Hess through dedicated 
third-party contracts. If Hess delivers volumes less than the applicable minimum volume commitments under our commercial agreements during any 
quarter, Hess is obligated to pay us a shortfall fee equal to the volume deficiency multiplied by the related gathering, processing and/or terminaling fee, as 
applicable. Our responsibility to stand-ready to service a minimum volume over each quarterly commitment period represents a separate, distinct 
performance obligation. Currently, and for the remainder of the Initial Term of each commercial agreement as described in Note 4, volume deficiencies 
are measured quarterly and recognized as revenue in the same period, as any associated shortfall payments are not subject to future reduction or offset. 
During the Secondary Term of each commercial agreement as described in Note 4, Hess will be entitled to receive a credit, calculated in barrels or Mcf, 
as applicable, with respect to the amount of any shortfall fee paid by Hess, which will initially be reported in deferred revenue. Hess may apply such credit 
against the fees payable for any volumes delivered to us under the applicable agreement in excess of Hess’ nominated volumes up to four quarters after 
such credit is earned. Unused credits by Hess will be recognized as revenue when they expire after four quarters. However, Hess will not be entitled to 
receive any such credit with respect to crude oil terminaling services under our terminal and export services agreement.

Our revenues also include pass‑through third‑party rail transportation costs, third-party produced water trucking and disposal costs, electricity fees and 
certain other fees for which we recognize revenues in an amount equal to the costs. 
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Depreciation Expense. We calculate depreciation using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives after considering salvage values 

of our assets. Depreciation lives range from  12 to  35 years . However, factors such as maintenance levels, economic conditions impacting the demand 
for these assets, and regulatory or environmental requirements could cause us to change our estimates, thus impacting the future calculation of 
depreciation.

Equity‑Based Compensation. Equity‑based compensation issued to the officers, directors and employees of our general partner is recorded at 
grant‑date fair value. Expense is recognized on a straight‑line basis over the vesting period of the award and is included in General and administrative 
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur.

Income Taxes. Deferred income taxes are determined using the liability method and reflect temporary differences between the financial statement 
carrying amount and income tax basis of assets and liabilities recorded using the statutory income tax rate. Regular assessments are made of the 
likelihood of those deferred tax assets being realized. If it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation 
allowance is recorded to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. 

Environmental and Legal Contingencies. We accrue and expense environmental costs on an undiscounted basis to remediate existing conditions 
related to past operations when the future costs are probable and reasonably estimable.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is from time to time party to various judicial and administrative proceedings. We regularly assess the 
need for accounting recognition or disclosure of these contingencies. In the case of a known contingency, we accrue a liability when the loss is probable 
and the amount is reasonably estimable. If a range of amounts can be reasonably estimated and no amount within the range is a better estimate than 
any other amount, then the minimum of the range is accrued.

Fair Value Measurements. We measure assets and liabilities requiring fair value presentation using an exit price (i.e., the price that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability) and disclose such amounts according to the level of valuation inputs under the following hierarchy:

Level 1: Quoted prices in an active market for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are directly or indirectly observable.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are significant to the fair value of assets or liabilities.
The classification of an asset or liability within the fair value measurement hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input significant to its fair value.

There were no nonrecurring fair value measurements during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. We had other short‑term financial 
instruments, primarily cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable, for which the carrying value approximated their fair value 
as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Derivatives. We may utilize derivative instruments for financial risk management activities. In these activities, we may use futures, forwards, options 
and swaps, individually or in combination, to mitigate our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. There were 
        
         
          no
         
         derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021 and the impact of derivative hedging was immaterial to our 2020 consolidated financial 
statements.
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Note 3. Equity Transactions

Equity Offering Transactions

On March 15, 2021, Hess Investments North Dakota LLC (“HINDL”) and GIP II Blue Holding, L.P. ( “GIP” and, together with HINDL, the “Sponsors”) 
sold an aggregate of 
      
       6,900,000
       of our Class A shares representing limited partner interests (“Class A Shares”), inclusive of the underwriters’ option to purchase up to 
      
       900,000
       of additional shares, which was fully exercised, in an underwritten public offering at a price of $
      
       21.00
       per Class A share, less underwriting discounts. 

On October 8, 2021, the Sponsors sold an aggregate of 
      
       8,625,000
       of our Class A Shares, inclusive of the underwriters’ option to purchase up to 
      
       1,125,000
       of additional shares, which was fully exercised, in an underwritten public offering at a price of $
      
       26.00
       per Class A share, less underwriting discounts.

On April 4, 2022, the Sponsors sold an aggregate of 
      
       10,235,000
       of our Class A Shares, inclusive of the underwriters’ option to purchase up to 
      
       1,335,000
       of additional shares, which was fully exercised, in an underwritten public offering at a price of $
      
       29.50
       per Class A Share, less underwriting discounts. 

The Sponsors received net proceeds from the 2022 offering of approximately $
      
       291.7
       million, after deducting underwriting discounts (2021: $
      
       356.5
       million in total, after deducting underwriting discounts). The Company did 
      
       no
      t receive any proceeds in the offerings. The above equity offering transactions were conducted pursuant to a registration rights agreement among us 
and the Sponsors. The Class A Shares sold in the offerings were obtained by the Sponsors by exchanging to us the respective number of their Class B 
Units in the Partnership, together with an equal number of our Class B Shares and, as a result, the total number of Class A and Class B Shares did not 
change. The Company retained control in the Partnership based on the delegation of control provisions, as described in Note 2, Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies and Basis of Presentation. As a result of the equity offering transactions described above, we recognized adjustments increasing the 
amount of the Class A shareholders’ capital balance by $
      
       27.0
       million (2021: $
      
       52.4
       million) and decreasing the carrying amount of noncontrolling interest by an equal amount to reflect the change in ownership interest. 

Class B Unit Repurchases

On July 27, 2021, the Company, the Partnership and our Sponsors entered into a unit repurchase agreement pursuant to which the Partnership 
agreed to purchase from each Sponsor 
      
       15,625,000
       Class B Units representing limited partner interests in the Partnership for an aggregate purchase price of $
      
       750.0
       million. The purchase price per Class B Unit was $
      
       24.00
      , representing an approximate 
      
       4
      % discount to the 30-day volume weighted average trading price of Class A shares representing limited partner interests in the Company through 
July 27, 2021. Pursuant to the terms of the repurchase agreement, immediately following the purchase of the Class B Units from the Sponsors, the 
Partnership cancelled those units, and the Company cancelled, for no consideration, an equal number of Class B Shares representing limited partner 
interests in the Company held by the Company’s general partner. The repurchase transaction closed on August 10, 2021 and was funded through 
issuance by the Partnership of $
      
       750.0
       million aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes (see Note 7, Debt and Interest Expense).

On March 29, 2022, the Company, the Partnership and our Sponsors entered into a unit repurchase agreement pursuant to which the Partnership 
agreed to purchase from the Sponsors, subject to the secondary equity offering transaction described above, an aggregate number of Class B Units 
representing limited partner interests in the Partnership to be determined by dividing (a) $
      
       400.0



       million by (b) the public offering price of the Class A Shares to be set in the secondary offering. On April 4, 2022, the repurchase transaction closed, 
and the Partnership purchased directly from the Sponsors 
      
       13,559,322
       Class B Units at a purchase price per Class B Unit of $
      
       29.50
      , which is equal to the public offering price per Class A Share in the transaction described above. Pursuant to the terms of the repurchase agreement, 
immediately following the purchase of the Class B Units from the Sponsors, the Partnership cancelled those units, and the Company cancelled, for no 
consideration, an equal number of Class B Shares representing limited partner interests in the Company held by the Company’s general partner. The 
repurchase transaction was funded using borrowings under the Partnership’s revolving credit facility, which were subsequently repaid with proceeds from 
an issuance by the Partnership of $
      
       400.0
       million senior unsecured notes (see Note 7, Debt and Interest Expense).

The repurchase transactions were accounted for in accordance with ASC 810 whereby changes in a parent’s ownership interest while the parent 
retains its controlling financial interest in its subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the noncontrolling interest were 
adjusted to reflect the changes in the ownership interest with the difference between the amounts of consideration paid and the amounts by which the 
noncontrolling interest were adjusted recognized as a reduction in equity attributable to Class A shareholders. We incurred approximately $
      
       1.5
       million of costs directly attributable to the repurchase transaction (2021: $
      
       2.1
       million) that were charged to equity. 

As a result of the equity offering transactions and the repurchase transactions described above, we also recognized an additional deferred tax asset of 
$
      
       86.4
       million (2021: $
      
       89.0
       million) related to the change in the temporary difference between carrying amount and tax basis of our investment in the Partnership. The effect of 
recognizing the additional deferred tax asset was included in Class A shareholders’ equity balance in the accompanying consolidated statement of 
changes in partners’ capital due to the transaction being characterized as a transaction among or with shareholders.
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Note 4. Related Party Transactions

We are part of the consolidated operations of Hess, and substantially all of our revenues as shown on the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were derived from transactions with Hess and its affiliates, although we plan to 
provide our services to third parties in the future. Hess also provides substantial operational and administrative services to us in support of our assets and 
operations. In addition, we had Class B unit repurchase transactions and distributions to the Sponsors, which are disclosed elsewhere in the Notes to 
consolidated financial statements.

Commercial Agreements

Effective January 1, 2014, we entered into i) gas gathering, ii) crude oil gathering, iii) gas processing and fractionation, iv) storage services, and v) 
terminal and export services fee‑based commercial agreements with certain subsidiaries of Hess. Effective January 1, 2019, in connection with the Hess 
Water Services Acquisition, we entered into long-term fee-based water services agreements with a subsidiary of Hess. For the services performed under 
these commercial agreements, we receive a fee per barrel of crude oil, barrel of water, Mcf of natural gas, or Mcf equivalent of NGLs, as applicable, 
delivered during each month, and Hess is obligated to provide us with minimum volumes of crude oil, water, natural gas and NGLs.  MVCs are equal to  
        
         80
         % of Hess' nominations in each development plan that apply on a three-year rolling basis such that MVCs are set for the three years following the 
most recent nomination. Without our consent, the MVCs resulting from the nominated volumes for any quarter or year contained in any prior 
development plan cannot be reduced by any updated development plan unless dedicated production is released by us. The applicable MVCs may, 
however, be increased as a result of the nominations contained in any such updated development plan.

Except for the water services agreements and except for a certain gathering sub-system as described below,  each of our commercial agreements with 
Hess has an initial  10 -year term effective January 1, 2014 (“Initial Term”). For this gathering sub-system, the Initial Term is  15 years effective January 
1, 2014 and for the water services agreements the Initial Term is  14 years effective January 1, 2019. Each of our commercial agreements other than our 
storage services agreement includes an inflation escalator and a fee recalculation mechanism that allows fees to be adjusted annually during the Initial 
Term for updated estimates of cumulative throughput volumes and our capital and operating expenditures in order to target a return on capital deployed 
over the Initial Term of the applicable commercial agreement (or, with respect to the crude oil services fee under our terminal and export services 
agreement, the  20 -year period commencing on the effective date of the agreement). 

 We have the unilateral right, exercisable by the delivery of a written notice on or before the date that is  three years prior to the expiration of the Initial 
Term, to extend each commercial agreement for  one  additional  10 -year term (“Secondary Term”). For a certain gathering sub-system, the Secondary 
Term is  5 -years and for the water services agreements the Secondary Term is  10  years. On December 30, 2020, we exercised our renewal options to 
extend the terms of certain crude oil gathering, terminaling, storage, gas processing and gas gathering commercial agreements with Hess for the 
Secondary Term through December 31, 2033. There were no changes to any provisions of the existing commercial agreements as a result of the 
exercise of the renewal options. For the remaining water gathering and disposal agreements as well as the remaining gas gathering agreement, we have 
the sole option to renew these agreements for an additional term that is exercisable at a later date.

During the Secondary Term of each of our commercial agreements other than our storage services agreement and terminal and export services 
agreement (with respect to crude oil terminaling services),  the fee recalculation model under each applicable agreement will be replaced by an inflation-
based fee structure. The initial fee for the first year of the Secondary Term will be determined based on the average fees paid by Hess under the 
applicable agreement during the last three years of the Initial Term (with such fees adjusted for inflation through the first year of the Secondary Term). For 
each year following the first year of the Secondary Term, the applicable fee will be adjusted annually based on the percentage change in the consumer 
price index, provided that we may not increase any fee by more than  
        
         3
         % in any calendar year solely by reason of an increase in the consumer price index, and no fee will ever be reduced below the amount of the 
applicable fee payable by Hess in the prior year as a result of a decrease in the consumer price index.  During the Secondary Term of our commercial 
agreements, Hess will continue to have MVCs equal to  
          
           80
           % of Hess' nominations in each development plan that apply on a three-year rolling basis through the Secondary Term.
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For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, approximately 

      
       
        
         100
        
       
      % of our revenues were attributable to our fee‑based commercial agreements with Hess, including revenues from third‑party volumes contracted with 
Hess and delivered to us under these agreements. Together with Hess, we are pursuing strategic relationships with third-party producers and other 
midstream companies with operations in the Bakken in order to maximize our utilization rates.

Revenues from contracts with customers on a disaggregated basis were as follows:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2022   2021   2020  

(in millions)          

Oil and gas gathering services  $

            
             600.8

  $

            
             540.4

  $

            
             469.3

 

Processing and storage services   

            
             470.8

   

            
             435.7

   

            
             370.3

 

Terminaling and export services   

            
             124.5

   

            
             137.5

   

            
             159.4

 

Water gathering and disposal services   

            
             77.1

   

            
             90.2

   

            
             92.6

 

Total revenues from contracts with customers  $

            
             1,273.2

  $

            
             1,203.8

  $

            
             1,091.6

 

Other income   

            
             2.0

   -    

            
             0.3

 

Total revenues  $

            
             1,275.2

  $

            
             1,203.8

  $

            
             1,091.9

 
 

The following table presents MVC shortfall fees earned during each period:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2022   2021   2020  

(in millions)          

Oil and gas gathering services  $

            
             93.0

  $

            
             43.0

  $

            
             12.5

 

Processing and storage services   

            
             34.9

   

            
             4.4

   -  

Terminaling and export services   

            
             32.0

   

            
             32.8

   

            
             4.8

 

Water gathering and disposal services   

            
             0.4

   

            
             6.8

   

            
             1.4

 

Total  $

            
             160.3

  $

            
             87.0

  $

            
             18.7

 
 

The following table presents third-party pass-through costs for which we recognize revenues in an amount equal to the costs. These third-party costs 
are included in Operating and maintenance expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2022   2021   2020  

(in millions)          

Electricity and other related fees  $

            
             44.8

  $

            
             50.3

  $

            
             40.0

 



Produced water trucking and disposal costs   

            
             33.1

   

            
             37.0

   

            
             55.9

 

Rail transportation costs   

            
             3.5

   

            
             0.1

   

            
             50.7

 

Total  $

            
             81.4

  $

            
             87.4

  $

            
             146.6
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Omnibus and Employee Secondment Agreements

We entered into an omnibus agreement with Hess under which we pay Hess on a monthly basis an amount equal to the total allocable costs of Hess’ 
employees and contractors, subcontractors or other outside personnel engaged by Hess and its subsidiaries to the extent such employees and outside 
personnel perform operational and administrative services for us in support of our assets, plus a specified percentage markup of such amount depending 
on the type of service provided, as well as an allocable share of direct costs of providing these services.

We also entered into an employee secondment agreement with Hess under which certain employees of Hess are seconded to our general partner to 
provide services with respect to our assets and operations, including executive oversight, business and corporate development, unitholder and investor 
relations, communications and public relations, routine and emergency maintenance and repair services, routine operational services, routine 
administrative services, construction services, and such other operational, commercial and business services that are necessary to develop and execute 
the Company’s business strategy. On a monthly basis, we pay a secondment fee to Hess that is intended to cover and reimburse Hess for the total costs 
actually incurred by Hess and its affiliates in connection with employing the seconded employees to the extent such total costs are attributable to the 
provision of services with respect to the Company’s assets and operations.

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, we had the following charges from Hess. The classification of these charges between 
operating and maintenance expenses and general and administrative expenses is based on the fundamental nature of the services being performed for 
our operations.
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2022   2021   2020  

(in millions)          

Operating and maintenance expenses  $

            
             71.2

  $

            
             63.6

  $

            
             62.8

 

General and administrative expenses   

            
             15.9

   

            
             15.4

   

            
             15.1

 

Total  $

            
             87.1

  $

            
             79.0

  $

            
             77.9

 
 

LM4 Agreements

Separately from our commercial agreements with Hess, effective January 24, 2018, we entered into a gas processing agreement with LM4, a 
      
       50
      /
      
       50
       joint venture with Targa, under which we deliver natural gas to LM4, and LM4 processes and redelivers certain volumes of residue gas and NGLs 
resulting from such processing services.  The agreement has a  16 -year initial term, after which it is automatically renewed for subsequent one-year 
terms unless terminated by either party . Under this agreement, we pay a processing fee per Mcf of natural gas and reimburse LM4 for our proportionate 
share of electricity costs. These processing fees are included in Operating and maintenance expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations. 

We are entitled to 
      
       50
      % of the available processing capacity of the LM4 gas processing plant. Should Targa not use all of the remaining processing capacity at the plant on 
any day, such unutilized portion of the available capacity will be available for our use. Regardless of the actual portion of the plant available capacity 
utilized by each joint venture member during a given period, under the LM4 amended and restated limited liability company agreement, profits and losses 
and cash distributions of the LM4 joint venture are allocated 
      
       50
      /
      
       50
       between Targa and us. LM4 was placed in service in the third quarter of 2019.

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, we had the following activity related to our agreements with LM4:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2022   2021   2020  

(in millions)          

Processing fee incurred  $

            
             20.5

  $

            
             27.7

  $

            
             25.6

 

Earnings from equity investments  $

            
             5.3

  $

            
             10.6

  $

            
             10.3

 

Distributions received from equity investments  $

            
             13.0

  $

            
             17.4

  $

            
             9.7
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Note 5. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, at cost, is as follows:
 

  Estimated useful lives  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  
(in millions, except for number of years)         
Gathering assets         

Pipelines  

            
             22

             years  $

            
             1,591.7

  $

            
             1,489.7

 

Compressors, pumping stations and terminals  

            
             22
             to

            
              25 years

  

            
             923.1

   

            
             809.0

 
Gas plant assets         

Pipelines, pipes and valves  

            
             22
             to 

            
             25 years

  

            
             460.0

   

            
             460.0

 

Equipment  

            
             12
             to 

            
             30 years

  

            
             428.2

   

            
             428.3

 

Processing and fractionation facilities  

            
             25 years

  

            
             414.4

   

            
             408.7

 

Buildings  

            
             35 years

  

            
             182.3

   

            
             182.3

 

Logistics facilities and railcars  

            
             20
             to

            
              25 years

  

            
             389.3

   

            
             386.5

 

Storage facilities  

            
             20
             to 

            
             25 years

  

            
             19.7

   

            
             19.5

 

Other  

            
             20
             to 

            
             25 years

  

            
             25.5

   

            
             25.8

 

Construction-in-progress  N/A   

            
             136.3

   

            
             131.6

 

Total property, plant and equipment, at cost     

            
             4,570.5

   

            
             4,341.4

 

Accumulated depreciation     

(
            

             1,397.7
)   

(
            

             1,216.4
)

Property, plant and equipment, net    $

            
             3,172.8

  $

            
             3,125.0

 

Note 6. Accrued Liabilities and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued liabilities are as follows:
 



  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  

(in millions)       

Accrued interest  $

            
             35.4

  $

            
             30.9

 

Accrued capital expenditures   

            
             24.1

   

            
             26.5

 

Other accruals   

            
             23.4

   

            
             18.8

 

Total  $

            
             82.9

  $

            
             76.2

 
 

Other current liabilities are as follows:

  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  
(in millions)       

Property and sales and use tax payable  $

            
             10.7

  $

            
             10.1

 

Other current liabilities   

            
             0.7

   

            
             0.1

 

Total  $

            
             11.4

  $

            
             10.2

 
 
Note 7. Debt and Interest Expense

Total long-term debt is as follows:
 

  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  
(in millions)       
Fixed-rate senior notes:       

            
             5.625
            % due 
            
             2026
             $

            
             800.0

  $

            
             800.0

 

            
             5.125
            % due 
            
             2028
              

            
             550.0

   

            
             550.0

 

            
             4.250
            % due 
            
             2030
              

            
             750.0

   

            
             750.0

 

            
             5.500
            % due 
            
             2030
              

            
             400.0

   -  

Total fixed-rate senior notes   

            
             2,500.0

   

            
             2,100.0

 

Term Loan A facility   

            
             400.0

   

            
             390.0

 

Revolving credit facility   

            
             18.0

   

            
             104.0

 



Total Borrowings   

            
             2,918.0

   

            
             2,594.0

 

Unamortized deferred financing costs and discounts   

(
            

             32.4
)   

(
            

             30.5
)

Total debt   

            
             2,885.6

   

            
             2,563.5

 

Less: current maturities of long-term debt   

            
             2.5

   

            
             20.0

 

Total long-term debt  $

            
             2,883.1

  $

            
             2,543.5

 
 

80



Table of Contents
As of December 31, 2022, the maturity profile of total debt, excluding deferred financing costs and discounts, is as follows:

 

(in millions) Total   2023   2024   2025   2026   2027   
2028 and 
thereafter  

Fixed-rate senior notes $
            

2,500.0
  $ -   $ -   

$ -  

 

$

            

800.0
 

 

$ -  

 

$

            

1,700.0
 

Term Loan facility  
            

400.0
   

            

2.5
   

            

12.5
   

            

22.5
   

            

32.5
   

            

330.0
   -  

Revolving credit facility  
            

18.0
   -    -    -    -    

            

18.0
   -  

Total debt (excluding interest) $
            

2,918.0
  $

            

2.5
  $

            

12.5
  $

            

22.5
  $

            

832.5
  $

            

348.0
  $

            

1,700.0
 

 

Fixed‑Rate Senior Notes

In April 2022, the Partnership issued $
      
       400.0
       million aggregate principal amount of 
      
       5.500
      % fixed-rate senior unsecured notes due  2030 to qualified institutional investors.  Interest is payable  semi‑annually on April 15 and October 15, 
commencing October 15, 2022. The Partnership used the proceeds to repay the borrowings under its revolving credit facility used to finance the 2022 
repurchase transaction (see Note 3, Equity Transactions).

In August 2021, the Partnership issued $
      
       750.0
       million aggregate principal amount of 
      
       4.250
      % fixed‑rate senior unsecured notes due  2030  to qualified institutional investors.  Interest is payable  semi‑annually on February 15 and August 15 . 
The Partnership used the proceeds to fund the 2021 repurchase transaction (see Note 3, Equity Transactions).

In December 2019, the Partnership issued $
      
       550.0
       million aggregate principal amount of 
      
       5.125
      % fixed‑rate senior unsecured notes due  2028  to qualified institutional investors.  Interest is payable  semi‑annually on June 15 and December 15.
The Partnership used the net proceeds to finance the acquisition of HIP, including to repay borrowings under HIP’s credit facilities, and pay related fees 
and expenses. 

In December 2019, in connection with the Restructuring, the Partnership, assumed $
      
       800.0
       million aggregate principal amount of 
      
       5.625
      % outstanding fixed-rate senior notes of HIP in a par-for-par exchange for newly issued 
      
       5.625
      % senior unsecured notes due  2026  of the Partnership.  Interest is payable  semi‑annually on February 15 and August 15.

The notes described above are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Partnership. Each of the indentures for the senior notes described above 
contains customary covenants that restrict our ability and the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to (i) declare or pay any dividend or make any other 
restricted payments; (ii) transfer or sell assets or subsidiary stock; (iii) incur additional debt; or (iv) make restricted investments, unless, at the time of and 
immediately after giving pro forma effect to such restricted payments and any related incurrence of indebtedness or other transactions, no default has 
occurred and is continuing or would occur as a consequence of such restricted payment and if the leverage ratio does not exceed 
      
       4.25
       to 1.00. As of December 31, 2022, we were in compliance with all debt covenants under the indentures.

In addition, the covenants included in the indentures governing the senior notes contain provisions that allow the Company to satisfy the Partnership’s 
reporting obligations under the indentures, as long as any such financial information of the Company contains information reasonably sufficient to identify 
the material differences, if any, between the financial information of the Company, on the one hand, and the Partnership and its subsidiaries on a stand-
alone basis, on the other hand and the Company does not directly own capital stock of any person other than the Partnership and its subsidiaries, or 
material business operations that would not be consolidated with the financial results of the Partnership and its subsidiaries. The Company is a holding 
company and has no independent assets or operations. Other than the interest in the Partnership and the effect of federal and state income taxes that are 
recognized at the Company level, there are no material differences between the consolidated financial statements of the Partnership and the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company. 
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Credit Facilities

On July 14, 2022, the Partnership amended and restated its existing credit agreement for its senior secured credit facilities (the “Credit Facilities”) 
consisting of a $
      
       1,000.0
       million  5 -year revolving credit facility and a fully drawn $
      
       400.0
       million  5 ‑year Term Loan A facility, resulting in an incremental $
      
       20.0
       million drawn on the term loan facility at closing. The amended and restated Credit Facilities mature in July  2027 . Facility fees accrue on the total 
capacity of the revolving credit facility. Borrowings under the  5 -year Term Loan A facility generally bear interest at Secured Overnight Financing Rate 
(”SOFR”) plus the applicable margin ranging from 
      
       1.65
      % to 
      
       2.55
      %, while the applicable margin for the  5 ‑year syndicated revolving credit facility ranges from 
      
       1.375
      % to 
      
       2.050
      %. Pricing levels for the facility fee and interest rate margins are based on the Partnership’s ratio of total debt to EBITDA (as defined in the Credit 
Facilities). If the Partnership obtains an investment grade credit rating, the pricing levels will be based on the Partnership’s credit ratings in effect from 
time to time. At December 31, 2022, borrowings of $
      
       18.0
       million were drawn and outstanding under the Partnership’s revolving credit facility, and borrowings of $
      
       400.0
       million, excluding deferred issuance costs, were drawn and outstanding under the Partnership’s Term Loan A facility.

The Credit Facilities can be used for borrowings and letters of credit for general corporate purposes. The Credit Facilities are guaranteed by each direct 
and indirect wholly owned material domestic subsidiary of the Partnership, and are secured by first priority perfected liens on substantially all of the 
assets of the Partnership and its direct and indirect wholly owned material domestic subsidiaries, including equity interests directly owned by such 
entities, subject to certain customary exclusions.  The Credit Facilities contain representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants and 
events of default that the Partnership considers to be customary for an agreement of this type, including a covenant that requires the Partnership to 
maintain a ratio of total debt to EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Facilities) for the prior four fiscal quarters of not greater than  
        
         5.00
         to 1.00 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter ( 
        
         5.50
         to 1.00 during the specified period following certain acquisitions) and, prior to the Partnership obtaining an investment grade credit rating, a ratio of 
secured debt to EBITDA for the prior four fiscal quarters of not greater than  
        
         4.00
         to 1.00 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter. As of December 31, 2022, the Partnership was in compliance with these financial covenants.

Fair Value Measurement

At December 31, 2022, our total debt had a carrying value of $
      
       2,885.6
       million and had a fair value of approximately $
      
       2,720.7
       million, based on Level 2 inputs in the fair value measurement hierarchy. The carrying value of the amounts under the Term Loan A facility and 
revolving credit facility at December 31, 2022, approximated their fair value. Any changes in interest rates do not impact cash outflows associated with 
fixed rate interest payments or settlement of debt principal, unless a debt instrument is repurchased prior to maturity. 

Interest Paid

The total amount of interest paid on all fixed-rate senior notes and credit facilities, including facility fees, during the years ended December 31, 2022, 
2021 and 2020 was $
      
       136.8
       million, $
      
       84.5
       million and $
      
       88.9
       million, respectively.
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Note 8. Partners’ Capital and Distributions

Shares Outstanding

As of December 31, 2022, our Sponsors and their affiliates, including our general partner, collectively held 
      
       898,000
       Class A Shares (economic and voting) and 
      
       195,847,606
       Class B Shares (non-economic, voting only) representing limited partner interests in the Company, and 
      
       195,847,606
       Class B Units of the Partnership representing limited partner interests in the Partnership. Class B Units of the Partnership together with the equal 
number of Class B Shares of the Company are convertible to Class A Shares of the Company on a 
      
       one
      -for-one basis.

The changes in the number of shares of the Company outstanding from December 31, 2019 through December 31, 2022 are as follows:
 

 Class A Shares           

 Public  Sponsors   Total Class A Shares   
Class B Shares

Sponsors   
Total Class A and 
Class B Shares  

Balance, December 31, 2019  
            

17,062,655
              

             898,000    
            

17,960,655
   

            

266,416,928
   

            

284,377,583
 

Equity-based compensation              
             67,653   -                

             67,653    -                
             67,653  

Balance, December 31, 2020  
            

17,130,308
              

             898,000    
            

18,028,308
   

            

266,416,928
   

            

284,445,236
 

Equity-based compensation  
            

118,760
  -                

             118,760    -                
             118,760  

Equity offering transaction - 
   March 2021  

            

6,900,000
  -    

            

6,900,000
   

(
            

6,900,000
)   -  

Equity offering transaction - 
   October 2021  

            

8,625,000
  -    

            

8,625,000
   

(
            

8,625,000
)   -  

Repurchase Transaction  -   -    -    

(
            

31,250,000
)   

(
            

31,250,000
)

Balance, December 31, 2021  
            

32,774,068
              

             898,000    
            

33,672,068
   

            

219,641,928
   

            

253,313,996
 

Equity-based compensation              
             95,778   -                

             95,778    -                
             95,778  

Equity offering transaction - 
   April 2022  

            

10,235,000
  -    

            

10,235,000
   

(
            

10,235,000
)   -  

Repurchase Transaction  -   -    -    

(
            

13,559,322
)   

(
            

13,559,322
)

Balance, December 31, 2022  
            

43,104,846
              

             898,000    
            

44,002,846
   

            

195,847,606
   

            

239,850,452
 

 

Distributions



Our partnership agreement requires that, within  45 days after the end of each quarter, we distribute all of our available cash to shareholders of record 
on the applicable record date.  The following table details the distributions declared and/or paid for the periods presented: 
 

Period  Record Date  Distribution Date  Distribution per Class A share  

First Quarter 2020              
             May 4, 2020

            

             
             May 14, 2020

            

 $             
             0.4310  

Second Quarter 2020              
             August 6, 2020

            

             
             August 14, 2020

            

 $             
             0.4363  

Third Quarter 2020              
             November 5, 2020

            

             
             November 13, 2020

            

 $             
             0.4417  

Fourth Quarter 2020              
             February 4, 2021

            

             
             February 12, 2021

            

 $             
             0.4471  

First Quarter 2021              
             May 3, 2021

            

             
             May 13, 2021

            

 $             
             0.4526  

Second Quarter 2021              
             August 9, 2021

            

             
             August 13, 2021

            

 $             
             0.5042  

Third Quarter 2021  

            
             November 4, 2021

            

             
             November 12, 2021

            

 $             
             0.5104  

Fourth Quarter 2021              
             February 3, 2022

            

             
             February 14, 2022

            

 $             
             0.5167  

First Quarter 2022              
             May 5, 2022

            

             
             May 13, 2022

            

 $             
             0.5492  

Second Quarter 2022              
             August 4, 2022

            

             
             August 12, 2022

            

 $             
             0.5559  

Third Quarter 2022              
             November 3, 2022

            

             
             November 14, 2022

            

 $             
             0.5627  

Fourth Quarter 2022              
             February 2, 2023

            

             
             February 13, 2023

            

 $             
             0.5696  

(1) For more information, see  Note 15 , Subsequent Events .
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Note 9. Equity-Based Compensation

We adopted the Hess Midstream LP 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”). Awards under the LTIP are available for officers, directors and 
employees of our general partner or its affiliates, and any individuals who perform services for the Company. The LTIP provides the Company with the 
flexibility to grant restricted share awards, restricted shares, phantom units, share options, share appreciation rights, distribution equivalent rights, profits 
interest shares and other equity‑based awards. The LTIP limits the number of shares that may be delivered pursuant to vested awards to 
      
       3,000,000
       Class A Shares.

Under the LTIP, we granted phantom unit awards with distribution equivalent rights to certain officers, employees and directors. These phantom units 
and distribution equivalent rights vest ratably over a  three‑year period for officers and employees, and vest after  one year for directors. Each phantom 
unit represents the right to receive one Class A Share upon vesting (or an equivalent amount of cash). Cash distributions on the phantom units 
accumulate and are paid upon vesting. Fair value of phantom units is based on the fair value of Class A Shares on the grant date.

Equity‑based award activity for the year ended December 31, 2022 was as follows:
 

     Weighted Average  
     Award Date  
  Number of Shares   Fair Value  

Outstanding and unvested shares at December 31, 2021  

 

            
             187,931

 

 

$

            
             16.75

 

Granted  

 

            
             53,548

 

 

 

            
             33.52

 

Vested  

 

(
            

             95,778
)

 

 

            
             16.89

 

Outstanding and unvested shares at December 31, 2022  

 

            
             145,701

 

 

$

            
             22.82

 
 

(in millions) 2022   2021   2020  

Fair value of shares granted $

 

            
             1.8

  

$

 

            
             1.8

  

$

 

            
             1.9

 

Fair value of shares vested $

 

            
             1.6

  

$

 

            
             1.8

  

$

 

            
             1.5

 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized compensation expense related to the outstanding awards of $
      
       1.6
       million (2021: $
      
       1.4
       million, 2020: $
      
       1.5
       million). As of December 31, 2022, $
      
       1.9
       million of compensation cost related to our unvested restricted shares awarded under the LTIP remains to be recognized over an expected 
weighted‑average period of  1.8 years.

Note 10. Earnings per Share

We calculate earnings per Class A Share as we do not have any other participating securities. Substantially all of income tax expense is attributed to 
earnings of Class A Shares reflective of our organizational structure. Class B Units of the Partnership together with the equal number of Class B Shares of 
the Company are convertible to Class A Shares of the Company on a 
        
         one
        -for-one basis. In addition, our restricted equity-based awards may have a dilutive effect on our earnings per share. Diluted earnings per Class A 
Share are calculated using the “treasury stock method” or “if-converted method”, whichever is more dilutive.

 

  Year Ended December 31,  
(in millions, except per share amounts)  2022   2021   2020  

Net income

  

            
             620.6

   

            
             617.8

   

            
             484.9

 



Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest  

 

            
             536.7

   

            
             571.4

   

            
             460.9

 

Net income attributable to Hess Midstream LP  

 

            
             83.9

   

            
             46.4

   

            
             24.0

 
Net income attributable to Hess Midstream LP 
   per Class A share:          

Basic:  

$

            
             2.03

  $

            
             1.81

  $

            
             1.33

 

Diluted:  

$

            
             2.01

  $

            
             1.76

  $

            
             1.31

 
Weighted average Class A shares outstanding:          

Basic:  

 

            
             41.3

   

            
             25.6

   

            
             18.0

 

Diluted:  

 

            
             41.4

   

            
             25.7

   

            
             18.1

 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the weighted average number of Class A Shares outstanding included 
      
       70,795
       dilutive restricted shares (2021: 
      
       103,672
      ; 2020: 
      
       88,013
       shares). 
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In computing the dilutive effect, if any, of an exchange of Class B Units of the Partnership together with the equal number of Class B Shares of the 

Company to Class A Shares of the Company, net income attributable to Class A shareholders is adjusted, including for additional income tax expense, 
due to elimination of the noncontrolling interest associated with Class B Units of the Partnership. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the “if-
converted” method was more dilutive.  A reconciliation of the numerator and the denominator of the diluted earnings per Class A Share calculation under 
the “if-converted” method for the year ended December 31, 2021, is presented below:

  
Year Ended December 

31,  
  2021  

(in millions, except per share data)    

Diluted net income per share    
Numerator:    

Net income attributable to Hess Midstream LP  $

            
             46.4

 

Effect of exchange of Class B Units of the Partnership and
   the equal number of Class B Shares of the Company to
   Class A Shares of the Company   

            
             571.4

 

Effect of income tax expense on additional income attributable
   to Hess Midstream LP   

(
            

             139.4
)

Diluted net income attributable to Hess Midstream LP  $

            
             478.4

 
Denominator:    

Basic weighted average Class A Shares outstanding   

            
             25.6

 
Effect of dilutive securities:    

Weighted average Class B Units/Shares   

            
             246.7

 

Restricted equity-based awards   

            
             0.1

 

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding   

            
             272.4

 

Diluted net income attributable to Hess Midstream LP
   per Class A Share  $

            
             1.76

 
(1)  Income tax effect is calculated assuming  
         
          24.39
          % blended  U.S. federal and state income tax rate.
 

Note 11. Concentration of Credit Risk

Hess represented approximately 
      
       
        
         
          100
         
        
       
      % of our total revenues and accounts receivable from contracts with customers for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020.

Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies

Environmental Contingencies

The Company is subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the environment. On August, 12, 2022, the Company became 
aware of a produced water release from an underground pipeline located approximately 8 miles north of Ray, North Dakota. At this time, it is estimated 
that approximately 
      
       34,000
       barrels of produced water were released, causing impacts to soils, crops, and groundwater. 

The Company has recorded reserves for the estimated future costs to investigate and remediate impacts of the release. 

As of December 31, 2022 our reserves for all estimated remediation liabilities, inclusive of the produced water release above, in Accrued liabilities and 
Other noncurrent liabilities were $
      
       1.4
       million and $
      

(1)



       4.3
       million, respectively, compared with $
      
       0.8
       million and $
      
       3.1
       million, respectively, as of December 31, 2021.

Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is from time to time party to various judicial and administrative proceedings. We regularly assess the 
need for accounting recognition or disclosure of these contingencies. In the case of a known contingency, we accrue a liability when the loss is probable 
and the amount is reasonably estimable. If a range of amounts can be reasonably estimated and no amount within the range is a better estimate than 
any other amount, then the minimum of the range is accrued.

The Company has not received any notice of litigation or regulatory enforcement in the connection with the produced water release described under 
Environmental Contingencies above. Unless and until an enforcement action is started, the Company cannot fully predict the potential cost of such fines 
or penalties and what rights, claims, and defenses it may have. 

Based on currently available information, we believe it is remote that the outcome of known matters, including the produced water release described 
above, would have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2022 and 
December 31, 2021, we did 
      
       
        no
       
      t have material accrued liabilities for legal contingencies.
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Lease and Purchase Obligations

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, we did 
      
       
        no
       
      t have material lease obligations.

As of December 31 2022, we had unconditional purchase commitments of $
      
       45.7
       million for the year ending December 31, 2023, primarily related to expansion of our compression capacity, and 
      
       none
       for the years thereafter.

Note 13. Segments

Our operations are located in the United States and are organized into 
      
       three
       reportable segments: (i) gathering, (ii) processing and storage and (iii) terminaling and export. Our reportable segments comprise the structure used 
by our Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) to make key operating decisions and assess performance. These segments are strategic business 
units with differing products and services. The accounting policies of the segments are identical to those described in Note 2, Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies and Basis of Presentation. Our CODM evaluates the segments’ operating performance based on multiple measures including 
Adjusted EBITDA, defined as net income (loss) before interest expense, income tax (benefit), depreciation and amortization, and our proportional share of 
depreciation of our equity affiliates as further adjusted for other non‑cash, non‑recurring items, if applicable.

Gathering. Our gathering segment consists of the following assets:

• Natural Gas Gathering and Compression. A natural gas gathering and compression system located primarily in McKenzie, Williams and Mountrail 
Counties, North Dakota connecting Hess and third‑party owned or operated wells to the Tioga Gas Plant, LM4 gas processing plant, and third‑party 
pipeline facilities. The system also includes the Hawkeye Gas Facility.
• Crude Oil Gathering: A crude oil gathering system located primarily in McKenzie, Williams, and Mountrail Counties, North Dakota, connecting Hess 
and third‑party owned or operated wells to the Ramberg Terminal Facility and the Johnson’s Corner Header System. The system also includes the 
Hawkeye Oil Facility.
• Produced Water Gathering and Disposal. A produced water gathering system and disposal facilities located primarily in Williams and Mountrail 
Counties, North Dakota.

Processing and Storage. Our processing and storage segment consists of the following assets:

• Tioga Gas Plant (TGP). A natural gas processing and fractionation plant located in Tioga, North Dakota.
• Mentor Storage Terminal. A propane storage cavern and rail and truck loading and unloading facility located in Mentor, Minnesota.
• Equity Investment in LM4 Joint Venture. The Partnership’s 
       
        50
       % equity method investment in LM4 joint venture that owns a natural gas processing plant located in McKenzie County, North Dakota, which was 
placed in service in the third quarter of 2019.

Terminaling and Export. Our terminaling and export segment consists of the following assets:

• Ramberg Terminal Facility. A crude oil pipeline and truck receipt terminal located in Williams County, North Dakota that is capable of delivering crude 
oil into an interconnecting pipeline for transportation to the Tioga Rail Terminal and to multiple third‑party pipelines and storage facilities.
• Tioga Rail Terminal. A crude oil and NGL rail loading terminal in Tioga, North Dakota that is connected to the Tioga Gas Plant, the Ramberg 
Terminal Facility and our crude oil gathering system.
• Crude Oil Rail Cars. A total of 
       
        550
        crude oil rail cars, constructed to the DOT‑117 safety standards, which we operate as unit trains consisting of approximately 
       
        100
        to 
       
        110
        crude oil rail cars.
• Johnson’s Corner Header System. An approximately 
       
        six
       ‑mile crude oil pipeline header system located in McKenzie County, North Dakota that receives crude oil by pipeline from Hess and third parties 
and delivers crude oil to third‑party interstate pipeline systems.
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The following tables reflect certain financial data for each reportable segment:

 

  Gathering   
Processing and 

Storage   
Terminaling and 

Export   
Interest and 

Other   Consolidated  
(in millions)                
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022                

Revenues and other income  $

            

677.9
  $

            
             470.8

  $

            
             126.5

  $ -   $

            
             1,275.2

 

Net income (loss)   

            

389.6
   

            
             329.1

   

            
             85.0

   

(
            

             183.1
)   

            
             620.6

 

Net income (loss) attributable to 
   Hess Midstream LP   

            
             66.4

   

            
             56.6

   

            
             14.4

   

(
            

             53.5
)   

            
             83.9

 

Depreciation expense   

            

107.4
   

            
             57.7

   

            
             16.2

   -    

            
             181.3

 

Proportional share of equity affiliates' depreciation   -    

            
             5.1

   -    -    

            
             5.1

 

Income from equity investments   -    

            
             5.3

   -    -    

            
             5.3

 

Interest expense, net   -    -    -    

            
             149.3

   

            
             149.3

 

Income tax expense   -    -    -    

            
             26.6

   

            
             26.6

 

Adjusted EBITDA   

            

497.0
   

            
             391.9

   

            
             101.2

   

(
            

             7.2
)   

            
             982.9

 

Capital expenditures*   

            

210.2
   

            
             8.8

   

            
             12.8

   -    

            
             231.8

 
                

  Gathering   
Processing and 

Storage   
Terminaling and 

Export   
Interest and 

Other   Consolidated  
(in millions)                
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021                

Revenues and other income  $

            

630.6
  $

            
             435.7

  $

            
             137.5

  $ -   $

            
             1,203.8

 

Net income (loss)   

            

377.6
   

            
             263.8

   

            
             103.7

   

(
            

             127.3
)   

            
             617.8

 

Net income (loss) attributable to 
   Hess Midstream LP   

            
             36.3

   

            
             25.5

   

            
             10.1

   

(
            

             25.5
)   

            
             46.4

 

Depreciation expense   

            

101.0
   

            
             48.4

   

            
             16.2

   -    

            
             165.6

 

Proportional share of equity affiliates' depreciation   -    

            
             5.1

   -    -    

            
             5.1

 

Income from equity investments   -    

            
             10.6

   -    -    

            
             10.6

 



Interest expense, net   -    -    -    

            
             105.4

   

            
             105.4

 

Income tax expense (benefit)   -    -    -    

            
             14.6

   

            
             14.6

 

Adjusted EBITDA   

            

478.6
   

            
             317.3

   

            
             119.9

   

(
            

             7.3
)   

            
             908.5

 

Capital expenditures*   

            

154.0
   

            
             28.8

   

            
             0.2

   -    

            
             183.0

 
                
                

  Gathering   
Processing and 

Storage   
Terminaling and 

Export   
Interest and 

Other   Consolidated  
(in millions)                
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020                

Revenues and other income  $

            

561.9
  $

            
             370.6

  $

            
             159.4

  $ -   $

            
             1,091.9

 

Net income (loss)   

            

300.7
   

            
             218.7

   

            
             73.5

   

(
            

             108.0
)   

            
             484.9

 

Net income (loss) attributable to 
   Hess Midstream LP   

            
             19.2

   

            
             13.7

   

            
             4.7

   

(
            

             13.6
)   

            
             24.0

 

Depreciation expense   

            
             96.0

   

            
             44.8

   

            
             16.1

   -    

            
             156.9

 

Proportional share of equity affiliates' depreciation   -    

            
             5.1

   -    -    

            
             5.1

 

Income from equity investments   -    

            
             10.3

   -    -    

            
             10.3

 

Interest expense, net   -    -    -    

            
             94.7

   

            
             94.7

 

Income tax expense (benefit)   -    -    -    

            
             7.3

   

            
             7.3

 

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment   

            
             0.1

   -    -    -    

            
             0.1

 

Adjusted EBITDA   

            

396.6
   

            
             268.6

   

            
             89.6

   

(
            

             6.0
)   

            
             748.8

 

Capital expenditures*   

            
             96.2

   

            
             156.2

   

            
             0.6

   -    

            
             253.0

 
*  Includes expansion and maintenance capital expenditures.
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Total assets for reportable segments are as follows:
 

    
  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  

(in millions)       

Gathering  $

            
             2,022.0

  $

            
             1,927.0

 

Processing and Storage   

            
             1,099.2

   

            
             1,149.5

 

Terminaling and Export   

            
             275.8

   

            
             281.4

 

Interest and Other   

            
             191.2

   

            
             127.7

 

Total assets  $

            
             3,588.2

  $

            
             3,485.6

 
(1) Includes investment in equity investees of $ 
          
           93.9
           million as of December 31, 2022 and $ 
          
           101.6
           million as of December 31, 2021.

Note 14. Income Taxes

Although the Company is a Delaware limited partnership, we are subject to corporate income tax on our share of the Partnership’s earnings because of 
our election to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes.  The provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  

(in millions)  2022   2021   2020  

Federal          

Current  $

            
             0.1

  $

            
             0.1

  $ -  

Deferred taxes and other accruals   

            
             22.8

   

            
             12.5

   

            
             6.2

 

State   

            
             3.7

   

            
             2.0

   

            
             1.1

 

Total provision (benefit) for income taxes  $

            
             26.6

  $

            
             14.6

  $

            
             7.3

 
 

The difference between the effective income tax rate and the U.S. statutory rate is reconciled below:
 

  Year Ended December 31,
  2022  2021  2020

U.S. statutory rate   

            
             21.0

 %   

            
             21.0

 %   

            
             21.0

 %

Noncontrolling interest in partnership   

(
            

             17.4
)    

(
            

             19.0
)    

(
            

             19.7
)  

State tax   

            
             0.5

    

            
             0.3

    

            
             0.2

  

Effective rate   

            
             4.1

 %   

            
             2.3

 %   

            
             1.5

 %

A s a result of the equity offering and repurchase transactions (see Note 3, Equity Transactions), we recognized an additional deferred tax asset in the 
total amount of $
      
       86.4

(1)



       million (2021: $
      
       89.0
       million) related to the change in the temporary difference between carrying amount and tax basis of our investment in the Partnership. The effect of 
recognizing the additional deferred tax asset was included in Class A shareholders’ equity balance in the accompanying consolidated statement of 
changes in partners’ capital due to the transactions being characterized as transactions among or with shareholders. 

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
 

  December 31,  
  2022   2021  

(in millions)       
Deferred tax liabilities       

Investments  $

(
            

             0.5
)  $

(
            

             0.4
)

Total deferred tax liabilities   

(
            

             0.5
)   

(
            

             0.4
)

Deferred tax assets       

Investments   

            
             148.9

   

            
             102.3

 

Net operating loss carryforwards   

            
             28.3

   

            
             15.0

 

Total deferred tax assets   

            
             177.2

   

            
             117.3

 

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)  $

            
             176.7

  $

            
             116.9

 
 

At December 31, 2022, we have recognized a deferred tax asset of $ 
      
       23.5
       million related to U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards which do not expire and $ 
      
       4.8
       million related to U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards which begin to expire in  2030 . We have  
      
       no
       unrecognized tax benefits or interest and penalties related to tax liabilities recorded in the financial statements. For the years presented, we earned 
all net income before taxes in the United States. We file income tax returns in the U.S. and various states. We are not subject to corporate income tax 
examination for years prior to 2019.
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Note 15. Subsequent Events

On  January 23, 2023 the board of directors of our general partner declared a quarterly cash distribution of $
      
       0.5696
       per Class A Share for the quarter ended December 31, 2022, an increase of approximately 
      
       10.2
      % compared with the quarter ended December 31, 2021. The distribution was paid on  February 13, 2023 to shareholders of record as of the close of 
business on  February 2, 2023 . On  February 13, 2023 , the Partnership also made a distribution of $
      
       0.5696
       per Class B Unit of the Partnership to the Sponsors.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based upon their evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a‑15(e) and 15d‑15(e)) as of 
December 31, 2022, John B. Hess, Chief Executive Officer, and Jonathan C. Stein, Chief Financial Officer, concluded that these disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2022.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a‑15(f) and 15d‑15(f) under the Exchange Act, in the quarter 
ended December 31, 2022 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a‑15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal 
financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the 
Sarbanes‑Oxley Act, based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on our evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective 
as of December 31, 2022.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our consolidated financial statements included in this report, has 
issued an attestation report (the “Attestation Report”) on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2022. The Attestation Report is included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this annual report on Form 10‑K.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Management of Hess Midstream LP

We are managed by the directors and officers of Hess Midstream GP LLC (“GP LLC”), the general partner of our general partner. We sometimes refer 
to the directors and officers of GP LLC in this annual report on Form 10‑K as our directors and officers. Because our general partner is a limited 
partnership, we are managed by the directors and executive officers of its general partner, GP LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of HIP GP LLC. Our 
shareholders are not entitled to elect our general partner, the general partner of our general partner, or the directors on its board of directors, or directly or 
indirectly participate in its management or operations. Hess and GIP each have the right to nominate certain individuals to serve on the board of directors 
of GP LLC (the “Company Board”). Because GP LLC is wholly owned by HIP GP LLC, HIP GP LLC has the right to elect the entire Company Board, 
including the independent directors, following their nomination by Hess and GIP.

Neither we nor our subsidiaries have any employees. GP LLC, as the general partner of our general partner, has the sole responsibility for providing 
the employees and other personnel necessary to conduct our operations. All of the employees that conduct our business are employed by affiliates of our 
general partner, but we sometimes refer to these individuals in this annual report on Form 10-K as our employees.

Directors and Executive Officers of GP LLC

Directors have been elected by HIP GP LLC and will hold office until their successors have been elected or qualified or until their earlier death, 
resignation, removal or disqualification. Executive officers have been appointed by, and will serve at the discretion of, the Company Board. The following 
table shows information for the directors and executive officers of GP LLC as of February 27, 2023.

       
Name   Age     Position with Hess Midstream GP LLC
John B. Hess     68     Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
John A. Gatling     49     President and Chief Operating Officer
Jonathan C. Stein     53     Chief Financial Officer
Timothy B. Goodell     65     General Counsel and Secretary
John P. Rielly     60     Director and Vice President
Gregory P. Hill     61     Director
Gerbert Schoonman   57   Director
William J. Brilliant     47     Director
Scott E. Telesz     55     Director
James K. Lee   41   Director
David W. Niemiec     73     Director
John P. Reddy   70   Director
Stephen J. J. Letwin   67   Director

John B. Hess. John B. Hess was appointed as Chairman of the Company Board in September 2019 and has served as Chief Executive Officer of GP 
LLC since September 2019. Mr. Hess served as Chairman of the board of directors (the “Partnership Board”) of Hess Midstream Partners GP LLC (“MLP 
GP LLC”) from September 2014 to December 2019 and as Chief Executive Officer of MLP GP LLC from July 2014 to December 2019. Mr. Hess has 
served as Chief Executive Officer of Hess since 1995. Mr. Hess joined Hess in May 1977 and was elected a director in November 1978. He served as 
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Hess from 1995 until 2013. Mr. Hess has been a member of the board of directors of KKR & Co. Inc. 
(formerly KKR & Co. L.P.), since 2011. We believe that Mr. Hess’ extensive experience in the energy industry, including his more than 40-year career with 
Hess and his extensive leadership experience in his roles as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Hess, makes him well qualified to 
serve as Chairman of the Company Board.

John A. Gatling. John A. Gatling was appointed President and Chief Operating Officer of GP LLC in September 2019. Mr. Gatling served as Chief 
Operating Officer of MLP GP LLC from December 2015 to December 2019. Mr. Gatling also leads Hess’ Bakken business. In addition, Mr. Gatling has 
served as Director of Operational Excellence and Strategic Business Planning for Hess since 2012. Prior to his current roles, Mr. Gatling served as the 
Senior Manager of Global Production Strategic Planning and Performance Management at Hess from 2010 until 2012. Prior to joining Hess in 2010, Mr. 
Gatling spent 14 years with Aera Energy, a joint venture affiliate of Shell and ExxonMobil, where he provided leadership for operational excellence, 
execution of projects, strategic planning and commercial.
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Jonathan C. Stein. Jonathan C. Stein was appointed Chief Financial Officer of GP LLC in September 2019. Mr. Stein served as Chief Financial 

Officer of MLP GP LLC from July 2014 to December 2019. Mr. Stein has served as Senior Vice President, Strategy and Planning of Hess since April 2021 
and continues his role as Chief Risk Officer of Hess which he has held since June 2004. In such capacities, he is responsible for Hess’ corporate strategy 
and financial planning process, business development and commercial function, risk management processes and controls, Hess’ Midstream segment 
financial reporting, derivative disclosure and accounting policy and is a member of Hess’ disclosure review committee. Prior to his current roles, Mr. Stein 
served as Corporate Risk Manager at Hess. Prior to joining Hess in 2001, Mr. Stein was a consultant with Ernst & Young LLP’s Risk Management and 
Regulatory Practice, where he assisted financial services and energy trading clients in establishing their risk management infrastructure. 

Timothy B. Goodell. Timothy B. Goodell was appointed General Counsel and Secretary of GP LLC in September 2019. Mr. Goodell served as 
General Counsel and Secretary of MLP GP LLC from July 2014 to December 2019. He serves as General Counsel of Hess since January 2009, as 
Corporate Secretary of Hess since September 2016, as Chief Compliance Officer since 2017 and as Executive Vice President since 2020. Prior to joining 
Hess in 2009, Mr. Goodell was a partner at the law firm of White & Case LLP, where his practice concentrated in the areas of mergers and acquisitions 
and securities, as well as general corporate and corporate governance matters.

John P. Rielly. John P. Rielly was appointed a Director of the Company Board and Vice President of GP LLC in September 2019. Mr. Rielly served as 
a Vice President of MLP GP LLC from July 2014 to December 2019 and as a member of the Partnership Board from September 2014 to December 2019. 
Mr. Rielly serves as Chief Financial Officer of Hess since April 2004 and as Executive Vice President since 2020. He served as Vice President and 
Controller of Hess from May 2001 to April 2004. Prior to joining Hess, Mr. Rielly was a partner at Ernst & Young LLP. We believe that Mr. Rielly’s 
extensive experience, particularly his knowledge of industry accounting and financial practices gained during his employment at Hess and Ernst & Young 
LLP, makes him well qualified to serve as a member of the Company Board.

Gregory P. Hill. Gregory P. Hill was appointed a member of the Company Board in September 2019. Mr. Hill served a member of the Partnership 
Board from September 2014 to December 2019. He serves as Chief Operating Officer of Hess since May 2014 and as President, Exploration and 
Production of Hess since January 2009. In addition, Mr. Hill served on the board of directors of Hess from 2009 to 2013. Prior to joining Hess in 2009, Mr. 
Hill spent 25 years at Shell, where he performed a variety of operations, engineering, technical and business leadership roles in Asia-Pacific, Europe and 
the United States, including Executive Vice President—Exploration and Production of Singapore-based Shell Asia Pacific from 2006 to 2008 while also 
serving as Chairman of Shell’s Global Production Leadership Team. Mr. Hill has been a director of GoGreen Investments Corporation since 2021. We 
believe that Mr. Hill’s extensive experience in the energy industry, particularly his experience in operations and strategic planning, makes him well 
qualified to serve as a member of the Company Board.

Gerbert Schoonman. Gerbert Schoonman was appointed a member of the Company Board in April 2020. He serves as Senior Vice President, Global 
Production, for Hess since January 1, 2020. He previously served in various operational leadership roles at Hess, including as Vice President, Production 
– Asia Pacific, from January 2011 through August 2012; Vice President, Onshore – Bakken from September 2012 through December 2016; and Vice 
President, Offshore from January 2017 to December 2019. Prior to joining Hess in 2011, he spent 20 years with Shell where he served in operational and 
leadership roles of increasing responsibility. We believe that Mr. Schoonman’s extensive executive and industry experience makes him well qualified to 
serve as a member of the Company Board.

William J. Brilliant. William J. Brilliant was appointed a member of the Company Board in December 2019. Mr. Brilliant served as a member of the 
Partnership Board from December 2015 to December 2019. Mr. Brilliant is currently a Partner of GIP and is a member of GIP’s Investment and Operating 
Committees. He has served as a member of GIP’s investment team since May 2007 and led GIP’s investment in HIP. Prior to joining GIP, Mr. Brilliant was 
an investment banker in the Global Financial Sponsors Group at Lehman Brothers from 2005 to 2007, providing M&A and financial advisory to investment 
funds throughout their investment cycle. Mr. Brilliant has been a director of the managing member of EnLink Midstream, LLC and the general partner of 
EnLink Midstream Partners LP, since 2018, a director of CyrusOne, a privately held data service company, since 2022 and previously served as a 
director of the general partner of Access Midstream Partners L.P. from 2012 to 2014. We believe that Mr. Brilliant’s investing and energy industry 
background, particularly his expertise in mergers and acquisitions, brings important experience and skill to the Company Board.

Scott E. Telesz. Scott E. Telesz was appointed a member of the Company Board in December 2019. Mr. Telesz served as a member of the 
Partnership Board from December 2018 to December 2019. Mr. Telesz is currently a Partner of GIP and has over 25 years of experience in the 
manufacturing industry. Prior to joining GIP in August 2018, Mr. Telesz spent 8 years as an executive at Praxair, an industrial gas manufacturing 
company, most recently as executive vice president in charge of Praxair’s U.S. atmospheric gases businesses, Canada and surface technologies from 
2014 until May 2018. Before joining Praxair, Mr. Telesz spent 12 years at GE/SABIC where he ran various electrical products and plastics businesses. Mr. 
Telesz has been a director of the managing member of EnLink Midstream, LLC since December 2020 and previously served as a director of Edinburgh 
Airport Ltd. from November 2018 to December 2022. We believe that Mr. Telesz’s extensive experience, particularly the leadership skills he developed 
while serving in several executive positions, brings important experience and skill to the Company Board.
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James K. Lee. James K. Lee was appointed a member of the Company Board in February 2022. Mr. Lee is an Investment Principal of GIP. He joined 

GIP in April 2009 and focuses on North American energy investments. Mr. Lee was actively involved in GIP’s investment in the Partnership. Prior to 
joining GIP, Mr. Lee was an investment banker at Goldman Sachs Australia from 2006 to 2009. Mr. Lee previously served as a director of the managing 
member of EnLink Midstream, LLC from 2020 to 2022 and on the Board of Directors of Competitive Power Ventures, a privately held electric power 
generation development and asset management company, from 2019 to 2021. We believe that Mr. Lee’s financial and industry experience makes him 
well qualified to serve as a member of the Company Board.

David W. Niemiec. David W. Niemiec was appointed a member of the Company Board in December 2019. Mr. Niemiec served as a member of the 
Partnership Board from April 2017 to December 2019. Mr. Niemiec is a private equity investor and has served as an advisor to, and previously a 
managing director of, Saratoga Partners since 1998. Prior to his affiliation with Saratoga, Mr. Niemiec was Vice Chairman of the investment banking firm 
Dillon, Read & Co. Inc., where he also served as Chief Financial Officer from 1982 to 1997. Mr. Niemiec is a director or trustee of several mutual funds in 
the Franklin Templeton Investments family. Mr. Niemiec previously served as director of Emeritus Corporation from 1999 to 2010 and OSI 
Pharmaceuticals from 2006 to 2010. We believe that Mr. Niemiec’s extensive financial and investment experience makes him well qualified to serve as a 
member of the Company Board.

John P. Reddy. John P. Reddy was appointed a member of the Company Board in December 2019. Mr. Reddy served as a member of the 
Partnership Board from June 2017 to December 2019. Mr. Reddy has over 20 years of experience in senior financial roles at public companies in the 
midstream energy sector. Mr. Reddy most recently served as Chief Financial Officer of Spectra Energy Corporation, an owner and operator of pipeline 
and midstream energy assets, from 2009 to 2017, and Chief Financial Officer of its sponsored master limited partnership, Spectra Energy Partners. Prior 
to that, he served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Atmos Energy Corporation and in various financial roles with Pacific Enterprises 
Corporation. Mr. Reddy currently serves on the board of directors of Overseas Shipholding Group Inc., and previously was a member of the board of 
directors of DCP Midstream, LLC from 2009 until 2017, and Paragon Offshore Plc from July 2014 until July 2017. We believe that Mr. Reddy’s extensive 
financial and industry experience makes him well qualified to serve as a member of the Company Board.

Stephen J.J. Letwin. Stephen J.J. Letwin was appointed a member of the Company Board in December 2019. Mr. Letwin served as a member of the 
Partnership Board from February 2018 to December 2019. Mr. Letwin has over 30 years of experience in senior operating and financial roles in the 
midstream energy and resources sectors. Mr. Letwin has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Mancal Corporation since February 1, 2020. 
Mr. Letwin previously served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of IAMGOLD Corporation from November 2010 to February 2020. Prior to 
joining IAMGOLD, Mr. Letwin served in senior management roles at Enbridge, Inc., from 1999 through September 2010, most recently as Executive Vice 
President, Gas Transportation & International, from May 2006 to September 2010, where he was responsible for Enbridge’s natural gas operations and 
prior to that as Managing Director of Enbridge Energy Partners. Mr. Letwin previously spent 12 years in senior management roles at TransCanada 
Pipelines Limited, Numac Energy Inc., and Encor Energy Partners. Mr. Letwin currently serves as Chairman of the board of directors of Cassiar Gold 
Corp and ONEnergy Inc., currently serves as a member of the board of directors of Frontier Lithium Inc. and previously was a member of the board of 
directors of IAMGOLD from 2010 until January 2020 and Precision Drilling Corporation from 2006 until 2018. We believe that Mr. Letwin’s extensive 
executive, financial and industry experience makes him well qualified to serve as a member of the Company Board.

Director Independence

Although most companies listed on the NYSE are required to have a majority of independent directors serving on the board of directors of the listed 
company, the NYSE does not require a publicly traded limited partnership like us to have a majority of independent directors on our board of directors or 
to establish a compensation or a nominating and corporate governance committee. We do not currently intend to establish a compensation or a 
nominating and corporate governance committee. Accordingly, shareholders will not have the same protections afforded to equity holders of companies 
that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of the NYSE. We are, however, required to have an audit committee of at least three 
members, and all of our audit committee members are required to satisfy the independence and experience standards established by the NYSE and the 
Exchange Act.

Committees of the Board of Directors

The Company Board has a standing audit committee and may have a conflicts committee and such other committees as the Company Board shall 
determine from time to time.
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Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company Board is currently comprised of three directors, each of whom satisfy the independence and experience 
standards established by the NYSE and the Exchange Act and all are “audit committee financial experts” as this term is defined by applicable SEC rules. 
The current members are Messrs. Niemiec, Reddy and Letwin and Mr. Niemiec serves as the chair of the committee. The audit committee assists the 
Company Board in its oversight of the integrity of our financial statements and our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and corporate 
policies and controls. The audit committee has the sole authority to retain and terminate our independent registered public accounting firm, approve all 
auditing services and related fees and the terms thereof, and pre-approve any non-audit services to be rendered by our independent registered public 
accounting firm. The audit committee is also responsible for confirming the independence and objectivity of our independent registered public accounting 
firm. Our independent registered public accounting firm will be given unrestricted access to the audit committee. The charter of the audit committee is 
available on our website (www.hessmidstream.com) under the “Company” tab.

While the audit committee oversees our financial reporting process on behalf of the Company Board, management has the primary responsibility for 
preparing the financial statements and the reporting process, including the systems of internal controls. In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the audit 
committee reviews and discusses with management the audited financial statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10‑K.

Conflicts Committee

The Company Board has the ability to establish, from time to time, a conflicts committee under our partnership agreement. If established, at least two 
members of the board of directors will serve on any conflicts committee to review specific matters that may involve conflicts of interest in accordance with 
the terms of our partnership agreement and to take into account the interests of the public shareholders. The board of directors will determine whether to 
refer a matter to a conflicts committee on a case by case basis. The members of any conflicts committee may not be officers or employees of our general 
partner or directors, officers or employees of its affiliates (including the Sponsors) and must meet the independence and experience standards established 
by the NYSE and the Exchange Act to serve on an audit committee of a board of directors. In addition, the members of any conflicts committee may not 
own any interest in our general partner or any of its affiliates or any interest in the Company or its subsidiaries other than Class A Shares or awards under 
our long-term incentive plan. If our general partner seeks approval from a conflicts committee, then it will be presumed that, in making its decision, the 
conflicts committee acted in good faith, and in any proceeding brought by or on behalf of any limited partner or the Company challenging such 
determination, the person bringing or prosecuting such proceeding will have the burden of overcoming such presumption.

Board Leadership Structure

The chief executive officer of our general partner serves as the chairman of the Company Board. The Company Board has no policy with respect to the 
separation of the offices of chairman of the board of directors and chief executive officer. Instead, that relationship is defined and governed by the 
amended and restated limited liability company agreement of our general partner, which permits the same person to hold both offices. Members of the 
Company Board are elected by HIP GP LLC. Accordingly, unlike holders of common stock in a corporation, our shareholders have only limited voting 
rights on matters affecting our business or governance, subject in all cases to any specific shareholder rights contained in our partnership agreement.

Executive Sessions

Independent directors generally meet in executive sessions after each regularly scheduled board meeting. Mr. Niemiec, the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee, presides at these sessions.

Board Role in Risk Oversight

The Company Board has primary responsibility for assessing the major risks facing us and the options for their mitigation. The audit committee assists 
the Company Board in its risk oversight responsibilities by reviewing the policies that management implements to monitor such exposures, including our 
financial risk exposures, and the implementation and effectiveness of our compliance programs.

Interested Party Communications

Any shareholder or interested party who wishes to communicate with members of the Company Board or with non-management directors will be able 
to do so by writing to them in care of the General Counsel and Secretary at Hess Midstream LP, 1501 McKinney Street, Houston, Texas 77010. Such 
communications should specify the intended recipient or recipients.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for directors and employees designed to help directors and employees resolve ethical issues 
in an increasingly complex business environment. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applies to all directors and employees, including the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on our website (www.hessmidstream.com) under 
the “Company” tab.
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Act) requires directors and executive officers of our general partner, and persons who own 
more than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership of our shares with the SEC and the 
NYSE, and to furnish us with copies of the forms they file. To our knowledge, based solely upon a review of the copies of such reports furnished to us and 
written representations of our officers and directors, during the year ended December 31, 2022, all Section 16(a) reports applicable to our officers and 
directors were filed on a timely basis.

 

95



Table of Contents
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Neither we nor GP LLC employ any of the persons who serve as executive officers of GP LLC and are responsible for managing our business. We are 
managed by GP LLC, the executive officers of which are employees of Hess. Our general partner has entered into an employee secondment agreement 
with Hess and certain of its subsidiaries pursuant to which, among other matters, Hess and its subsidiaries make available to our general partner the 
services of the employees who serve as our executive officers in exchange for a fee. Except with respect to awards granted under our LTIP, we do not 
pay compensation to any of the executive officers and do not participate in any compensation decisions for the Named Executive Officers.

For purposes of simplicity and ease of understanding, we have presented this Compensation Discussion and Analysis (“CD&A”) on a basis that reflects 
our current organizational structure following the Restructuring and therefore references in this CD&A and the accompanying executive compensation 
tables to us and to GP LLC with respect to periods prior to the Restructuring should be interpreted as referring to the Partnership and to the general 
partner of the Partnership’s general partner, as in effect prior to the Restructuring.

Our Named Executive Officers

Our Named Executive Officers (NEOs) are as follows:

• John B. Hess, Chief Executive Officer;

• Jonathan C. Stein, Chief Financial Officer;

• John A. Gatling, President and Chief Operating Officer;

• Timothy B. Goodell, General Counsel and Secretary; and

• John P. Rielly, Vice President.

Compensation of our NEOs by Hess

All of the NEOs perform responsibilities for both us and for Hess and its affiliates unrelated to our business and, except as described herein, their 
compensation is set and paid by Hess under its compensation programs, none of which are specific to us or our business. Except with respect to awards 
that may be granted from time to time under our LTIP, our NEOs do not receive any separate or additional compensation for their services to us or as 
executive officers of GP LLC.

Except with respect to awards granted under our LTIP, Hess has sole decision-making authority with respect to the compensation paid by Hess to our 
NEOs. Such decisions are overseen by Hess’s board of directors and we do not have any authority and do not provide any input with respect to such 
decisions. The compensation that is paid by Hess to our NEOs is determined solely based on the roles they perform for Hess, which includes their 
seconded role as executive officers.

Our LTIP

We have adopted the Hess Midstream LP Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”) for officers, directors and employees of GP LLC or its affiliates and 
other individuals who perform services for us. The LTIP provides for the grant, from time to time at the discretion of the plan administrator or any delegate 
thereof, subject to applicable law, of unit awards, restricted units, phantom units, unit options, unit appreciation rights, distribution equivalent rights, profits 
interest units and other unit-based awards.

The LTIP is generally administered by the board of directors of GP LLC and, from time to time, we have granted awards of phantom units with 
distribution equivalent rights to certain of our NEOs. Such awards are granted for the purpose of providing incentive compensation to these NEOs that is 
directly tied to the performance of our Class A Shares and to align the economic interests of the NEOs with the interests of our shareholders.

Decisions with respect to awards of phantom units to our NEOs are made by the board of directors of GP LLC in consultation with Hess’ board of 
directors and Hess’ executive officers, taking into account the NEO’s role within our organization, including duties, responsibilities and seniority levels. For 
2022, 2021 and 2020, such awards were not granted to our NEOs who are also executive officers of Hess on the basis that the scope of their duties 
involving us relative to their overall duties as executive officers of Hess did not warrant such awards.

For 2022, 2021 and 2020, phantom unit awards to our NEOs included distribution equivalent rights and vest ratably over a three year period following 
the date of grant, subject to the NEO’s continued service to Hess through the vesting date. Upon vesting, each phantom unit is paid in the form of a Class 
A Share in us, or an equivalent amount of cash, subject to applicable tax withholdings. Award amounts, which are set forth below were determined based 
on the judgement and industry experience of the board members (in consultation with Hess, as described above), taking into account the factors 
discussed above. We did not engage an independent compensation consultant or other advisor in making such decisions and did not benchmark award 
amounts against any specific peer group of companies.
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the compensation for services rendered to us by the NEOs during 2022, 2021 and 2020, which is limited to awards 
granted under our LTIP. Our NEOs have separately received compensation from Hess, none of which is specifically attributable to us. Under our 
secondment agreement with Hess, we pay Hess a fee in exchange for making the services of NEOs available to us.

Name and Principal Position  Year  Salary   Bonus   

Unit
Awards   

All Other 
Compensation   Total  

John B. Hess, Chief Executive Officer  2022  $ -   $ -   $ -   $ -   $ -  
  2021   -    -    -    -    -  
  2020   -    -    -    -    -  
Jonathan C. Stein, Chief Financial Officer  2022   -    -   $ 249,992    -   $ 249,992  
  2021   -    -   $ 250,006    -   $ 250,006  
  2020   -    -   $ 250,004    -   $ 250,004  
John A. Gatling, President and Chief Operating Officer  2022   -    -   $ 249,992    -   $ 249,992  
  2021   -    -   $ 250,006    -   $ 250,006  
  2020   -    -   $ 250,004    -   $ 250,004  
Timothy B. Goodell, General Counsel and Secretary  2022   -    -    -    -    -  
  2021   -    -    -    -    -  
  2020   -    -    -    -    -  
John P. Rielly, Vice President  2022   -    -    -    -    -  
  2021   -    -    -    -    -  
  2020   -    -    -    -    -  

 

(1) Amount shown represents the grant date fair value of phantom unit awards granted pursuant to our LTIP, determined in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards for 2022

The following table provides information regarding phantom units granted to our NEOs in 2022. The phantom units include distribution equivalent rights 
and vest ratably over three years following the date of grant.

Name  Grant Date   

All Other Unit Awards: 
Number of Units 

(#)   

Grant Date Fair Value 
of Unit Awards 

($)  
John B. Hess   -    -   $ -  
Jonathan C. Stein  3/8/2022    7,458  $ 249,992  
John A. Gatling  3/8/2022    7,458  $ 249,992  
Timothy B. Goodell   -    -   $ -  
John P. Rielly   -    -   $ -  

 

(1) Amount shown represents the grant date fair value of phantom unit awards granted pursuant to our LTIP, determined in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

The following table provides information regarding phantom units with distribution equivalent rights received by our NEOs and outstanding as of 
December 31, 2022. 

Name  
Number of shares 

that have not vested   
Market value of shares 
that have not vested  

John B. Hess   -   $ -  
Jonathan C. Stein   22,680   $ 678,585  
John A. Gatling   22,680   $ 678,585  
Timothy B. Goodell   -   $ -  
John P. Rielly   -   $ -  

 

(1) Amount shown represents outstanding unvested phantom units as of December 31, 2022. The awards vest in three equal annual installments.
(2) Value shown is based on the closing market price of the Class A Shares on December 30, 2022, the last trading day of 2022, of $29.92 per share.

Options Exercised and Shares Vested in Fiscal 2022

The following table provides information regarding the exercise of options and vesting of shares held by our NEOs during the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2022.

  Unit Awards  

Name  

Number of shares 
acquired on vesting

(#)   

Value realized 
on vesting

($)  
John B. Hess   -   $ -  
Jonathan C. Stein   15,163   $ 493,324  
John A. Gatling   15,163   $ 493,324  
Timothy B. Goodell   -   $ -  
John P. Rielly   -   $ -  

(1) Represents the value of vested shares calculated by multiplying (i) the gross number of the Company shares acquired on vesting by (ii) the closing price of the Company shares on 
the date of vesting.

Pension Benefits and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

We do not provide pension or nonqualified deferred compensation benefits to any of our NEOs and we have no obligations with respect to any such 
benefits that may be provided to the NEOs under the pension and nonqualified deferred compensation plans of Hess.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

None of our NEO’s have entered into any employment, severance or similar agreements in relation to their services to us or our general partner and, 
except with respect to the phantom units issued pursuant to our LTIP, as of December 31, 2022, there were no arrangements pursuant to which our NEOs 
would receive any payments or benefits in connection with a change in control of us.

The phantom unit awards granted pursuant to the LTIP generally contemplate that the individual grants of phantom units will vest in three equal annual 
installments based on the grantee’s continued employment through the vesting dates, subject to acceleration upon (i) the grantee’s death or disability, (ii) 
the grantee’s retirement after attaining age 65 with at least five years of continuous service with Hess or its affiliates, (iii) upon a termination without cause 
or a resignation for good reason following the occurrence of a change in control of us, or (iv) in the discretion of the plan administrator, which may provide 
for pro‑rated vesting, upon an early retirement, which is generally defined as a retirement after attaining age 55 with 10 years of service with Hess and its 
affiliates. The board of directors of our general partner may also accelerate the vesting of the phantom units in its discretion at any time.

Set forth below is the total estimated value, assuming that a change in control occurred on December 31, 2022 and the employment of each NEO 
terminated on that date under circumstances entitling them to accelerated vesting of the phantom units.

Name  Phantom Units ($)   Total ($)  
John B. Hess   -    -  
Jonathan C. Stein  $ 678,585   $ 678,585  
John A. Gatling  $ 678,585   $ 678,585  
Timothy B. Goodell   -    -  
John P. Rielly   -    -  

 

The amounts in the table above were calculated assuming a change in control occurred on December 31, 2022 using the closing price of our Class A 
Shares on December 30, 2022 (the last trading day of our fiscal year) of $29.92 per Class A Share.
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Compensation of Our Directors

The officers or employees of Hess or GIP who also serve as our directors do not receive additional compensation for their service as a director of Hess 
Midstream GP LLC. Our directors who are not officers or employees of Hess or GIP, or “non‑employee directors,” receive cash and equity‑based 
compensation for their services as directors. The non‑employee director compensation program consists of the following:

• an annual cash retainer of $65,000;

• an additional annual cash retainer of $15,000 for service as the lead director or chair of the audit committee and $10,000 for service as the chair of 
the conflicts committee; and

• an annual equity‑based award granted under the LTIP having a value as of the grant date of approximately $65,000.

Such directors also receive reimbursement for out‑of‑pocket expenses associated with attending board or committee meetings and are covered by our 
director and officer liability insurance policies. All directors are indemnified by us for actions associated with being a director to the fullest extent permitted 
under Delaware law.

The following table provides information regarding the compensation earned by our non‑employee directors during the year ended December 31, 
2022:

Name  
Fees Earned 

or Paid in Cash   Unit Awards   Total  
David W. Niemiec  $ 80,000    $ 64,995   $ 144,995  
John P. Reddy  $ 67,500    $ 64,995   $ 132,495  
Stephen J. J. Letwin  $ 65,000    $ 64,995   $ 129,995  

(1) Amount shown represents the grant date fair value of phantom unit awards granted pursuant to our LTIP, determined in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. 
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of shares of Hess Midstream LP as held by beneficial owners of 5% or more of the shares, by 
each of our current directors and named executive officers, and by all of our current directors and executive officers as a group. The number and 
percentage of shares beneficially owned is based on a total of shares outstanding as of February 10, 2023 for the named directors and executive officers, 
and as of December 31, 2022 for the other beneficial owners. Amounts for directors and named executive officers include phantom units outstanding 
pursuant to the Hess Midstream LP 2017 Long‑Term Incentive Plan that vest within 60 days of February 10, 2023.

  Shares Beneficially Owned by Certain Beneficial Owners  
  Class A Shares   Class B Shares   Combined Voting Power  

Name of beneficial owner  Number   % of class   Number   % of class   Number   % of class  
Entities Affiliated with Hess Midstream 
GP LP, our general partner 

 
 196,745,606   82.03%    195,847,606   100%    196,745,606   82.03%  

Energy Income Partners, LLC
James J. Murchie
Eva Pao
Saul Ballesteros
John K. Tysseland
10 Wright Street
Westport, CT 06880

 

 3,287,590   7.5%    -    -    3,287,590   *  
First Trust Portfolios L.P.
First Trust Advisors L.P.
The Charger Corporation
120 East Liberty Drive, Suite 400
Wheaton, IL 60187

 

 3,904,897   8.87%    -    -    3,904,897   *  
Invesco Ltd.
1555 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 1800
Atlanta, GA 30309

 

 2,279,314   5.2%    -    -    2,279,314   *  
                   
Directors/Named Executive Officers                   
John B. Hess   -   *    -    -    -   *  
John A. Gatling   54,383   *    -    -    54,383   *  
Jonathan C. Stein   49,409   *    -    -    49,409   *  
John P. Rielly   20,000   *    -    -    20,000   *  
Gregory P. Hill   4,350   *    -    -    4,350   *  
Gerbert G. Schoonman   3,249   *    -    -    3,249   *  
Timothy B. Goodell   12,500   *    -    -    12,500   *  
William J. Brilliant   -    -    -    -    -    -  
Scott E. Telesz   -    -    -    -    -    -  
James K. Lee   -    -    -    -    -    -  
David W. Niemiec   44,761   *    -    -    44,761   *  
John P. Reddy   18,671   *    -    -    18,671   *  
Stephen J.J. Letwin   26,657   *    -    -    26,657   *  
All Directors and Executive 
   Officers as a group (13 persons)

 
 233,980   0.53%    -    -    233,980   *  

 

*Less than 1%.

(1) Class B Shares have no economic rights, but entitle the holder thereof to one vote for each Class B Unit in the Partnership held by such holder. Class B Shares of the Company 

together with an equal number of Class B Units in the Partnership are convertible to Class A Shares of the Company on a one-for-one basis.

(2) Represents percentage of voting power of the Class A Shares and Class B Shares voting together as a single class. 

(3) Hess Midstream GP LP, our general partner, is the record holder of 898,000 Class A Shares and 195,847,606 Class B Shares. Each of Hess Investments North Dakota LLC 

(“HINDL”) and GIP II Blue Holding, L.P. (“Blue Holding”) holds an indirect 50% ownership of our general partner and may therefore be deemed to beneficially own such Class A 

Shares and Class B Shares. In addition, each of HINDL and Blue Holding owns 97,923,803 Class B Units in the Partnership, which, together with a corresponding number of Class B 

Shares, may be redeemed for Class A Shares on a one-for-one basis at the option of the holder. Hess is the parent company of HINDL and may therefore be deemed the beneficial 

owner of the securities beneficially owned by HINDL. The general partner of Blue Holding is GIP Blue Holding GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Blue Holding GP”). 

Global Infrastructure GP II, L.P., a Guernsey limited partnership (“Global GP”) is the sole member of Blue Holding GP. Global Infrastructure Investors II, LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company (“Global Investors” and, together with Global GP, Blue Holding GP and Blue Holding, the “GIP Entities”) is the sole general partner of Global GP. As a result, each of 

Blue Holding GP, Global GP and Global Investors may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of the securities beneficially owned by Blue Holding. In addition, as security for Blue 

Holding's obligations under its term loan facility, Blue Holding pledged substantially all of the assets of Blue Holding, including all Class B Units in the Partnership held by Blue 

Holding and all Class A Shares owned by Hess Midstream GP LP in which Blue Holding has an indirect ownership interest, but only to the extent such shares are actually distributed 

to Blue Holding (collectively, the "Pledged Securities”). All voting rights and rights to receive dividends or distributions with respect to the Pledged Securities will remain with Blue 

Holding unless the Pledged Securities are foreclosed upon in accordance with the agreements governing the Blue Holding's term loan facility. The address for Hess Corporation is 

1185 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10036, and the address for our general partner and HINDL is 1501 McKinney Street, Houston TX 77010. The address for each of the 

GIP Entities is c/o Global Infrastructure Investors II LLC, 1345 Avenue of the Americas, 30th Floor, New York, NY 10105.
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(4) Assumes the full redemption and exchange of all Class B Units in the Partnership owned by HINDL and Blue Holding, and a corresponding number of Class B Shares, for Class A 

Shares.

(5) Based on a Schedule 13G jointly filed with the SEC on February 14, 2023 by Energy Income Partners, LLC, James J. Murchie, Eva Pao, Saul Ballesteros and John K. Tysseland. 

Energy Income Partners, LLC serves as a sub-adviser to certain registered investment companies advised by First Trust Advisors LP which beneficially owned 5.1% of this share 

class as of December 31, 2022. James J. Murchie, Eva Pao and John K. Tysseland are portfolio managers with respect to portfolios managed by Energy Income Partners, LLC and 

Saul Ballesteros is a controlled person of Energy Income Partners, LLC. All listed parties have shared voting and dispositive power over the Class A Shares.

(6) Based on a Schedule 13G jointly filed with the SEC on January 23, 2023 by The Charger Corporation, First Trust Portfolios L.P. and First Trust Advisors L.P. The Charger 

Corporation is the General Partner of both First Trust Portfolios L.P. and First Trust Advisors L.P. First Trust Portfolios L.P. acts as sponsor of certain unit investment trusts which hold 

Class A Shares. This amount includes (x) 2,642,371 Class A Shares over which First Trust Advisors L.P. and The Charger Corporation share voting power and (y) 3,904,897 Class A 

Shares over which First Trust Advisors L.P. and The Charger Corporation share dispositive power. 

(7) Based on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 8, 2023, Invesco Ltd. has sole voting and dispositive power over the Class A Shares. This amount includes (y) 

2,279,314 Class A Shares over which Invesco Ltd. has sole voting power and (z) 2,217,502 Class A Shares over which Invesco Ltd. has sole dispositive power.

(8) Scott E. Telesz, James K. Lee and William J. Brilliant, directors of the general partner of our general partner, as members of internal committees of Global Investors, are entitled to 

vote on decisions to vote, or to direct to vote, and to dispose, or to direct the disposition of, the Class A Shares, Class B Shares and Class B Units beneficially owned by Blue Holding 

but cannot individually control the outcome of such decisions. Scott E. Telesz, James K. Lee and William J. Brilliant disclaim any beneficial ownership of the Class A Shares, Class B 

Shares and Class B Units beneficially owned by the GIP Entities.

The following table sets forth the number of shares of Hess Corporation common stock beneficially owned as of February 10, 2023, except as 
otherwise noted, by each of our current directors and named executive officers and by all current directors and executive officers as a group. 

Name  

Total number of shares 
beneficially owned and 

nature of beneficial 
ownership   

Percent of outstanding 
shares of common stock 

owned    

Of total number of 
shares beneficially 
owned, number of 

option shares  
Directors/Named Executive Officers           
John B. Hess  29,248,418    9.52  %   678,220  
John A. Gatling   11,862   *     3,480 
Jonathan C. Stein   20,052   *     8,885 
John P. Rielly   356,030   *     42,164  
Gregory P. Hill   213,389   *     93,452  
Timothy B. Goodell   156,704   *     18,901  
Gerbert G. Schoonman   56,750   *     17,231  
William J. Brilliant   -    -     -  
Scott E. Telesz   -    -     -  
James K. Lee   -    -     -  
David W. Niemiec   -    -     -  
John P. Reddy   -    -     -  
Stephen J.J. Letwin   -    -     -  
All Directors and Executive Officers as a group
(13 persons)

 
 30,063,205    9.69  %   862,333  

 

*The percentage of shares beneficially owned by each director or executive officer does not exceed 1% of the common shares outstanding.

a) These figures include 70,766 shares vested in the name of Mr. Hess, 4,884 shares vested in the name of Mr. Rielly, 1,742 shares vested in the name of Mr. Stein, and 77,392 

shares vested for all executive officers and directors as a group under the Hess employees’ savings plan as to which these individuals and the group have voting and dispositive 

power. These amounts also include 28,194 shares held in escrow under Hess Corporation’s Long‑term Incentive Plans for Mr. Hill, 12,000 shares held in escrow under these plans 

for Mr. Rielly, 4,015 shares held in escrow under these plans for Mr. Gatling, 6,887 shares held in escrow under these plans for Mr. Stein and 71,055 shares held in escrow under 

these plans for all executive officers and directors as a group. As to these shares, these individuals and the group have voting power but not dispositive power. Holders of stock 

options do not have the right to vote or any other right of a stockholder with respect to shares of common stock underlying such options until they are exercised.

b) This amount includes 7,779,037 shares held by a charitable lead annuity trust established under the will of Leon Hess. Mr. Hess has sole voting power over the stock held by this 

trust and shares dispositive power over such stock with other individuals.

c) This amount includes 8,817,802 shares held by a limited partnership. Mr. Hess serves on the management committee of the general partner of this limited partnership and shares 

voting and dispositive power with respect to shares held by the limited partnership.

d) This amount includes 6,436,881 shares held by the Hess Foundation, Inc. of which Mr. Hess is a director and as to which Mr. Hess has sole voting power and shares dispositive 

power with certain other directors of the foundation.

e) This amount includes:

• 120,310 shares owned directly by Mr. Hess.

• 28,753 shares held by a family limited liability company controlled by Mr. Hess, as to which Mr. Hess has sole voting power and dispositive power.

• 678,220 shares underlying options to purchase common stock, as to which Mr. Hess has no voting or dispositive power until they are acquired upon exercise of the options.

• 70,766 shares vested in the name of Mr. Hess under the employees’ savings plan as to which he has sole voting and dispositive power.

• 789,103 shares held by a limited liability company, for which Mr. Hess serves as investment manager and has sole voting and dispositive power.
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• 1,235,877 shares held by Mr. Hess’ siblings or their children, or by trusts for the benefit of Mr. Hess’ siblings or their children, as to which Mr. Hess has sole voting power 

pursuant to shareholders agreements among Mr. Hess and his siblings or their children and as to 557,131 shares of which he shares dispositive power pursuant to a 

shareholder’s agreement among Mr. Hess and a sibling and others. 331,813 of these shares (representing approximately 0.1% of Hess common stock outstanding) have been 

pledged by certain of the trusts. Mr. Hess has no financial or economic interest in the shares pledged by the trusts.

• 1,008,402 shares held by a trust for the benefit of Mr. Hess’ sibling, of which Mr. Hess has sole voting and shared dispositive power.

• 222,783 shares held by trusts as to which Mr. Hess has sole voting power and 2,060,484 shares held by three limited liability companies as to which Mr. Hess has sole voting 

power. These shares (representing 0.7% of Hess common stock outstanding) have been pledged by the trusts. Mr. Hess is not a trustee of these trusts and has no financial or 

economic interest in the shares pledged by the trusts.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

See Equity Compensation Plan Information in Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of 
Equity Securities for information pertaining to securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plan.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

As of December 31, 2022, the Sponsors own all of the ownership interests in HIP GP LLC, which owns all of the ownership interests in our general 
partner and in GP LLC, the general partner of our general partner. As of December 31, 2022, the Sponsors, through their ownership interests in our 
general partner, own, in the aggregate, 898,000 of our Class A Shares (economic and voting) and 195,847,606 of our Class B Shares (non-economic, 
voting only). In addition, as of December 31, 2022, the Sponsors own 195,847,606 of Class B Units in Hess Midstream Operations LP, or the Partnership, 
representing an approximate 81.7% noncontrolling interest in the consolidated entity. Class B Shares of the Company together with an equal number of 
Class B Units in the Partnership are convertible to Class A Shares of the Company on a one-for-one basis. The Sponsors obtained their Class A Shares 
of the Company, Class B Shares of the Company and Class B Units of the Partnership on December 16, 2019 at the closing of the Restructuring.

Distributions and Payments to the Sponsors and Their Affiliates 

The following information summarizes the distributions and payments, made or to be made, by the Company and the Partnership to Hess Midstream 
GP LP, our general partner, and its affiliates, including the Sponsors, in connection with repurchase transactions and the Restructuring, ongoing 
operation and liquidation of the Company and the Partnership. 

Repurchase Transactions

Pursuant to the repurchase transactions, the Sponsors received an aggregate purchase price of $750 million in 2021 and $400 million in 2022 in 
exchange for the Partnership’s repurchase of 15,625,000 Class B Units and 13,559,322 Class B Units, respectively, from each Sponsor.

The Restructuring

After consummation of the Restructuring, the Sponsors and their affiliates received an aggregate of 898,000 Class A Shares, 266,416,928 Class B 
Units representing noncontrolling limited partner interests in the Partnership and aggregate cash consideration of $601.8 million.

Operational Stage

We will generally make cash distributions to holders of Class A Shares pro rata, including to Hess Midstream GP LP, our general partner in its capacity, 
as the holder of an aggregate of 898,000 Class A Shares. The Partnership will generally make cash distributions to holders of units in the Partnership, 
including to the Sponsors as holders of an aggregate of 195,847,606 Class B Units outstanding at December 31, 2022, pro rata. 

Liquidation Stage

If we dissolve in accordance with our partnership agreement, we will sell or otherwise dispose of our assets in a process called liquidation. We will first 
apply the proceeds of liquidation to the payment of our creditors. We will distribute any remaining proceeds to all record holders of Class A Shares, pro 
rata, and such distribution will be made by the end of such taxable period (or, if later, within 90 days after said date of such occurrence).

Payments to Hess Midstream GP LP and its affiliates

Under our partnership agreement, we are required to reimburse Hess Midstream GP LP, as our general partner, and its affiliates for all costs and 
expenses that they incur on our behalf for managing and controlling our business and operations. Except to the extent specified under our amended 
omnibus agreement and amended employee secondment agreement, our general partner determines the amount of these expenses and such 
determinations must be made in good faith under the terms of the partnership agreement. The costs and expenses for which we are required to reimburse 
our general partner and its affiliates are not subject to any caps or other limits.

Agreements Entered Into in Connection with the Restructuring 

Merger Agreement 

In connection with the Restructuring, we entered into the merger agreement with the Partnership, MLP GP LP, the Company, Hess Midstream GP LP, 
HIP GP LLC and MergerSub, pursuant to which MergerSub merged with and into the Partnership, with the Partnership surviving the merger. After the 
completion of the merger, the certificate of formation and the limited liability company agreement of the Partnership in effect immediately prior to the 
completion of the merger continued to be the certificate of formation (except to the extent the limited liability company agreement is amended by the 
certificate of merger) and the limited liability company agreement of the surviving entity, in each case, until amended in accordance with its terms and 
applicable law. 
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Amended Omnibus Agreement 

In connection with the Restructuring, we amended and restated our omnibus agreement by entering into the amended omnibus agreement under 
which we pay Hess on a monthly basis an amount equal to the total allocable costs of Hess’ employees and contractors, subcontractors or other outside 
personnel engaged by Hess and its subsidiaries to the extent such employees and outside personnel perform operational and administrative services for 
us in support of our directly and indirectly owned assets, plus a specified percentage markup of such amount depending on the type of service provided, 
as well as an allocable share of direct costs of providing these services. The Sponsors will be obligated to reimburse us for certain matters, claims and 
losses arising from the ownership of assets, including certain environmental and tax liabilities, rights of way and real property losses. The amended 
omnibus agreement also provides for the Company to indemnify HIP GP LLC and the Hess entities for certain matters and claims arising after the 
consummation of the Restructuring.

Amended Employee Secondment Agreement 

In connection with the Restructuring, we amended and restated our secondment agreement by entering into amended employee secondment 
agreement with Hess and an affiliate of Hess pursuant to which Hess seconds certain personnel to Hess Midstream GP LLC to provide services with 
respect to our direct and indirect assets and operations, including executive oversight, business and corporate development, shareholder and investor 
relations, communications and public relations, routine and emergency maintenance and repair services, routine operational services, routine 
administrative services, construction services, and such other operational, commercial and business services that are necessary to develop and execute 
our business strategy. 

On a monthly basis, Hess Midstream GP LLC pays a secondment fee to Hess that is intended to cover and reimburse Hess for the total costs actually 
incurred by Hess and its affiliates in connection with employing the seconded employees to the extent such total costs are attributable to the provision of 
services with respect to our direct and indirect assets and operations. Hess determines in good faith the percentage of the costs that are attributable to the 
services provided by the seconded employees based on Hess’ then-current corporate transfer pricing policies, as generally applied in a non-
discriminatory manner, or based on such other reasonable cost allocation methodology as Hess shall determine. We reimburse Hess Midstream GP LLC 
for the cost of the secondment fee payable by Hess Midstream GP LLC under the amended employee secondment agreement.

Amended Registration Rights Agreement

In connection with the Restructuring, we amended and restated our registration rights agreement by entering into the amended registration rights 
agreement with Hess and GIP pursuant to which we granted each of Hess and GIP and certain of their affiliates certain demand and “piggyback” 
registration rights. Under the amended registration rights agreement, each of Hess and GIP and certain of their affiliates generally has the right to require 
us to file a registration statement for the public sale of all of the Class A Shares received, pursuant to our partnership agreement, in exchange for the 
Partnership’s Class B Units and the Company’s Class B Shares owned by them. In addition, if we sell any Class A Shares in a registered underwritten 
offering, each of Hess and GIP and certain of their affiliates will have the right, subject to specified limitations, to include their Class A Shares in that 
offering. We will generally pay all expenses relating to any demand or piggyback registration, except for underwriters or brokers’ commission or discounts 
and expenses of counsel or advisors to the selling holders of registrable securities.

Commercial agreements

Oil and Gas Commercial Agreements 

We have entered into long‑term, fee‑based commercial agreements with Hess, each of which has an initial 10‑year term (except for a certain 
gathering subsystem, for which the initial term of the gas gathering agreement is 15 years) and is dated effective January 1, 2014. On December 30, 
2020, we exercised our renewal option to extend these commercial agreements for one additional 10‑year term through December 31, 2033 (except for a 
certain gathering subsystem, for which the additional term of the gas gathering agreement is 5 years). These agreements include dedications covering 
substantially all of Hess’ existing and future owned or controlled production in the Bakken, minimum volume commitments, inflation escalators and fee 
recalculation mechanisms, all of which are intended to provide us with cash flow stability and growth, as well as downside risk protection.

Under these commercial agreements, we provide gathering, compression, processing, fractionation, storage, terminaling, loading and transportation 
services to Hess, and Hess is obligated to provide us with minimum volumes of crude oil, natural gas and NGLs. These commercial agreements are 
currently the source of substantially all of our revenue.

Compressed Natural Gas Agreement

We have entered into a 9‑year compressed natural gas agreement with Hess under which Hess delivers residue gas to us at the inlet of our CNG 
terminal at the Tioga Gas Plant, and we receive and compress the residue gas and deliver CNG to the tailgate of the CNG terminal for Hess. Hess pays 
us a fee per Mcf of CNG we deliver to Hess each month. Our compressed natural gas agreement is dated effective January 1, 2015.
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Water Services Agreements 

Effective January 1, 2019, we entered into two 14-year water services agreements with an affiliate of Hess pursuant to which we provide produced 
water transport, including gathering, and disposal services to Hess at an agreed-upon fee per barrel of water delivered each month to us, subject to 
inflation escalators. One of the water services agreements covers volumes produced north of the Missouri River (the “NOR Agreement”) and the other 
agreement covers volumes produced south of the Missouri River (the “SOR Agreement”). Both water services agreements require Hess to deliver to us all 
produced water that is produced from the Bakken and Three Forks formations on oil and gas properties located in specified dedication areas north and 
south of the Missouri River in North Dakota, subject to customary exclusions, reservations and conflicting dedications. Additionally, the NOR Agreement 
requires Hess to provide minimum volumes, calculated on a quarterly basis, of produced water for gathering and disposal. The minimum volume 
commitments consist of 100% of the Hess nominations during the first three years of the agreements and 80% of its nominations thereafter. 

Under the NOR Agreement, there is also a gathering service fee recalculation mechanism, at the option of either party to the agreement. Under the 
recalculation mechanism, gathering service fees may be adjusted annually to account for actual throughput and capital expenditures and for updated 
estimates of future cumulative throughput volumes and capital and operating expenditures. The disposal service fee recalculation mechanism, in contrast, 
may be adjusted annually only by the applicable inflation escalator, which shall not exceed 3% for any given year. The initial term for the water services 
agreements is 14 years and we have the unilateral right to extend the water services agreements for one additional 10‑year term. Thereafter, the water 
services agreements will renew for successive yearly periods unless terminated by either party. 

See Note 4, Related Party Transactions in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of our related party agreements and 
amounts paid thereunder.

Procedures for Review, Approval and Ratification of Related Person Transactions

Our board of directors has adopted a related party transactions policy that provides that our board of directors or its authorized committee will review 
on at least a quarterly basis all related person transactions that are required to be disclosed under SEC rules and, when appropriate, initially authorize or 
ratify all such transactions. In the event that our board of directors or its authorized committee considers ratification of a related person transaction and 
determines not to so ratify, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics provides that our management will make all reasonable efforts to cancel or annul the 
transaction.

The related party transactions policy provides that, in determining whether or not to recommend the initial approval or ratification of a related person 
transaction, our board of directors or its authorized committee should consider all of the relevant facts and circumstances available, including (if 
applicable) but not limited to: (i) whether there is an appropriate business justification for the transaction; (ii) the benefits that accrue to us as a result of 
the transaction; (iii) the terms available to unrelated third parties entering into similar transactions; (iv) the impact of the transaction on a director’s 
independence (in the event the related person is a director, an immediate family member of a director or an entity in which a director or an immediate 
family member of a director is a partner, shareholder, member or executive officer); (v) the availability of other sources for comparable products or 
services; (vi) whether it is a single transaction or a series of ongoing, related transactions; and (vii) whether entering into the transaction would be 
consistent with the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

Director Independence

Please see Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance for information on director independence required by Item 407(a) of 
Regulation S‑K.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The table below sets forth the aggregate fees and expenses for professional services performed by our independent registered public accounting firm 
Ernst & Young LLP:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021  
Audit Fees  $ 1,623  $ 1,496 
Audit Related Fees   63    99  
Tax Fees   -    -  
Other Fees   -    -  

Total Fees  $ 1,686  $ 1,595 

Audit Fees for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were for professional services rendered for the audit of our annual financial 
statements and of our internal control over financial reporting, quarterly review of the financial statements included in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, 
comfort letters issued in connection with the underwritten public equity offerings, the Repurchase Transaction and issuance of senior unsecured notes 
and SEC related filings.

Audit-Related Fees are fees not included in audit fees that are billed by the independent accountant for assurance and related services that are 
reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements.

The audit committee of our board of directors has the sole authority to (i) retain and terminate our independent registered public accounting firm, (ii) 
approve all auditing services and related fees and the terms thereof performed by our independent registered public accounting firm and (iii) pre‑approve 
any non‑audit services and tax services to be rendered by our independent registered public accounting firm. 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the audit committee of the board of directors of our general partner approved 100% of the fees for the 
services described above.

The audit committee of our board of directors has approved the appointment of Ernst &Young LLP as independent registered public accounting firm to 
conduct the audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) 1. And 2. Financial statements and financial statement schedules
 The financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the accompanying index to financial statements and schedules in 
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

All other financial statement schedules required under SEC rules that are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, are omitted either 
because they are not applicable or the required information is contained in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

3. Exhibits
 The exhibits required to be filed pursuant to Item 15(b) of Form 10-K are listed in the Exhibit Index filed herewith, which Exhibit Index is incorporated 
herein by reference.

  
Exhibit
Number

 
Exhibit Description

2.1

 

Partnership Restructuring Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2019, by and among Hess Midstream Partners LP, Hess Midstream 
Partners GP LP, Hess Midstream Partners GP LLC, Hess Infrastructure Partners LP, Hess Infrastructure Partners GP LLC, Hess 
Midstream LP, Hess Midstream GP LP, Hess Midstream GP LLC, Hess Midstream New Ventures II, LLC, Hess Investments North Dakota 
LLC, GIP II Blue Holding Partnership, L.P., and Hess Infrastructure Partners Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 
2.1 to the Predecessor’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38050) filed on October 4, 2019)

2.2

 

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 3, 2019, by and among Hess Midstream Partners LP, Hess Midstream Partners GP 
LP, Hess Infrastructure Partners GP LLC, Hess Midstream LP, Hess Midstream GP LP, and Hess Midstream New Ventures II, LLC 
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 2.2 to the Predecessor’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38050) filed on October 4, 
2019)

3.1

 
Certificate of Limited Partnership of Hess Midstream LP, dated as of September 27, 2019 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 3.1 
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-234095) filed on October 4, 2019)

3.2
 

Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Hess Midstream LP, dated as of December 16, 2019 (incorporated by 
reference herein to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K12B (File No. 001-39163) filed on December 17, 2019)

4.1

 

Amendment and Restatement Agreement dated as of July 14, 2022, among Hess Midstream LP, Hess Midstream Operations LP, 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and the other parties thereto (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on July 15, 2022)

4.2

 

Indenture, dated as of December 16, 2019, by and among Hess Midstream Operations LP, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as 
trustee and certain guarantors party thereto (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.2 to Predecessor’s Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-38050) filed on December 16, 2019)

4.3

 

Indenture, dated as of December 10, 2019, by and between Hess Midstream Partners LP and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as 
trustee (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.1 to Predecessor’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38050) filed on 
December 10, 2019)

4.4

 

Indenture, dated as of November 22, 2017, by and among Hess Infrastructure Partners LP, Hess Infrastructure Partners Finance 
Corporation, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, and certain guarantors party thereto (incorporated by reference herein to 
Exhibit 4.3 to Predecessor’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38050) filed on December 16, 2019) 

4.5

 

First Supplemental Indenture, dated November 1, 2019 to the Indenture, dated as of November 22, 2017, by and among Hess 
Infrastructure Partners LP, Hess Infrastructure Partners Finance Corporation, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, and 
certain guarantors party thereto (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.4 to Predecessor’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 
001-38050) filed on December 16, 2019)

4.6
 

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated December 16, 2019 to the Indenture, dated as of November 22, 2017, by and among Hess 
Midstream Operations LP, Hess Infrastructure Partners LP, Hess Infrastructure Partners Finance Corporation, Wells 
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Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, and certain guarantors party thereto (incorporated by reference hereinto Exhibit 4.5 to 
Predecessor’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38050) filed on December 16, 2019)  

4.7

 

First Supplemental Indenture, dated December 16, 2019 to the Indenture, dated as of December 10, 2019, by and among Hess 
Midstream Operations LP, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, and certain guarantors party thereto (incorporated by 
reference herein to Exhibit 4.6 to Predecessor’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38050) filed on December 16, 2019)  

4.8
 

Indenture, dated as of August 5, 2021, by and among Hess Midstream Operations LP, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, 
and certain guarantors party thereto (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
on August 10, 2021)

4.9
 

Indenture, dated as of April 8, 2022, by and among Hess Midstream Operations LP, certain guarantors party thereto and Computershare 
Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
April 8, 2022).

4.10
 

Description of Class A Shares (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K12B (File 
No. 001-39163) filed on December 17, 2019)

10.1

 

Amended and Restated Omnibus Agreement, dated December 16, 2019, by and among Hess Corporation, Hess Infrastructure Partners 
GP LLC, Hess Midstream LP, Hess Midstream GP LP, Hess Midstream GP LLC, Hess Midstream Operations LP, Hess Midstream 
Partners GP LP, Hess Midstream Partners GP LLC, and, for the limited purposes specified therein, Hess Investments North Dakota LLC 
and GIP II Blue Holding Partnership, L.P. (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Predecessor’s Current Report on Form 
8-K (File No. 001-38050) filed on December 16, 2019)

10.2

 

Amended and Restated Employee Secondment Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2019, by and among Hess Corporation, Hess 
Trading Corporation, Hess Midstream GP LP, Hess Midstream GP LLC, and, for the limited purposes specified therein, Hess Midstream 
Partners GP LP, and Hess Midstream Partners GP LLC (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K12B (File No. 001-39163) filed on December 17, 2019)

10.3

 

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 16, 2019, by and among Hess Midstream LP, Hess Midstream 
GP LP, Hess Midstream GP LLC, Hess Investments North Dakota LLC and GIP II Blue Holding Partnership, L.P. (incorporated by 
reference herein to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K12B (File No. 001-39163) filed on December 17, 2019)

10.4

 

Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Hess Midstream Operations LP (formerly known as Hess Midstream 
Partners LP), dated as of December 16, 2019 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 3.2 to the Predecessor’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K (File No. 001-38050) filed on December 16, 2019)

10.5
 

Hess Midstream LP 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K12B (File No. 001-39163) filed on December 17, 2019)

10.6
 

Form of Phantom Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2020 filed on May 7, 2020)

10.7

 

Second Amended and Restated Terminal and Export Services Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2014, by and between Hess Trading 
Corporation and Hess North Dakota Export Logistics LLC (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.8.1 to the Predecessor’s 
Registration Statement on Form S‑1 (File No. 333‑198896) filed on March 16, 2017).

10.8

 

Storage Services Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2014, by and between Solar Gas, Inc. and Hess Mentor Storage LLC 
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.9 to the Predecessor’s Registration Statement on Form S‑1 (File No. 333‑198896) filed on 
March 16, 2017).

10.9

 

Amended and Restated Crude Oil Gathering Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2014, by and between Hess Trading Corporation and 
Hess North Dakota Pipelines LLC (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.10 to the Predecessor’s Registration Statement on Form 
S‑1 (File No. 333‑198896) filed on March 16, 2017).

10.10  Second Amended and Restated Gas Processing and Fractionation Agreement effective as of January 1, 2014 by and between Hess 
Trading Corporation and Hess Bakken Processing LLC (Incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Predecessor’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38050) filed on September 21, 2018).
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10.11  Second Amended and Restated Gas Gathering Agreement effective as of January 1, 2014 by and between Hess Trading Corporation and 
Hess North Dakota Pipelines LLC (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.2 to the Predecessor’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File 
No. 001-38050) filed on September 21, 2018).

10.12  Amendment No. 1 to Second Amended and Restated Gas Processing and Fractionation Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2021, by 
and between Hess Trading Corporation and Hess Bakken Processing LLC (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 23, 2020) 

10.13  Amendment No. 1 to Second Amended and Restated Terminal and Export Services Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2021, by and 
between Hess Trading Corporation and Hess North Dakota Export Logistics LLC (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 23, 2020)

10.14  Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Crude Oil Gathering Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2021, by and between Hess 
Trading Corporation and Hess North Dakota Pipelines LLC (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 23, 2020)

10.15  Amendment No. 1 to Second Amended and Restated Gas Gathering Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2021, by and between Hess 
Trading Corporation and Hess North Dakota Pipelines LLC (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 23, 2020)

10.16  Unit Repurchase Agreement, dated as of March 29, 2022, by and among Hess Midstream Operations LP, Hess Midstream LP, Hess 
Investments North Dakota LLC and GIP II Blue Holding, L.P. (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2022)

21.1  Subsidiaries of Hess Midstream LP
23.1  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
24.1  Power of Attorney (set forth on the signature page hereof)
31.1  Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2  Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1*  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2*  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   

101(INS)  Inline XBRL Instance Document

101(SCH)  Inline XBRL Schema Document

101(CAL)  Inline XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document

101(LAB)  Inline XBRL Labels Linkbase Document

101(PRE)  Inline XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document 

101(DEF)  Inline XBRL Definition Linkbase Document

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

† Confidential treatment has been granted for certain portions of this exhibit pursuant to a confidential treatment order granted by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Such 
provisions have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

# Compensatory plan or arrangement.
* Furnished herewith
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 27th day of February 2023.

  Hess Midstream LP (Registrant)
 

By:  Hess Midstream GP LP, its general partner
By:  Hess Midstream GP LLC, its general partner
    
By:  /s/ Jonathan C. Stein
  Jonathan C. Stein,
  Chief Financial Officer
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 POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Jonathan C. Stein, Timothy B. Goodell and John P. Rielly or any of them, his 
true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all 
capacities, to sign any and all amendments to Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in 
connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and 
authority to do and to perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and 
purposes as he might or would do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or their or his 
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ John B. Hess
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief 
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

February 27, 2023

John B. Hess   

 

/s/ Jonathan C. Stein
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and 

Accounting Officer)
February 27, 2023

Jonathan C. Stein   

/s/ John P. Rielly
Director and Vice President February 27, 2023

John P. Rielly   

/s/ Gregory P. Hill
Director February 27, 2023

Gregory P. Hill   

/s/ Gerbert Schoonman
Director February 27, 2023

Gerbert Schoonman   

/s/ William J. Brilliant
Director February 27, 2023

William J. Brilliant   

/s/ Scott E. Telesz
Director February 27, 2023

Scott E. Telesz   

/s/ James K. Lee
Director February 27, 2023

James K. Lee   

/s/ David W. Niemiec
Director February 27, 2023

David W. Niemiec   

/s/ John P. Reddy
Director February 27, 2023

John P. Reddy   

/s/ Stephen J.J. Letwin
Director February 27, 2023

Stephen J.J. Letwin   
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF HESS MIDSTREAM LP

 

Name of Company Jurisdiction
Hess Midstream LP Delaware
Hess Midstream Operations LP Delaware
Hess Infrastructure Partners Holdings LLC Delaware
Hess Infrastructure Partners LP Delaware
Hess Midstream Holdings LLC Delaware
Hess Midstream Partners GP LLC Delaware
Hess Midstream Partners GP LP Delaware
Hess North Dakota Pipelines Operations LP Delaware
Hess North Dakota Pipelines Holdings LLC Delaware
Hess North Dakota Pipelines LLC Delaware
Hess Water Services Holdings LLC Delaware
Hess Water Services LLC Delaware
Tioga Midstream, LLC Delaware
Hess TGP Operations LP Delaware
Hess TGP Holdings LLC Delaware
Hess Bakken Processing LLC Delaware
Hess Tioga Gas Plant LLC Delaware
Hess LM4 Plant LLC Delaware
Little Missouri 4 LLC Delaware
Hess Mentor Storage Holdings LLC Delaware
Hess Mentor Storage LLC Delaware
Hess North Dakota Export Logistics Operations LP Delaware
Hess North Dakota Export Logistics Holdings LLC Delaware
Hess North Dakota Export Logistics LLC Delaware
Hess Tank Cars Holdings LLC Delaware
Hess Tank Cars LLC Delaware
Hess Tank Cars Holdings II LLC Delaware
Hess Tank Cars II LLC Delaware

 



 

 
Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
 

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-235650) of Hess Midstream LP, and 
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-235645) pertaining to the 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan of Hess Midstream LP;

 
of our reports dated February 27, 2023, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Hess Midstream LP and the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Hess Midstream LP included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Hess 
Midstream LP for the year ended December 31, 2022.
 
 
 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Houston, Texas 
February 27, 2023
 

 



 

 
Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John B. Hess, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Hess Midstream LP;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
Date: February 27, 2023 By /s/ John B. Hess
  John B. Hess 
  Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer

  
HESS MIDSTREAM GP LP,
its General Partner

  
HESS MIDSTREAM GP LLC,
its General Partner

   
 

 



 

 
Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jonathan C. Stein, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10‑K of Hess Midstream LP;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
Date: February 27, 2023 By /s/ Jonathan C. Stein
   Jonathan C. Stein 
   Chief Financial Officer

  
HESS MIDSTREAM GP LP,
its General Partner

   
HESS MIDSTREAM GP LLC, 
its General Partner

 

 



 

 
Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Hess Midstream LP (the “Partnership”) on Form 10‑K for the period ended December 31, 2022 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John B. Hess, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer 
of Hess Midstream GP LLC, the general partner of the Partnership, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Partnership.

 
Date: February 27, 2023 By /s/ John B. Hess
  John B. Hess
  Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
 

 
HESS MIDSTREAM GP LP, 
its General Partner

 
 

HESS MIDSTREAM GP LLC, 
its General Partner

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Partnership and will be retained by the Partnership and 
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 

 



 

 
Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Hess Midstream LP (the “Partnership”) on Form 10‑K for the period ended December 31, 2022 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jonathan C. Stein, Chief Financial Officer of Hess Midstream GP LLC, the 
general partner of the Partnership, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002, 
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Partnership.

 
Date: February 27, 2023 By /s/ Jonathan C. Stein
   Jonathan C. Stein
   Chief Financial Officer
 

 
HESS MIDSTREAM GP LP, 
its General Partner

 
 

HESS MIDSTREAM GP LLC, 
its General Partner

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Partnership and will be retained by the Partnership and 
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 

 




